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          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen. My name is Archie Spigner, and

          4  I chair the Council's Committee on Housing and

          5  Buildings. Today we are conducting an oversight on

          6  the Neighborhood Entrepreneur Program in part as a

          7  response to Resolution Number 657.

          8                 The Neighborhood Entrepreneur Program

          9  is a centerpiece of the building block strategy

         10  created by the Department of Housing Preservation

         11  and Development to dispose of in rem properties.

         12                 Today we will be hearing from

         13  representatives of HPD, elected officials,

         14  entrepreneurs, residents and members of the general

         15  public concerned with the housing matters. We will

         16  begin with the Administration.

         17                 I see seated at the table, I know Mr.

         18  Rosenberg and the other gentleman I am familiar

         19  with, but you both can introduce yourself for the

         20  record.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I am

         22  John Warren, Assistant Commissioner of Alternative

         23  Management Programs at HPD.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: And

         25  I am Joseph Rosenberg, Assistant Commissioner for
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          2  Intergovernmental Relations.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Good

          5  morning, Chairman Spigner, and members of the

          6  Housing and Buildings Committee. My name is John

          7  Warren and I am Assistant Commissioner of the

          8  Division of Alternative Management Programs at HPD.

          9  Commissioner Richard T. Roberts asked that I deliver

         10  this testimony on his behalf.

         11                 As Assistant Commissioner of

         12  Alternative Management Programs, I am responsible

         13  for the Neighborhood Entrepreneurs Program, as well

         14  as all of the other programs which convey occupied,

         15  City-owned property to tenants, not-for-profit and

         16  for-profit owners.

         17                 The Neighborhood Entrepreneurs

         18  Program was created in 1994, as part of the Giuliani

         19  Administration's Building Blocks Program, to allow

         20  local community-based for-profit real estate

         21  management companies to participate in the City's

         22  disposition programs.

         23                 The core of Building Blocks is the

         24  understanding that a diversity of programs tailored

         25  to specific buildings and tenants, including tenant
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          2  ownership, not-for-profit ownership and for-profit

          3  ownership allow a local real estate market and a

          4  neighborhood to thrive.

          5                 The unique component of NEP is its

          6  focus on small owners, in many cases minority and

          7  women-owned enterprises who have a commitment to

          8  their neighborhood.

          9                 While many programs have minimum

         10  criteria to participate, NEP also has maximum limits

         11  on the size of both an entrepreneurs business and

         12  the number of dwelling units that the entrepreneur

         13  owns.

         14                 These guidelines have allowed the

         15  program to focus on a class of companies which are

         16  small enough to understand the individualized

         17  attention to tenants and building needs, yet

         18  experienced enough to manage the complex financing

         19  and reporting requirements of NEP.

         20                 Since 1994, 31 entrepreneurs have

         21  been designated for sites through four rounds of

         22  NEP. NEP has returned 248 buildings with 2,823 units

         23  to responsible private ownership since 1994. Of

         24  these 248 buildings, 140 buildings with 1,551 units

         25  have completed rehabilitation and been reoccupied.
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          2                 I brought photographs, as you can

          3  see, to show the stark contrast of before and after

          4  rehabilitation of a typical NEP building.

          5                 NEP is an important program in

          6  neighborhoods where there was significant

          7  abandonment and disinvestment. Through NEP, 121

          8  buildings with 965 units in Central Brooklyn, and 80

          9  buildings with 1,272 units in Upper Manhattan, have

         10  been conveyed out of city ownership with

         11  rehabilitation loans in place.

         12                 A discussion of NEP must focus on the

         13  strengths that drive the program to succeed. The

         14  first strength, as I already mentioned, is who the

         15  entrepreneurs are. In designing the program, HPD

         16  specifically targeted neighborhood-based

         17  community-oriented property managers. Through our

         18  request for qualifications process, HPD and the New

         19  York City Housing Partnership look at applicants

         20  experience in relocation, rehabilitation, as well as

         21  management, maintenance and tenant relations.

         22                 Another strength of the program is

         23  oversight. Entrepreneurs are not sent into buildings

         24  without the assistance and oversight of a number of

         25  entities. HPD has developed and implemented NEP in
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          2  conjunction with the New York City Housing

          3  Partnership.

          4                 The Partnership works with the

          5  entrepreneurs in every phase of NEP, from developing

          6  relocation plans for renovation to putting together

          7  low-income housing tax credit application, to

          8  implementing the NEP employment programs for tenants

          9  to get permanent jobs.

         10                 Most importantly, the Partnership

         11  takes lease and ownership of the buildings prior to

         12  renovation, and enters into a contract with the

         13  entrepreneur for management and development

         14  services.

         15                 Oversight does not end with the

         16  Partnership. The complex financing of NEP, which

         17  includes federal low-income housing tax credits, as

         18  well as federal home funds, dictate a structure

         19  where ongoing monitoring is provided by HPD and the

         20  local initiative support corporation or the

         21  enterprise foundation.

         22                 This monitoring ensures that the

         23  low-income requirements of home and tax credits will

         24  be met for the 15-year compliance period.

         25                 In addition, NEP utilizes
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          2  not-for-profit community-based organizations to

          3  provide oversight in the program.

          4                 These not-for-profits are hired by

          5  the Partnership to meet with current residents to

          6  fill at home, income and family composition forms

          7  and to work with the tenants and entrepreneurs in

          8  developing and implementing relocation plans.

          9                 NEP also has neighborhood task forces

         10  which allow local residents, community boards,

         11  not-for-profit organizations, and tenants to meet

         12  with HPD and partnership staff, to discuss

         13  entrepreneur applicants, building selection, status

         14  of current projects and performance of current

         15  entrepreneurs.

         16                 While we did have a lapse in task

         17  force meetings in early 1998 when there was a

         18  transition between NEP directors at HPD, the Task

         19  Forces have been meeting regularly since then.

         20                 Beyond these multiple oversight

         21  entities, another strength of NEP lies in our

         22  commitment of fairness to tenants. The commitment

         23  begins with TIL opt-out. Like the Neighborhood

         24  Redevelopment Program, NEP provides tenants with the

         25  opportunity to the Tenant Interim Lease Program at

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  the beginning of the NEP process.

          3                 This opt-out allows tenants to make

          4  an informed decision about their future. Although

          5  this opt-out provision has been the source of

          6  concern among tenant advocates, it has been

          7  successfully utilized by tenants in 78 buildings to

          8  enter TIL.

          9                 The responsiveness to tenants

         10  continues in the implementation of temporary

         11  relocation plans. The nature of the reconstruction

         12  in NEP, as it is in TIL and NRP, involves major

         13  systems replacement and structural work. Tenants

         14  cannot remain in place during this renovation. To

         15  permit otherwise would endanger tenants' health and

         16  safety.

         17                 To allow the work to occur,

         18  relocation plans are developed in conjunction with

         19  tenants. While any move is traumatic, especially for

         20  residents who have lived in one apartment for many

         21  years, the entrepreneurs working with the

         22  not-for-profits and the Partnership attempt to

         23  accommodate each tenant in a safe and habitable

         24  apartment which meets the tenants family needs

         25  related to location and amenities.
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          2                 It is important to note the temporary

          3  relocation apartments may not be a perfect match for

          4  each tenant. Entrepreneurs endeavor to meet each

          5  tenant's needs as closely as possible, given the

          6  constraints of a budget of $5,000 per unit and a

          7  limited number of proximate available apartments.

          8                 Written relocation agreements are

          9  executed by both tenant and entrepreneur so that

         10  tenants are aware of their rights and

         11  responsibilities during temporary relocation, and

         12  are aware of which apartment they will be returning

         13  to.

         14                 For the moving in itself, bonded and

         15  insured movers are utilized by the entrepreneurs to

         16  minimize any inconveniences associated with the

         17  damaged items.

         18                 It is important to note that the DAMP

         19  programs often involve new apartment layouts to

         20  comply with modern standards. A tenant's original

         21  apartment may no longer resemble its original

         22  configuration after renovation is complete.

         23                 It is important that the temporary

         24  relocation agreement reflects the new redesigned

         25  building.
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          2                 Fairness to tenants is also a

          3  critical issue in relation to apartment size and

          4  rent. While there has been discussion about tenants

          5  who have been relocated from large apartments to

          6  smaller apartments because of family size, NEP, like

          7  NRP and TIL, also provides overcrowded families with

          8  larger apartments to suit their needs.

          9                 The entrepreneurs have the

         10  flexibility to deal with specific family needs at

         11  the time of relocation.

         12                 Rent setting has also been designed

         13  to be flexible for families. While rents are set at

         14  $55 per zoning room at intake, again like TIL and

         15  NRP, tenants who are unable to pay this rent can

         16  enter into an interim payment agreement so that they

         17  pay no more than 30 percent of their income in rent.

         18                 Post rehabilitation rents are set at

         19  30 percent of tenant income up to the tax credit

         20  maximum rent. Currently the tax credit rent is $500

         21  for a two-bedroom apartment. Rent orders issued by

         22  HPD set the post rehabilitation rents. Prior to

         23  issuing rent orders, tenants are notified by HPD

         24  that if they cannot afford the new rent, they can

         25  provide HPD with income documentation so that the
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          2  rent can be reduced.

          3                 Tenants are also protected from large

          4  rent increases by rent stabilization.

          5                 Because of the requirements of tax

          6  credit and home funding, a fixed percentage of

          7  apartments in a cluster must be rented to low-income

          8  families, along with a percentage which are

          9  available for market rate rental.

         10                 Generally the low-income families are

         11  already on site before the rehabilitation. It is an

         12  important point to realize that the low-income

         13  apartments are not available for market rentals so

         14  that there is no financial incentive for an

         15  entrepreneur to displace an existing rent-paying

         16  tenant.

         17                 Tax credits indication proceeds

         18  provide an ongoing operating subsidy so that the

         19  project is financially solvent. At this point I

         20  would like to briefly discuss how buildings are

         21  selected for NEP.

         22                 The economics of NEP dictate that

         23  clusters of buildings average 100 to 175 units.

         24  Selection of clusters for the program is driven by

         25  several factors.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 First HPD and the partnership look at

          3  where potential entrepreneurs have a portfolio. HPD

          4  also looks at where we can bolster existing

          5  investment from other HPD programs, which is the

          6  Building Blocks concept of comprehensive

          7  reinvestment.

          8                 HPD also considers which occupied

          9  buildings are most in need of renovation. A cluster

         10  of buildings is selected and it often includes the

         11  most deteriorated stock.

         12                 Clusters are also presented to the

         13  neighborhood task forces for review and comment.

         14                 After buildings and entrepreneurs

         15  have been selected for NEP, and the buildings have

         16  gone through the TIL opt-out, management by the

         17  entrepreneur begins.

         18                 During this management period several

         19  critical steps are taken. Entrepreneurs identify

         20  emergency repairs which must be completed

         21  immediately. Three sources of funds are available to

         22  undertake these repairs - the rental income from the

         23  building, a C loan provided by the New York City

         24  Housing Development Corporation and DAMP's open

         25  market order repair budget.
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          2                 To date entrepreneurs have overseen

          3  approximately $800,000 in emergency repairs. Other

          4  critical steps include securing vacant apartments,

          5  beginning legal actions against residents

          6  participating in illegal activity, developing the

          7  relocation plan, hiring an architect to begin work,

          8  and identifying tenants for the NEP employment.

          9                 Approximately 250 tenants in NEP

         10  buildings have received permanent jobs through the

         11  employment program. This has been one of the less

         12  publicized but most dramatic successes of NEP.

         13                 To summarize, NEP has been a very

         14  successful component of the Giuliani

         15  Administration's Building Blocks effort to return

         16  buildings to responsible private ownership.

         17                 The implementation of this complex

         18  program, with its various financing sources and

         19  numerous participants, has been a testimony to

         20  everyone's efforts to provide safe, renovated,

         21  affordable rental housing for tenants.

         22                 HPD agrees the communication can

         23  always be improved and we have recently developed

         24  the NEP tenant handbook with the Partnership to

         25  provide tenants with as much information as
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          2  possible.

          3                 We believe that the success of NEP is

          4  judged not only by the numbers, but by the rebirth

          5  of blocks, like West 140th Street, where we have

          6  made significant investments.

          7                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          8  speak today on behalf of Commissioner Roberts.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         10  Commissioner.

         11                 You are in charge of this program in

         12  it is day-to-day operation; is that correct, Sir?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes, I

         14  am.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So, then this

         16  statement perhaps represents what could be

         17  interpreted as the rules and regs of the daily

         18  operations of the NEP program?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We

         20  actually follow the rules of the Neighborhood

         21  Redevelopment Program in terms of actual CAPA rules.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you have any

         23  specific set of rules for the Entrepreneur Program?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: There

         25  are many policies in place, but there is not a
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          2  specific --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: No specific

          4  compilation of rules, okay.

          5                 As you can imagine, we have had a

          6  number of concerns that resulted in this hearing

          7  today.

          8                 Let me introduce first the members of

          9  the Committee who are present. Council Member

         10  Ognibene, the Leader of the Minority Republicans in

         11  the Council.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: How do you

         13  do?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: A new member,

         15  Council Member Mike Nelson, and Council Member

         16  Provenzano, a member of the Committee. On my right,

         17  Council Member Stanley Michels, a senior member of

         18  the Committee, and Council Member Bill Perkins, who

         19  sponsored this resolution and is responsible for

         20  this hearing today.

         21                 As it relates to relocation, I can

         22  imagine that is always a rather difficult part of

         23  the operation to convince tenants that they have to

         24  leave their apartment for the purpose of the

         25  renovation and rehabilitation. Are they guaranteed
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          2  that they are going to be returned to their

          3  apartments?

          4                 And if they are not assured of being

          5  returned to their apartment, are they being given

          6  ample reasons and preparations for the possibility

          7  that they may be relocated to another apartment?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

          9  In the program we try to be as flexible as possible

         10  in relocation because there are a lot of concerns,

         11  obviously for tenants. So a couple of things are key

         12  for us.

         13                 As I said in my testimony, not every

         14  apartment is exactly how it starts out after

         15  renovation as it was before, because we are

         16  redesigning the building so that they meet modern

         17  standards. A lot of these buildings are old law

         18  tenements so they are redesigned so that we don't

         19  have railroad apartments and such.

         20                 So, in the relocation agreement that

         21  is executed, at the time of the relocation the

         22  tenant understands what apartment they are coming

         23  back to, what size it is, is it in the same building

         24  that they started out, is it in another building,

         25  perhaps next door or around the corner. There are
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          2  other considerations as well where a tenant may be

          3  interested in moving only once, and we would allow

          4  permanent relocation so that they would be moved to

          5  one apartment and not have to come back if that was

          6  in their interest.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: It is a

          8  case-by-case basis.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         10  Exactly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: But the fact

         12  that they have to move is undebatable?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

         14  right.

         15                 Yes, and like our other Building

         16  Blocks Programs, it is the nature of the renovation

         17  that really dictates the need for relocation. It is

         18  extensive renovation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You mentioned

         20  railroad apartments; do some of the buildings in the

         21  NEP program still have that railroad configuration?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: They

         23  do when they come in, but not when they leave.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: As it relates to

         25  seniors and people with special needs, you are
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          2  sensitive to all of those? Or you attempt to be

          3  sensitive?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes. I

          5  mean, the key issue with seniors is, we are using

          6  not only the entrepreneurs but our not-for-profits

          7  to try to elicit from people what their needs are

          8  related to relocation. People who need to be on a

          9  lower floor, people who may have a home attendant or

         10  may have equipment in the apartment that needs to be

         11  accommodated. We try to elicit all of that

         12  information up front so that we can make the most

         13  appropriate relocation offers to them.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And most often

         15  the people being relocated, probably you can

         16  conclude that they are low-income people?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I don't think

         19  you have got too many high-enders still residing in

         20  these troubled buildings.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: No.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So when you have

         23  these nice new apartments of varying size, would you

         24  restate for the Committee the rent process for

         25  people moving back into these newly renovated, or
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          2  newly reconstructed buildings?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Rents

          4  are set at 30 percent of the tenant's income,

          5  assuming they are low-income and they qualify under

          6  our tax credit program. So they provide information

          7  to us, income information to us, and we set their

          8  rents at 30 percent of their income.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Who makes up the

         10  other, is it Section 8?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It is

         12  not Section 8, we use the syndication proceeds from

         13  the low-income housing tax credits to create an

         14  operating reserve so that that covers the

         15  difference. The buildings also receive a J-51 tax

         16  abatement because of the renovation.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Assuming now it

         18  is a ten-unit building, four are occupied, maybe the

         19  reconfiguration produces 15 units, so you take

         20  back the four tenants who had been relocated, you

         21  have now got ten or 11 apartments, newly

         22  rehabilitated, nice and new, what rent rules apply

         23  to these newly rehabilitated vacant apartments.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         25  Generally speaking we lose apartments and not gain
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          2  them in doing the reconfiguration.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: But then

          4  assuming that it is a ten-unit and you have four

          5  occupied and you wind up with eight --

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Or six, what do

          8  you do with --

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: The

         10  other units, if they are not tax credit eligible

         11  units, some percentage will be low income that are

         12  vacant and get rented on the market as low income.

         13  The other portion are market rate rents. So there is

         14  some cross subsidy as well in the buildings that

         15  allows it to operate economically.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: How has that

         17  been working in the buildings that have been brought

         18  back on line?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It has

         20  been working very well so far.

         21                 As I have said, we have completed

         22  over 1,500 units.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: When you say

         24  market rate, what does that mean, like on for

         25  example 119th Street?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: The

          3  market rate rents are actually fairly reasonable. We

          4  have not gone over $1,000 a month on a market rate

          5  apartment, even for a large apartment, like a

          6  three-bedroom.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: On the income

          8  for the 30 percent, that is an adjusted gross?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes,

         10  we follow the Section 8 rules about how we determine

         11  income and there are deductions for family size and

         12  special requirements.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         14                 Council Member Ognibene, you have a

         15  few questions that you want to ask?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chairman.

         18                 Welcome. First of all, I do want to

         19  congratulate the HPD and Commissioner Roberts. I

         20  have often been a critic of HPD because I think that

         21  they are reactive, and I think these kind of

         22  programs now are more proactive.

         23                 One of the things I do want to stress

         24  here is that the NEP program is just one of many

         25  programs, several programs that you utilize to
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          2  rehabilitate housing, and there are programs, for

          3  instance, that you deal with CBOs or with tenants

          4  such as TIL, so that this is not the exclusive

          5  mechanism for providing housing; is that correct?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

          7  exactly right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: And also it

          9  is important to note that you only pick on, and when

         10  I say pick on, you only utilize buildings that are

         11  really substandard and dangerous for the tenants so

         12  that the buildings that you are dealing with are

         13  ones that are really barely habitable or what we

         14  consider, would pass a warranty of habitability.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: They

         16  are generally very deteriorated. The rehab costs run

         17  around $70,000 a unit.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE:

         19  Seventy-thousand dollars per unit.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: And I notice

         22  you have some pictures over there and I marvel at

         23  the marvelous work that you have done in upsizing.

         24  One of the things that I think is important that we

         25  touched on is the fact that people have to be
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          2  relocated, and I just want you to talk briefly about

          3  that relocation and coming back. You mentioned that

          4  they may not and they are advised they may not get

          5  the same apartment, and I am trying to go through

          6  the process of why that would be, and if you could,

          7  for instance, my take on it would be that there may

          8  be somebody living in a six-room or a seven-room

          9  apartment that they once utilized with their family,

         10  but now they are a single person, and when they come

         11  back they may get a three-room apartment; what

         12  happens to that six-room apartment that was there?

         13  What do you do with that apartment?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: The

         15  larger apartments, it is really an issue both ways,

         16  so that if a family is in a larger apartment and

         17  needs to be relocated into a smaller one, we would

         18  make that apartment available to them based on their

         19  family size, and it works the other way as well.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Right.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: So a

         22  larger apartment, a six-room apartment would go to a

         23  family that requires an apartment that large.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: All right.

         25  So you may have had a family with three or four
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          2  children living in a one-room apartment or something

          3  like that, so you really are putting a beautiful

          4  roof over the head of a family that needs it.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

          6  right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: And you

          8  probably get criticized a lot for that. Certainly my

          9  mother always said no good deed goes unpunished, so

         10  I imagine that you received a lot of criticism for

         11  that too. So that you are getting maximum

         12  utilization out of those larger rooms, and although

         13  it may be, I imagine -- and I can understand that

         14  there are people that feel uncomfortable about

         15  relocating out of their prior home. Like all things

         16  in life, the end result here appears to be a much,

         17  much better solution, a much safer building and a

         18  greater degree of comfort and services, and would

         19  you say that is part of the program, too?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         21  Absolutely.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: When the

         23  tenants are relocated, and obviously you have to do

         24  that, it is not only in housing, as you know we are

         25  shutting down the Williamsburg Bridge, whenever
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          2  there is improvements in government there seems to

          3  be some degree of inconvenience associated with

          4  that.

          5                 You assist in finding the interim

          6  apartment for the tenant, don't you?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

          8  We make as many resources available for relocation

          9  as possible. Are key thing is to try to be flexible,

         10  which is why we use the entrepreneurs and the

         11  not-for-profit to help in this regard.

         12                 We make available the City-owned

         13  stock, where there are vacancies. We make available

         14  the entrepreneur has other buildings, either they

         15  have done through the program or in their own

         16  private portfolio, and our not-for-profits have

         17  actually been very generous to make apartments

         18  available as well for temporary relocation.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: What about

         20  moving expenses and relocation; is there assistance

         21  with that too?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That

         23  is all covered in our development budget so the

         24  tenant is not out of pocket on the relocation at

         25  all.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Right. And

          3  how long is the relocation for generally?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It is

          5  usually nine to four months to do the kind of

          6  renovation that we do.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: And then

          8  after 12 months they are able to come back to what

          9  appears to be just a magnificent renovated building

         10  and they get that housing, and as far as the rents

         11  go, again, these buildings, most of them, the

         12  tenants that were relocated, they are protected by

         13  rent stabilization --

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

         15  right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: And other

         17  rules, so that their rents are protected. They don't

         18  go into fair market situations.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Not at

         20  all.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: They are

         22  protected.

         23                 So, it is a matter of some

         24  inconvenience which we all recognize, but your

         25  agency does everything to ameliorate that
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          2  inconvenience and the people come back to beautiful

          3  housing, and the important thing I think is that

          4  while some people resist, I know that moving out of

          5  a six or seven -- you know, even if I were single,

          6  certainly knowing that that apartment is going to be

          7  going to somebody with three or four children, that

          8  was in substandard housing and didn't have a

          9  comfortable place to live, I think is an important

         10  function of government and I am proud to see you

         11  doing that.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         16  Perkins.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chairman. And Commissioner, let me thank you for

         19  your testimony and you attendance. I am sorry that

         20  Commissioner Roberts is not here, but I appreciate

         21  the fact that you are here. And let me say to you,

         22  Chairman Spigner, my appreciation for you so

         23  expeditiously responding to our request for this

         24  hearing, considering the urgency of the matter, and

         25  I just wanted to let you know how much it is
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          2  appreciated by myself, Council Member Michels, and

          3  my constituents, both whom are tenants as well as

          4  entrepreneurs that are concerned about how the

          5  program has been operating.

          6                 I am concerned about the fact that we

          7  had to come to this point, and what brought us to

          8  this point was what I believe has been a significant

          9  amount of insensitivity and questionable response to

         10  some of the concerns that I, as the Council Member

         11  for the 9th District, and the community board that

         12  represents Central Harlem Board 10, as well as a

         13  substantial number of tenants in that neighborhood

         14  that have found it difficult to get answers to

         15  questions and understanding of procedures with

         16  regard to this program, and who has been suffering,

         17  not simply from not getting those answers but from

         18  some living conditions that were clearly

         19  unacceptable. And so, again, I just want to thank

         20  you for being so responsive and making this

         21  Committee and this Council the kind of institution

         22  for the people that it is supposed to be.

         23                 Let me ask you, Commissioner, the

         24  buildings that are presently in the NEP program were

         25  originally under HPD management?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: For how long?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: A

          5  period of years. Most of the buildings in the in rem

          6  stock have been in City ownership ten or 15 years at

          7  least.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Ten or 15

          9  years.

         10                 And the conditions of those buildings

         11  during the time when HPD was managing them is the

         12  reason why they have fallen into such disrepair?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         14  the buildings were abandoned by their former

         15  landlords so they did not come into City ownership

         16  in good repair.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And so during

         18  the course of the 15 years, HPD assumed the

         19  responsibility of managing them and fixing them up

         20  and things like that?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: With

         22  very limited resources.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: With very

         24  limited resources; is that to say that the reasons

         25  why they were in such bad shape is you didn't fix
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          2  them up to begin with?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Again,

          4  they came into City ownership in very poor shape and

          5  we have a limited maintenance budget.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

          7  Council Member, let me just add something to that.

          8                 These buildings were pretty much

          9  abandoned. In many instances they were abandoned by

         10  property owners, in many other instances that we

         11  foreclosed on these buildings because taxes hadn't

         12  been paid and the property owners did not comply

         13  with the housing and maintenance code, they were not

         14  obtaining heat and hot water. So we came in in many

         15  instances to protect the tenants and to prevent the

         16  building from further deteriorating.

         17                 As you know, we had around 87,000 of

         18  these buildings, dwelling units in the mid-eighties

         19  and now we are down to under 20,000. So what we are

         20  doing, one of the main intents, missions of our

         21  agency, is to take these buildings which were in

         22  very deteriorated shape when we initially they came

         23  under our management and provide tremendous amounts

         24  of capital monies for the rehabilitation.

         25                 I know you worked at HPD for awhile,
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          2  so you are familiar with a lot of what we are doing

          3  here.

          4                 The relocation process takes place

          5  before the approval by the City Council for the

          6  disposition of the property?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: The

          8  Partnership enters the net lease with HPD prior to

          9  the UDAAP approval, and that follows our standard

         10  procedures until and in an RFP as well.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And if, for

         12  instance, we don't find that the building should be

         13  transferred, what happens to the tenants that have

         14  been relocated from their building?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         16  obviously we would make them whole by -- the key

         17  thing is the renovation. We would not move tenants

         18  back into the substandard apartments they were in,

         19  we would look to try to find them apartments that

         20  are renovated.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: At what point

         22  does the Councilperson or the community board become

         23  familiar with the particular buildings that are

         24  going to be in the NEP program and the buildings to

         25  which the tenants are going to be relocated, and all
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          2  of the other related arrangements?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We

          4  work through our neighborhood task forces that

          5  include community board representatives throughout

          6  the process so that they are informed of buildings

          7  that are selected for the clusters, entrepreneurs

          8  who have applied which buildings get designated, and

          9  as I said in my testimony, we clearly had a gap of

         10  time that last year where these task force meetings

         11  were not being held and it was a crucial point, and

         12  you have my personal apology for that because

         13  clearly that should not have happened.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I guess I

         15  appreciate your apology but I am concerned about the

         16  fact that the process went forward anyway and

         17  tenants were relocated for rounds three and round

         18  four, we don't know the conditions upon which that

         19  took place, in terms of the buildings that they were

         20  sent to, other than the fact that they came to us to

         21  describe horrible situations? What were the

         22  conditions that allowed you to sort of move forward?

         23  Why weren't things in place? Why didn't those

         24  meetings take place?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,
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          2  again, we had a transition in HPD staff and we were

          3  without a director for a period of three months in

          4  early 1998. And we were interested in moving the

          5  process along because the buildings --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Did you

          7  communicate with my office or any other Council

          8  Member's office about this, or the community board

          9  to let us know that you were moving forward?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: As I

         11  said, we did not have the task force meetings during

         12  that time.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: With whom did

         14  you communicate is what I am trying to understand,

         15  because you just went forward with all of this and

         16  nobody knows who their entrepreneurs were or what

         17  buildings were selected.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Right.

         19  We resumed the task force meetings after that time

         20  and have been --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Last week?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: No,

         23  actually earlier than that.

         24                 The key point was relocating tenants

         25  at a very deteriorated condition, which we did
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          2  proceed with.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You know, it

          4  is hard to believe how deteriorated the conditions

          5  were because those conditions were never brought to

          6  our attention. So, one time someone told me there

          7  were deteriorated conditions, another time someone

          8  told me because the money was being transferred out

          9  of one community into another community. And then I

         10  am told that the conditions to which people were

         11  moved into were worse than the conditions that they

         12  came from.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARREN: If individual

         14  tenants have issues that need to be brought to us,

         15  we are happy to deal with that. Traditionally we

         16  have not dealt with that in the task force meetings.

         17  We have never gotten to a level of detail where

         18  individual tenants were relocated and if people have

         19  problems, we have HPD staff, the Partnership staff,

         20  the not-for-profits and the entrepreneurs to try to

         21  resolve individual issues.

         22                 Just to clarify one point: Task force

         23  meetings started again in June of '98.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, I don't

         25  want to quibble about that, but they didn't start in
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          2  the 9th Council District or Community Board 10 at

          3  that time, and in fact I believe that they started

          4  at the earliest, this is April, at the earliest

          5  March. Because I had a meeting with your staff about

          6  this and they promised that they would resume the

          7  meetings and that they would make sure that my

          8  office was invited to participate. They resumed the

          9  meetings and my office was not invited to

         10  participate.

         11                 So, I don't know if you are aware of

         12  that.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         14  Traditionally Council Members have not been part of

         15  the neighborhood task forces.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So in the

         17  future when they tell me to expect an invitation,

         18  don't expect it?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         20  we can certainly talk about whether that would make

         21  sense to do --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, I was

         23  promised that, that is the only reason why I

         24  expected it.

         25                 Okay, let me ask you, many of the
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          2  concerns that have come to our attention is the fact

          3  that there is a TIL option, that is a Tenant Interim

          4  Lease option, that tenants want to exercise but are

          5  not given the opportunity to do so. Can you share

          6  with us --

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes, I

          8  think there are a few important points to raise in

          9  that regard.

         10                 The first is, TIL has been open to

         11  tenants from the time the building came into City

         12  ownership, and as we stated earlier, most of these

         13  buildings have been in City ownership for ten or 15

         14  years. That notwithstanding, I think it is very

         15  valid for tenants to sort of get to the fork in the

         16  road and make a decision and be presented with an

         17  entrepreneur and rental housing, versus TIL and a

         18  co-op option. So that is why we do the TIL opt-out

         19  in both NEP and NRP. We present the information, we

         20  do meetings. If tenants are interested in TIL we do

         21  follow-up meetings with them in that regard.

         22                 We do follow a time frame and it is a

         23  very valid time frame and --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What is the

         25  time frame?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

          3  it is the 90-day opt-out period.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, the

          5  90-day opt-out period. And what happens is that the

          6  tenants are not being told, as I am hearing you,

          7  about the opportunity to be involved in TIL. In

          8  fact, who tells them that they have the opportunity

          9  to be in TIL?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We do

         11  a written notification to the tenants and a meeting

         12  with the tenants through NEP that informs them that

         13  if they are interested in TIL they should contact

         14  our TIL intake coordinators.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So it is sent

         16  to every individual in the building?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Every

         18  legal tenant.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Every legal

         20  tenant.

         21                 And who else, other than the tenant,

         22  is contacted, outside of the building? Is the

         23  Council Member contacted? Is the community board

         24  contacted? Or tenant advocate organizations that

         25  have been working with the tenants contacted?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: No. We

          3  do this as part of our standard procedure for when

          4  buildings come into the program.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. So, how

          6  do I know that the procedure has been followed?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We

          8  have minutes of meetings, we have written

          9  documentation on the letters we sent.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you think

         11  it would be helpful for us to know when you are

         12  making these moves?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Sure.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How do the

         15  tenants know -- no one from your staff goes to the

         16  building to tell them, by the way, you have an

         17  option to go into TIL or you have an option to go

         18  into NEP?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: My

         20  staff comes, my NEP staff comes and talks about the

         21  NEP program and says if you are interested in TIL,

         22  please let us know and we will arrange for the TIL

         23  staff to come out and make a presentation.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, let me

         25  ask you a question. This is after the building has
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          2  been identified for NEP?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, you have

          5  identified a building for NEP, then you send an NEP

          6  staff person out there and tell them, by the way,

          7  even though we want you in NEP you have an

          8  opportunity to go to TIL.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We do

         10  the same in NRP, and as I said, 78 buildings have

         11  opted into TIL from NEP.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The problem

         13  is that there appears to be many more that would

         14  have taken that option; are you aware of that?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I

         16  would disagree with that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You would

         18  disagree that there are many more that would want to

         19  go into TIL?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Let me

         21  qualify. I would disagree that there were very many

         22  more who were qualified to come into TIL.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, now we

         24  are talking to qualifications, okay.

         25                 But let me just be clear. It seems to
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          2  me that for the sake of being fair to the tenant,

          3  especially since there seems to be coming to my

          4  office and Councilman Michels Office, tenants that

          5  say they wanted the option but didn't understand and

          6  didn't get appropriate briefing, that it wouldn't

          7  be, it would be a little bit prejudice to send out

          8  the NEP person to talk about something other than

          9  NEP.

         10                 It would seem like you would send, at

         11  best, the TIL person or a TIL organization that is

         12  an advocate for the program to give the people a

         13  good sell as to the benefits of that program so that

         14  then they could even perhaps get help to qualify.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         16  it is not a vote, Council member. If people are

         17  interested in TIL there is a lot of work that needs

         18  to be done and we are happy to do it, but not every

         19  building that is selected for NEP is interested in

         20  TIL, or would be able to meet the qualifications of

         21  TIL. The NEP staff --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Can you tell us

         23  the qualifications of TIL?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Sure.

         25  The rent collection of 60 percent for the three
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          2  months, 50 percent for the three months prior to the

          3  TIL application, the tenants need to attend classes,

          4  and 60 percent of the tenants need to agree that

          5  they want to be part of TIL.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: At this point

          7  you have already selected the entrepreneur?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, you go

         10  into a building, you got an entrepreneur, you

         11  already are in process of relocating them and you

         12  ask them with all standards you are asking them,

         13  gee, how would you like to go into TIL. The

         14  entrepreneur has been selected, has been contracted,

         15  is doing all of this work and now you are going to

         16  tell them, that you are going to honestly tell them,

         17  come on, join TIL?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         19  let me give you a real life example, Council member.

         20                 We had a cluster for NEP in East

         21  Harlem --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Can I

         25  answer that question?
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          2                 We had a cluster selected in East

          3  Harlem where it was eight buildings, they all opted

          4  into TIL, and we --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That is

          6  wonderful, I am glad to hear that.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: And we

          8  allowed that to happen and we selected a new site

          9  for the entrepreneur.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay the

         11  Chairman suggested that we move forward.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You can take a

         13  second round, Council member.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Commissioner,

         16  you may consider in future relationships with the

         17  Council and the community that Council Members be

         18  notified on these various stages because the

         19  community complains to us when they see -- the

         20  community or individuals complain to us and we feel

         21  that they are representing accurate information

         22  since we have nothing else to measure by.

         23                 Council Member Michels.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes. Just to

         25  clarify, I think Mr. Ognibene and you had a
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          2  conversation, a colloquy with respect to what

          3  happens with the apartments when they move out. You

          4  do break up the apartments and make smaller

          5  apartments in some cases, I think you said that in

          6  your statement. When you do the relocation and you

          7  come in and you fix the apartments up, there is very

          8  often the apartment themselves are changed around,

          9  the size of the apartment is changed around.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: More

         11  often we make larger apartments, rather than

         12  smaller.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay.

         14                 Now, isn't it a fact that the TIL

         15  program is the most successful housing program that

         16  this City has seen in 20 years? I only can talk

         17  about 20 years, that is all I am here. Is the TIL

         18  program one of the more successful programs you

         19  have, if not the most successful program?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: As

         21  Assistant Commissioner of DAMP, Council Member, I am

         22  very proud of TIL.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         25  Extremely proud of TIL.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And the

          3  history of it.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: And I

          5  am extremely proud of NEP and NRP as well.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: NEPs and NRPs

          7  come and go, but the TIL program has always been

          8  here, as long as I remember.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Many

         10  years.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And it has

         12  probably moved many more of the City-owned

         13  properties out of the City ownership than any other

         14  program.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That

         16  is correct, but it is not for every building.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am not

         18  arguing that. You are answering questions I am not

         19  asking you.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Okay,

         21  sorry.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It's okay.

         23                 Now, you have a set amount of money,

         24  or approximately a set amount of money that can go

         25  into the Building Blocks program which NEP, NRP and
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          2  the TIL program is, is in there, so that the monies

          3  that are spent in NEP or NRP are monies that you are

          4  not going to have to spend in TIL programs, it just

          5  follows, right?

          6                 What I have a problem with in your

          7  answering to Mr. Perkins' question is, if you have

          8  already looked at some buildings without any

          9  consultation, which it has been a problem with

         10  community consultation, and determined that here is

         11  a building that should go into the NEP program, and

         12  there are buildings which probably should end up in

         13  the NRP and NEP program, and it has already been

         14  involved with -- the Partnership has already been

         15  involved with the building and you have already

         16  selected a potential entrepreneur to run the

         17  building, and that title hasn't passed yet, right?

         18  And the entrepreneur is already making plans, you

         19  have expended money, time and effort, and then you

         20  have a meeting after 90 day notification with the

         21  tenants, and when does the meeting take place with

         22  respect to the 90-day notification?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It

         24  takes place at the beginning of the 90 days.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right within
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          2  two days of the notification.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: And

          4  you are sending people from the NEP program, you

          5  haven't got anybody there from the TIL program, and

          6  you are expecting us to believe that you are going

          7  to try to give them a real option that they can --

          8  now they don't really have to go into the NEP

          9  program, they can go into the TIL program, and you

         10  have got all of this motivation to go into the NEP

         11  program, why would you do that? Why don't you do it

         12  before you selected an entrepreneur, before you made

         13  plans, spent money, made an effort -- because you

         14  just said to me that you had a whole bunch of

         15  buildings, a cluster of buildings which were

         16  supposed to go into the NEP program, which you then

         17  reversed yourself and went into the TIL program.

         18                 But didn't that cost you a lot of

         19  money? Isn't that bad economics?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         21  I think if you indulge my fork in the road analogy,

         22  it is an important thing that people, in a building,

         23  see who the potential owner is when they make their

         24  decision about TIL or not TIL. So, it is important

         25  for us to select an entrepreneur before we do it
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          2  until opt-out, because otherwise they are not going

          3  to be fully cognizant of the facts.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I was tempted

          5  to say when I read your statement with certain

          6  exceptions, that I found paradise in your statement,

          7  the things that you have set up and the way you

          8  described your program, it sounds like paradise, but

          9  as I always say, the devil is in the details.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It is

         11  far from paradise, it is a very complicated program.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am just

         13  saying, the end of it, as the Greeks say, the

         14  telling end, there is happiness, it is wonderful, it

         15  sounds great, but the devil is in the details in how

         16  it is operated, how it is done and who you select

         17  and everything like that.

         18                 Now, you have selected an

         19  entrepreneur. What knowledge do the tenants have

         20  before you select them as this is what it is going

         21  to be? Or even afterward, how do they know? You have

         22  people here who are working people, who are in the

         23  building, they have no idea that we need this guy,

         24  he is wonderful. We don't want to go into TIL, we

         25  want this guy to do the running of our building --

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  what knowledge do they have?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

          4  we introduced the entrepreneurs at the meeting --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: They see a

          6  nice looking young man or a nice looking young lady

          7  and this is your entrepreneur, and very often it is

          8  corporations too, right?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         10  it is individuals.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But

         12  individuals who probably would incorporate

         13  eventually, these buildings are owned by

         14  corporations, so they really don't know anything, do

         15  they? When they see the individual. He may make all

         16  sorts of promises, you know, he is a salesman, he is

         17  trying to sell himself, he is selling himself. So,

         18  it is really not a fair thing, what I am trying to

         19  say, in giving them an opportunity to go into that

         20  program or the TIL program, it is stacked against

         21  them. You have spent the money, you have selected

         22  everybody, you have done everything, you are about

         23  to go and do the work, I mean it may be the right

         24  thing to do, but what I am saying is you have to

         25  give these people a fair opportunity. I mean, it
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          2  seems to me it is not fair to tell them, look, you

          3  have an option to go into TIL, and you have had this

          4  option all -- you didn't have anybody from TIL

          5  explain the program to them.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We are

          7  happy to do as many meetings with tenants about TIL.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What I am

          9  trying to say is there is something wrong with your

         10  procedure.

         11                 I have heard talk of the notification

         12  is improper, I think the 90 days is too short a

         13  period of time. The fact is that before they go into

         14  TIL they have to a three-month history of rent

         15  payments, and every often going into buildings which

         16  are so deteriorated that no one in their right mind

         17  would pay rent for.

         18                 I think your heart is in the right

         19  place, but I think what you are doing is you are not

         20  being fair. I mean, I am just talking about the

         21  meaning of fairness and that is what we want here.

         22                 You have read the stories. I can give

         23  you anecdotal material from the Village Voice, from

         24  people who come to my community, and I don't want to

         25  be unfair and to give that to you, but there is a
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          2  basic systemic problem here, in that if you really

          3  believe the TIL program is the best program and that

          4  the only people who should not go into -- only if

          5  they can't go into the TIL program they can go into

          6  NEP and NRP, and they have to organize themselves

          7  and these are working people, you are going to give

          8  them an opportunity, you are going to give them a

          9  decent length of time, you are going to give them a

         10  fair opportunity to weigh fairly what the options

         11  are.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         13  Councilman, you make an interesting point.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, I hope

         15  it is more than interesting.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         17  Well, yes, I will grant that to you too. But you

         18  talk about perfection, and you know with all of your

         19  knowledge in housing and your background in issues

         20  of this nature that there is no perfection in these

         21  programs.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I know --

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Let

         24  me just add something. There was a TIL oversight

         25  hearing several months ago and you were here, I
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          2  believe.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Sure.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: And

          5  it was acknowledged that TIL is an excellent

          6  program. There was acknowledgment of that, however,

          7  that the amount of capital funding that was put into

          8  the program in its initial state was not sufficient.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: It

         11  was around 5 thou (sic) per unit, now it is closer

         12  to 40 thou (sic). We learned these programs evolve.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG:

         15  This is very difficult economically for many

         16  situations. And you categorize perfection, it is an

         17  excellent, remarkable program, as we feel NEP and

         18  NRP is too, and I just wanted to mention that our

         19  ability to modify and improve these programs evolve.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, I

         21  understand that and now you make a good point, but

         22  it doesn't go to what I am talking about right now.

         23                 What I am talking about is the matter

         24  of basic fairness. If we really believe the TIL

         25  program is the best program, we ought to give the
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          2  people the proper opportunity to be able to get into

          3  that program, considering the problems at the

          4  buildings, 90 days is not enough. You don't present

          5  them with almost a fait accompli and say, look, this

          6  has already been decided and tell them, look, now

          7  you have an option to get out.

          8                 The 90 days, is that your policy? Is

          9  that written in stone, up to 90 days?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Ninety

         11  days is in our capital rules.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay, can

         13  that be changed?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         15  Anything is subject to change, sure.

         16                 And, again, Council Member, I just

         17  would like to point out again, 78 buildings have

         18  opted into the TIL from NEP.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And how many

         20  have had the opportunity to go to TIL?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         22  Several hundred.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So 78 is what

         24  percentage of the number of people who have the

         25  option?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It is

          3  actually a fairly high percentage. I didn't do the

          4  math, but we have got about 250 buildings in the

          5  program now.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How many have

          7  applied to go into TIL and you have not allowed them

          8  to go into TIL?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I

         10  don't have that statistic, it is a fairly small

         11  amount --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is an

         13  important statistic.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It is

         15  a fairly small number, and I would be happy to get

         16  it to you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I would

         18  like to get that statistic. I would really like to

         19  get that.

         20                 I think you want to be fair, we want

         21  to make sure this money is fair, but I don't want to

         22  get the feeling that we are going out there, and to

         23  be quite frank, the TIL program is a privatization

         24  program which I support and it works, but the

         25  problem is here that I have a belief that there are
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          2  many tenants out there and I have seen the results

          3  of the TIL program, I have seen these buildings

          4  really blossom and they helped our communities and

          5  the people have the feeling of ownership and they

          6  have a love for the community, and what you are

          7  doing is substituting the City as a landlord with

          8  another landlord in this program, and you have no

          9  problems. And if you don't have the goodwill -- this

         10  is the point I really want to make: The point I want

         11  to make is, if they really, truly have a fair

         12  opportunity to go into the TIL program, with

         13  knowledge, with notice, with understanding of what

         14  is going on, whether they get relocated or not, and

         15  they opt not to do it, then it is going to be a lot

         16  easier for the entrepreneur to run their building.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member,

         18  I think you made your point.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That's my

         20  point.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You are a

         22  supporter of TIL.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am a

         24  supporter of good programs that benefit tenants and

         25  they benefit the City.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do NEP buildings

          3  generally receive more capital funding per unit for

          4  rehabilitation than NRP or TIL buildings?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: The

          6  renovation is basically the same.

          7                 The TIL number is a lower number, as

          8  Assistant Commissioner Rosenberg has said when he

          9  said about 50,000 a unit in rehab, the nature of how

         10  we do the rehab is slightly different, in TIL we are

         11  doing rehab in City ownership, we do some work

         12  earlier on. The product at the end is the same

         13  essentially.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: As it relates to

         15  the choice between TIL and NEP, you have outside

         16  groups working with you in notifying tenants of

         17  their rights and in drawing the conclusion of

         18  whether is NEP -- TIL eligible, I mean is that

         19  objectively verifiable?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It is

         21  objectively verifiable by HPD staff.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: HPD staff is the

         23  only one that makes those, collects that data and

         24  makes that determination.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

          3                 Council Member Provenzano.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5                 Good morning, Mr. Warren.

          6                 I would like to get back to

          7  statistically NEP, I have some questions about the

          8  entrepreneurs.

          9                 The NEP programs in some of the stuff

         10  we have here, it says Brooklyn, South Bronx, Harlem,

         11  but there are also some in Manhattan, Lower

         12  Manhattan?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: To

         14  date we have done NEP in areas where we have

         15  clusters, large clusters of City-owned buildings, so

         16  that has meant upper Manhattan, that has meant

         17  Central Brooklyn and the South Bronx. We have not

         18  done anything elsewhere.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: You

         20  haven't done anything in Manhattan?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We

         22  haven't done anything elsewhere.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: You

         24  haven't done anything in Manhattan, okay.

         25                 Okay, I thought there was but maybe
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          2  that is another type of program which is something I

          3  will discuss with you.

          4                 How does HPD and whoever else who has

          5  jurisdiction monitor the performance of the

          6  entrepreneurs?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We

          8  work very closely with the New York City Housing

          9  Partnership throughout the process to monitor the

         10  entrepreneurs.

         11                 When they are in a lease situation

         12  and the buildings are still owned by us, we are

         13  monitoring them constantly on not only relocation

         14  but the development work, the work of the architects

         15  and developing plans and choosing contractors to do

         16  the renovation work. Once the buildings have been

         17  conveyed to the Partnership and rehab begins, HPD

         18  has technical staff that are out monitoring the

         19  rehab.

         20                 Our program staff monitored the

         21  expenses and the relocation issues, so there is

         22  monitoring throughout by us, as well as the

         23  partnership. The key thing is there is an ongoing

         24  monitoring as well. Because of the tax credits and

         25  the federal home funds, HPD has an obligation to
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          2  provide monitoring over the compliance period which

          3  is 15 years.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I notice

          5  again in some of the correspondence we have that

          6  there are 31 entrepreneurs.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

          8  correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Is there

         10  any way that we could possibly get a list of them

         11  and maybe the dwelling units that are specifically

         12  there?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         14  Certainly. Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I would be

         16  interested in getting that.

         17                 Okay, thank you.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Thank

         19  you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         21  Council Member Provenzano.

         22                 Council Member Nelson.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I would like

         24  to know what steps are taken to minimize the trauma

         25  of a relocation to the senior citizens who have
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          2  lived in the same apartment for decades?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We try

          4  to be very sensitive to that, with not only the HPD

          5  staff, but the entrepreneurs and the not-for-profits

          6  who work in the program.

          7                 The baseline issue is that tenants

          8  can't remain in placed while the work goes on, and

          9  that is the same in TIL as it is in NEP. And it is

         10  an important point that sometimes gets overlooked.

         11                 We really try to spend a lot of time

         12  with not just seniors but really everyone in trying

         13  to come up with appropriate relocation options.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, seniors

         15  have more special needs is what I am going towards.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         17  Absolutely. And we try to accommodate them. Again,

         18  whether it is a lower floor or whether it is room

         19  for a home attendant, if that is what they need,

         20  proximity to doctors or family or whatever, we try

         21  to account for all of that in doing this relocation.

         22                 And, again, if seniors, particularly

         23  for seniors, if they are only interested in making

         24  one move to a completed apartment, we try to

         25  accommodate that as well, so that they don't
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          2  necessarily have to make two moves to a temporary

          3  apartment and then back to a permanent one. If we

          4  can accommodate them with one permanent move to a

          5  completed NEP unit, we like to do that too.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Any provisions

          7  made to psychological needs, if you will?

          8                 There are certain needs, certain

          9  people in this program may suffer from something

         10  such as, let's say agoraphobia, which is a very

         11  significant disease, which is not usually addressed,

         12  and it is very difficult to get someone like that

         13  out of their apartment. Do you have staff available,

         14  or contact with an available agency?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         16  that is why we use the not-for-profits who have a

         17  social service background so that they can reach out

         18  to the tenants and try to assess any special needs

         19  that they may have for just that kind of thing. We

         20  certainly don't have anybody on staff to do that,

         21  but if people have very special needs, we try to

         22  accommodate that through the not-for-profit who

         23  works on the cluster.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: There is a

         25  provision for that, okay.
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          2                 Let's say an elderly person who lives

          3  in an apartment for an X amount of years, many in

          4  this case, and they lost their spouse and their

          5  children, and they love that apartment and as many

          6  people say, they want to die in that apartment, and

          7  I realize the problems with that in that if somebody

          8  needs, there are women with children, or men with

          9  children and they would like to have a bigger

         10  apartment, but yet, to take somebody out of the

         11  apartment like that, if they really show a

         12  tremendous concern not to be relocated, any

         13  provision for that?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         15  again, the temporary relocation for the renovation

         16  is not negotiable.

         17                 The work that we are doing is very,

         18  very substantial work, and we have learned, the

         19  Division of Alternative Management Programs has been

         20  doing occupied renovation for 20 years and we have

         21  learned that it makes sense to move people out for

         22  their health and safety. We cannot do this kind of

         23  work with tenants in place. So that is just, that is

         24  it. In terms of what the apartment they come back to

         25  is, again, we try to be as flexible as possible to
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          2  account for someone's needs if they do need a larger

          3  space.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, what

          5  recourse would they have? In other words, so they go

          6  and they cry and they say they will be dead if they

          7  don't stay in that apartment, there is no use to

          8  life anymore, and the door is shut in their face, do

          9  they have any recourse at that point? Is there any

         10  tribunal, is there any place to --

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I

         12  mean, certainly, you know, HPD is happy to try to

         13  get involved and resolve issues like that, but the

         14  bottom line is really what the renovation needs are.

         15  If we are replacing joists, which we are doing in

         16  every building, somewhere between 30 percent of the

         17  beams and 75 to 100 percent of the beams, you can't

         18  stay there when that is happening, and that is

         19  really --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: While it's

         21  happening? I am sorry, while what is happening?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: While

         23  the renovation is happening.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Oh, sure.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: While
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          2  we are doing the structural work.

          3                 So it is really important for us to

          4  convey that message in a sensitive and firm a manner

          5  as possible.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: But after the

          7  work is done, then what recourse do they have,

          8  though?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: In

         10  terms of the apartment size?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Getting back

         12  to the apartment that they wanted.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We try

         14  to be as flexible as possible.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Many people

         16  may say, okay, they realize that, you know, they

         17  don't need to have all of those rooms anymore and

         18  let somebody else have it, but some other people,

         19  for whatever reason that they have, they may really

         20  just, they feel they will just not want to live.

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: In plain

         23  English.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Right.

         25  We try to accommodated the individual needs of
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          2  specific tenants.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: And is there

          4  anything enforced, though, is there any provision,

          5  any line, any statements? I realize there aren't

          6  even rules.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It

          8  would be too hard to do that because the possible

          9  combinations are sort of infinite. But again, the

         10  key is really flexibility on the part of the

         11  entrepreneur and on the part of the agency.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, I would

         13  just like to suggest that whenever any rules are

         14  done in this arena -- and not suggest, I really

         15  would like to see it, that there is something

         16  written out that there is some place they can go to,

         17  some place to address their concerns with this.

         18  Because I think we can't let this slip by. I think

         19  it is extremely important, those of us who can just

         20  move around wherever we want, I don't know if you

         21  can appreciate a situation such as that. I think it

         22  is an extremely important part of this and there are

         23  a lot of important issues here.

         24                 I would like to ask one more

         25  question.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You have a

          3  second round.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Oh, do I?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman.

          8                 What provisions are made for the

          9  belongings of tenants required to move back into

         10  smaller apartments? Stuff they don't want to give up

         11  perhaps, but they can't pile it on top -- try to get

         12  a dresser on top of your bed sometime.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         14  Certainly during temporary relocation, if the

         15  apartment people are in our smaller -- we provide

         16  storage for them at no cost to them.

         17                 If it is permanent, and they are

         18  coming back to a smaller apartment, then they need

         19  to make some decisions about possessions.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: They have to

         21  make some decisions? I am sorry.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: If it

         23  doesn't fit in the apartment we don't really have

         24  accommodations for it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: So they are
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          2  really forced to get rid of certain pieces, items of

          3  furniture that they need, love, whatever.

          4                 I think we should also have that

          5  looked into. If there can be some sort of a chapter

          6  made about that, you know, how to deal with that

          7  particular issue as well.

          8                 I have no further questions, Mr.

          9  Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         11  Council Member.

         12                 Commissioner Warren, could you again

         13  state for the benefit of the Committee the

         14  conditions upon which a building is eligible for

         15  TIL? And you may want to expound on some of the

         16  reasons why these conditions are present.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Sure.

         18                 Sixty percent of the tenants must

         19  agree to participate in TIL, because it is going to

         20  be a cooperative and we need to have --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You don't factor

         22  in vacant apartments to make up 60 percent. Sixty

         23  percent of the occupied --

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

         25  right. Sixty percent of the occupied apartments,
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          2  tenants must agree to participate. The officers must

          3  go to training classes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The officers of

          5  the tenant associations must go?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

          7  right. There must be an organized tenant

          8  association. The officers must go to training before

          9  they even come into the program. Once they are in

         10  there is additional training, and rent collection

         11  must be 50 percent for the three months prior to the

         12  application being submitted, and that is rent paid

         13  to the City of New York.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And the reasons

         15  for these conditions obviously is to establish some

         16  stability?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         18  Absolutely.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Now, the TIL

         20  program, once it has its designation, the building

         21  is turned over to the tenant?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

         23  right. They enter a lease with --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: They become the

         25  owners of this building?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Not at

          3  first, ultimately.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Not at first,

          5  but the responsibility of providing heat and repairs

          6  and collecting rent falls on the tenant.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

          8  right. The day-to-day management becomes theirs once

          9  it enters TIL.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That presumes a

         11  very responsible base of people.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: They

         13  are collecting rent, they are setting up bank

         14  accounts, they are paying a superintendent, they are

         15  dealing with small repairs and maintenance.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Evictions, too,

         17  I am told.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         19  Absolutely. Absolutely.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         21                 Council Member Michels, you had some

         22  additional questions?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I do

         24  have some questions.

         25                 With respect to those meetings, I
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          2  just wanted to go back to those meetings you had

          3  where you explained to people what is going on; our

          4  experience has been that when we have Hispanic

          5  tenants we don't have translators there.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We

          7  always make accommodations for translators, if that

          8  is a problem.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How do you do

         10  that, we have had a real problem with that.

         11                 In fact, one of my assistants

         12  happened to be at one of those meetings and he is

         13  not Hispanic but he speaks Spanish and he was able

         14  to translate.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         16  we have tried with either the HPD staff, with the

         17  Partnership staff or with someone else who is a

         18  responsible party to do translations.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What happens

         20  when you find you haven't got a translator there?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well

         22  then clearly we need to find one and reschedule the

         23  meeting.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, that is

         25  a problem. I mean, all of these things that I am
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          2  building up here go to unfairness on the part of the

          3  process, because we really -- if it is a Chinese

          4  place, Chinese or Russian or whatever, you need to

          5  have somebody who can explain things to people what

          6  is going on.

          7                 Now, on the timing of the -- going

          8  back to the chairman's question to you about the

          9  timing, going into the TIL program, they get

         10  notified that you are going to have a meeting on the

         11  NEP program 90 days prior to what? Actually going

         12  into the program?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do they have

         15  time within that 90 days if they decide that they

         16  want to go into the TIL program to organize? You say

         17  you have to have all of these things done prior to

         18  being accepted into the TIL program, can they

         19  interrupt that 90-day period?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: They

         21  can make an application to TIL any time during that

         22  90-day period, including on the 90th day.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But if they

         24  don't have all of these qualifications that you just

         25  spelled out to the Chairman, there is no way they
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          2  are going to be able to get into the TIL program.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: The

          4  rent collection is a key issue and the rent

          5  collection needs to be appropriate and they need to

          6  take that into account in making an application.

          7                 If it is a matter of attending

          8  classes or scheduling classes, obviously if that is

          9  a problem we make accommodations for that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I just think

         11  the 90 days is a problem, because maybe there are

         12  tenants who never thought about even going into the

         13  program and there has been all sorts of conditions

         14  and all sorts of problems as far as being able to

         15  get, or maybe they have got a fund in which they use

         16  to run the building because there have been

         17  problems. You know, HPD has not always been the best

         18  landlord and -- (applause). Come on, folks. I am

         19  trying to make a point really. I am trying to make a

         20  point.

         21                 And there may have been some

         22  justification for not paying the rent. Do you take

         23  that into consideration, saying, look, you know, we

         24  will give you X amount of days to get your rent roll

         25  up to date or something like that? Or do they say,
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          2  look, you have not done the 90 days, therefore you

          3  can't go into the TIL program?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It is

          5  clear on the TIL application what is required.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand

          7  that.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: And --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are only

         10  giving them 90 days in which to qualify if they want

         11  to opt out of the NEP program.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

         13  right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So there is

         15  another complete instance of unfairness. Maybe one

         16  or two tenants prevents them from getting the 50

         17  percent and they don't have an opportunity. You are

         18  saying it is clear, but that is not written in stone

         19  either. There are always mitigating circumstances.

         20                 It seems to me that if you are

         21  requiring them to be three months, in a 50 percent

         22  payment situation, and you are only given three

         23  months to make a decision to go into TIL, you are

         24  really putting them behind the 8 ball, this really

         25  is even more unfair than the things I said before.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Okay,

          3  the key issue is that rent collection is important,

          4  an important determining factor for TIL.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Absolutely,

          6  and I think you are right there. You have to be able

          7  to maintain the building after it is in the TIL

          8  Program.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         10  Exactly.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It is also

         12  understandable that there could be conditions in

         13  there in those buildings where they would have had

         14  trouble with HPD and they have had to put some money

         15  in reserve and take money from the tenants in order

         16  to be able to buy fuel, do some plumbing work, do

         17  some electrical work. I know this. Do some roofs, I

         18  have seen this happen and I have been involved in

         19  this for a long time.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I

         21  understand.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So it seems

         23  to me there should be some sort of forgiveness

         24  program, or else certainly extend the 90-day period

         25  for another 90 days or so.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

          3  Council Member.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, I am not

          5  finished. I haven't gotten an answer.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I

          7  understand your point, Council member.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes. But I

          9  mean, how can we modify this so that the TIL

         10  program, the TIL requirements can fit within the

         11  period of time of the 90 days of the NEP Program?

         12                 Because when you really fit it

         13  together it really goes against these tenants being

         14  able to get into the TIL program.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I

         16  think the key thing to focus on again is that we

         17  have had 78 buildings opt into TIL from NEP.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I think the

         19  key is that you can have many more. It is not only

         20  that you can have many more buildings opt-in to TIL,

         21  if you are more fair, we have given you so many

         22  instances of the unfairness of the program, the fact

         23  that you sometimes don't have Spanish translators,

         24  the fact that these people don't get notification,

         25  they don't know -- many times they don't know a lot
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          2  of things, that you have already selected the

          3  individual to be the entrepreneur, that you already

          4  got your plan, you have done the work, your people,

          5  and you don't have somebody from the TIL program

          6  even to explain it. So, all of these things really

          7  say to me, if you are trying to be fair, that really

          8  I don't want you to go into the TIL program, I want

          9  you to go into the NEP program.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         11  Council Member, just a point of clarification. We

         12  are aware of one incident where there was a lack of

         13  a translator for a building and we rescheduled the

         14  meeting and provided a translator shortly

         15  thereafter.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Now you told

         17  us about the end product is the same regardless of

         18  whether the building is NEP or TIL, correct?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

         20  right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yet you spend

         22  70,000 per unit in NEP and only 50,000 in TIL. Why

         23  is the NEP program so much more expensive than the

         24  renovation, the same product?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,
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          2  again, we are doing TIL renovation in a piecemeal

          3  manner to a certain extent. There is some work that

          4  goes on when a building first comes into the

          5  program. Very often we do a boiler and we do a roof,

          6  we may do windows at that point, prior to the major

          7  renovation beginning, whereas in NEP it is dealt

          8  with all at one time.

          9                 I will go back and look at the

         10  numbers because I don't think we are accounting for

         11  that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I wish you

         13  could look at this.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:

         15  Absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The other

         17  thing I don't understand is, how could you go ahead

         18  and select an entrepreneur, and say you are going to

         19  be the entrepreneur while we in the City Council

         20  haven't gone through the ULURP procedure, have not

         21  passed on it, have not approved it? It seems to me

         22  that should be require additional time as well. And

         23  that they should not be selecting, be preliminary,

         24  say, look, we are going to let you be here. We are

         25  supposed to scrutinize that in the City Council. It
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          2  is one of our functions in the ULURP to see what is

          3  going on to that building, and if you have already

          4  selected the people, it seems to me another instance

          5  of unfairness, and allowing us not to scrutinize it.

          6                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Commissioner

          8  Warren, what has been the experience with TIL

          9  buildings? Are you familiar with any statistical

         10  conclusions as to the success or failure rate?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: TIL

         12  has generally been a very successful program.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: It is

         15  not for every building, as we talked about a little

         16  bit earlier.

         17                 We have had a small number of

         18  buildings as well that opted into TIL from NEP and

         19  failed out of TIL. It is a small number, but we have

         20  had that happen as well, and I think it is important

         21  to get statistics down, which was why I kept

         22  emphasizing that 78 buildings had opted in.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         24  Perkins, the last questioner to discuss this issue.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I will be
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          2  quick.

          3                 Are you familiar with the tragedy

          4  that took place this last week with regard to the

          5  tenants that were moved from 129th Street to 127th

          6  Street, in which the conditions of the building were

          7  so horrible that there was a great deal of concern

          8  that some tenants were getting hurt? Are you

          9  familiar with that?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I am

         11  somewhat familiar with that, and I believe once we

         12  were aware that there were repair issues, we made

         13  sure they were addressed very quickly.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Does that

         15  sort of symbolize to you the problem that tenants

         16  were moved into it and had to holler before you

         17  became aware of the condition of the building?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I

         19  think there will always be individual situations

         20  that things happen that should not happen and we try

         21  to address them as --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The condition

         23  of that building was worse than the condition of the

         24  building that they came from.

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That I
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          2  am not familiar with.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Excuse me?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I said

          5  that I am not familiar with.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, it was.

          7  How do we prevent that?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

          9  we try to do it by having this whole set of people

         10  involved in the program. And if a tenant believes

         11  there is a problem, then they should raise the red

         12  flag and try to make us aware of it, whether it is

         13  calling a not-for-profit, or calling the Partnership

         14  or calling us.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: When you say

         16  make us aware of it, for instance, the oversight of

         17  the entrepreneur in this case I guess is what you

         18  are talking about?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And so, when

         21  the tenant is assigned to a building that is in

         22  terrible condition, they should tell the

         23  entrepreneur that is moving them there?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: They

         25  can tell the Partnership, they can tell --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: They can tell

          3  the Partnership --

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Or

          5  they can tell us. Or the not-for-profit.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What

          7  not-for-profit?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: The

          9  not-for-profit who has been selected to provide

         10  tenant services on the project.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That is a

         12  whole other area that we need to discuss.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I just

         14  want to make one point, the meetings that Council

         15  Member Michels and I were discussing, the staff who

         16  shows up from HPD is the NEP project manager who

         17  sees the project through from the beginning through

         18  the end, so there is a person with a phone number

         19  and a name who the tenants meet at that point who

         20  they can contact if they have these kind of issues.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Mr. Chairman,

         22  there are a lot of other issues that I want to get

         23  into and I know that we are pressed for time because

         24  we want to hear from all of the people. So, I just

         25  want to ask one other quick question.
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          2                 The entrepreneurs that are selected,

          3  have you ever found any that were deficient?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I will

          5  give you some statistics on that, if you would like.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We

          8  have done three RFQs, Requests for Qualifications

          9  for the program. In the first one we had 96

         10  applicants, 35 met threshold, ten were selected. In

         11  the second we had 79 applicants, 40 passed

         12  threshold, 11 were selected. In the third we had 93

         13  applicants, 44 past threshold, and an additional I

         14  believe 11 were selected at that point, as well as

         15  giving some entrepreneurs who had been in the first

         16  two rounds an additional site. So, absolutely we are

         17  very thorough about reviewing qualifications.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You are

         19  talking about those who were selected and became

         20  part of the program. I am talking about amongst

         21  those that have become part of the program, when

         22  they do a bad job, do you identify them and remove

         23  them from the program?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

         25  We have not had that situation as yet. And hopefully
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          2  we will not.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You have not

          4  had that situation?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: That's

          6  right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Have you had

          8  complaints about the work of a particular

          9  entrepreneur?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: There

         11  have been individual issues that come up related to

         12  individual tenants that we try to address.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And have you

         14  investigated those kind of complaints?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes,

         16  we do. As soon as they are brought to our attention

         17  we investigate them.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And you have

         19  no circumstance in which you felt an entrepreneur

         20  was not worthy of participating any longer in the

         21  program?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We

         23  have had one case where the team of entrepreneurs

         24  changed where we moved another entrepreneur in and

         25  in that case it was an unfortunate situation where
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          2  one of the entrepreneurs in the partnership passed

          3  away and the team could not continue as it was then

          4  comprised and we moved another entrepreneur in to

          5  take over that. That was a very unique situation.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How do you

          7  get the complaints about the work of the

          8  entrepreneur being unacceptable? How do you find

          9  this out?

         10                 For instance, in the case of a

         11  particular entrepreneur that the tenants don't think

         12  are doing a good job or I dare say the partnership,

         13  how do you find that?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Well,

         15  certainly we meet with the Partnership all the time.

         16  We have got our neighborhood task forces --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So you get

         18  the complaints from the Partnership about the

         19  entrepreneurs?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We try

         21  to resolve issues together, if there are issues to

         22  be resolved.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What about

         24  from the tenants?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN:
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          2  Tenants call us all the time, if they have something

          3  to talk about, and it is not always complaints.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Have you

          5  received complaints about entrepreneurs from

          6  tenants?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: We

          8  have received complaints about certain situations,

          9  but I wouldn't say it is a pattern of a problem.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, from your

         11  point of view, tenants are happy with the

         12  entrepreneurs?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: I

         14  don't think it is fair to ask me that question, I

         15  wouldn't be able to answer it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         17                 All right, thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         19  Michels, one final question.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes. Once an

         21  entrepreneur has been selected, and once title has

         22  passed to the entrepreneur, is that entrepreneur

         23  able to just sell the building, whatever he wants to

         24  do? How long is he bound to keep that building and

         25  what is the notification if it changed
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          2  entrepreneurs? In other words, can he fund for

          3  somebody else without you knowing about it?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: The

          5  legal structure of the ownership entity after the

          6  Partnership transfers title, after renovation is

          7  completed, the entrepreneur is the general partner

          8  of a limited partnership because it is a tax credit

          9  deal. So, they do not own the building outright

         10  until after the 15-year compliance period. They are

         11  general partner of a limited partnership where the

         12  tax credits indicators are the 99 percent owners and

         13  limited partners.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So how long

         15  will that general partner, unless he dies or goes to

         16  jail or something, how long is he required to

         17  continue as the general partner?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: For

         19  the 15-year compliance period for tax credits.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So, after 15

         21  years they can do whatever they want with the

         22  building?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: No,

         24  they still have a regulatory agreement with the

         25  agency and they --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How long will

          3  that last?

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Thirty

          5  years.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is the

          7  corporation?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And that

         10  lasts for 30 years, but do they have to notify you

         11  as to changing principals in the corporation?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And what if

         14  they do notify you and you don't like who it is, you

         15  have the option of rejecting the principal?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Commissioner, I

         20  want to thank you for your testimony.

         21                 I would also request, you see we have

         22  a large number of, I assume, community persons in

         23  the room, if you can have someone remain to take

         24  note of their questions as we will, and perhaps from

         25  the questions of the Committee members, it is clear
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          2  to me that they are not looking to kill the program

          3  or to dismember the program but to make the

          4  necessary corrections where possible, to strengthen

          5  the program, so we would like to work together in

          6  that connection.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WARREN: And we

          8  are looking to do it as well. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. George

         10  Armstrong of the New York City Housing Partnership.

         11  Mr. William Nelson is also with you?

         12                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All right. Will

         14  you identify yourselves, gentlemen, and give your

         15  testimony on today's topic?

         16                 MR. ARMSTRONG: My name is George

         17  Armstrong, Director of the Neighborhood

         18  Entrepreneurs Program for the New York City Housing

         19  Partnership.

         20                 MR. NELSON: My name is William

         21  Nelson, I am the Chief of Staff for the New York

         22  City Housing Partnership.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Welcome,

         24  gentlemen. You may begin.

         25                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Good morning, Chairman
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          2  Spigner and members of the City Council Housing and

          3  Buildings Committee. Again, my name is George

          4  Armstrong, and I am Director of the NEP Program for

          5  the New York City Housing Partnership.

          6                 I thank you for inviting the

          7  Partnership to testify before you this morning in

          8  the Committee oversight hearing on the Neighborhood

          9  Entrepreneurs Program.

         10                 Since 1983, the Housing and

         11  Partnership has worked to promote the development of

         12  affordable housing, revitalize neighborhoods and

         13  expand the participation of local residents and

         14  local entrepreneurs in community economic

         15  development.

         16                 The Housing Partnership was

         17  established to assist the City with two related

         18  problems, a shortage of affordable housing and the

         19  need for private investment in blighted

         20  neighborhoods.

         21                 Since its inception, the Housing

         22  Partnership has mobilized millions of dollars in

         23  private sector resources to address these needs,

         24  primarily through redevelopment of City-owned lands

         25  and buildings.
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          2                 Specifically the NEP program has

          3  invested $236 million in public/private funds to

          4  rehabilitate buildings in neighborhoods around the

          5  City, creating capacity and self-sufficiency within

          6  low-income communities is a major component of every

          7  housing partnership initiative.

          8                 As a result of these efforts, dozens

          9  of minority and non-profit organizations, locally

         10  based contractors and local entrepreneurs have

         11  assumed a more significant role in the City's

         12  affordable housing delivery system.

         13                 The Housing Partnership, together

         14  with HPD, is five years into the implementation of

         15  the NEP program, which as you may know is a

         16  public/private initiative that rehabilitates and

         17  sells City-owned Department buildings to

         18  community-based responsible property management

         19  companies, also known as entrepreneurs.

         20                 The Housing Partnership is now

         21  working with 31 entrepreneurs in rounds one through

         22  four involving approximately 6,000 apartments in 478

         23  buildings located in the South Bronx, East Harlem,

         24  Central Harlem and Brooklyn.

         25                 To date, rounds one and two have
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          2  created nearly 2,000 rehabilitated units, the result

          3  is tenants are moving back into modern, safe

          4  apartments, affordable to those of low and very low

          5  income.

          6                 Round three and four entrepreneurs

          7  are currently in the predevelopment stages. Round

          8  three entrepreneurs assigned to clusters in June of

          9  1998 have prepared plans for Building Department

         10  filing and are accepting bids from contractors for

         11  work to begin this summer.

         12                 Round four entrepreneurs assigned to

         13  clusters in November of 1998 are currently managing

         14  the building and serving apartments to determine the

         15  extent of work needed addressing emergency repairs.

         16                 Approximately $800,000 has been spent

         17  on repairs in round three and four since June of

         18  1998.

         19                 The entrepreneur selection process

         20  speaks to the strengths and success of the program.

         21  To be considered for the program entrepreneurs must

         22  be neighborhood based, meaning the principal must

         23  either live, work or do most of their business in

         24  neighborhoods where clusters have been identified,

         25  and they must manage at least 50 apartments.
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          2  However, the entrepreneur cannot own or have a

          3  substantial interest in more than 250 units, which

          4  ensures that entrepreneurs selected to the program,

          5  one, are small enough to take a hands-on approach to

          6  management, and two, can best benefit from potential

          7  growth opportunities as participants in the program.

          8                 Property management experience,

          9  financial strength, rehabilitation experience, past

         10  work with government and non profit organizations

         11  and community ties are all qualities of the

         12  entrepreneurs who are currently participating in the

         13  program.

         14                 In fact, many of the entrepreneurs

         15  currently in the program were raised and still live

         16  in the neighborhoods they are redeveloping.

         17                 The review of the entrepreneurs by

         18  the Housing Partnership staff and HPD is exhausted.

         19                 In addition to a thorough analysis of

         20  all written submission provided in connection with

         21  the RFQ, it also involves a comprehensive review of

         22  references in the real estate industry and the

         23  community.

         24                 This review also includes a visit to

         25  their offices, inspections of their buildings and
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          2  confidential interviews with their current tenants

          3  and superintendents.

          4                 Please let me emphasize that our

          5  relationship with the entrepreneurs did not end once

          6  the entrepreneur is selected. The relationship is

          7  one of cooperation and oversight. It is our goal to

          8  ensure success for the entrepreneur, tenants and the

          9  community as a whole.

         10                 Our efforts include a full component

         11  of technical assistance, and a fully coordinated

         12  training package. The Housing Partnership assists

         13  with access to financing and other support services

         14  tailored to the entrepreneur business development

         15  needs.

         16                 Our oversight responsibility clearly

         17  is important to the success of the program. Along

         18  with HPD the Housing Partnership manages

         19  construction progress, fiscal compliance and tenant

         20  relations. With respect to tenant relations, our

         21  experience has shown that tenants have generally

         22  worked out issues effectively with their respective

         23  entrepreneurs.

         24                 Needless to say, tenants have and

         25  will continue to have direct access to the Housing
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          2  Partnership, should any situations arise.

          3                 The Housing Partnership recognizes

          4  that the transition from City to private ownership

          5  may be challenging and disruption may be felt by

          6  tenants in the community.

          7                 To meet that challenge we have sought

          8  the help of community-based non-for-profit groups

          9  which have been critical to the success of the

         10  program.

         11                 Under contract with the Housing

         12  Partnership, 14 community-based organizations are

         13  providing services to all NEP tenants and

         14  entrepreneurs. We have required that services

         15  include meetings with tenants to inform them about

         16  NEP, and surveying tenants in their home regarding

         17  income, family composition and special needs for

         18  relocation.

         19                 This personal hands-on interaction is

         20  very important for allowing the community group and

         21  the Housing Partnership to have an understanding of

         22  the tenants issues, such as social service needs,

         23  and employment training, development and

         24  opportunity.

         25                 These organizations are available to
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          2  answer tenants questions concerning NEP throughout

          3  the entire process.

          4                 In many instances the community group

          5  has been a key factor in conflict resolution between

          6  entrepreneurs and tenants. Community groups also

          7  inform tenants about the Partnership Employment

          8  Program, which provides a wide array of services

          9  from job readiness training to referrals. To date,

         10  approximately 250 NEP residents have secured

         11  employment through the program, many of whom were

         12  hired directly by the entrepreneurs and GCs that

         13  participate in the program.

         14                 In fact, what started as a pilot

         15  project has now expanded into a full service

         16  employment program, including the creation of

         17  community-based employment centers responsible for

         18  over 700 job placements in both NEP and area

         19  residents.

         20                 We recognize that the accomplishments

         21  of the program should not overshadow the concerns of

         22  the tenants in NEP buildings. The need for emergency

         23  repairs, potential rent increases, temporary

         24  relocation and assignment to smaller apartments are

         25  some of the concerns that we are constantly working

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  with tenants to address.

          3                 We believe the key to alleviate these

          4  concerns is communication. Specifically when

          5  addressing relocation and any disruption it may

          6  cause, tenants receive several mailings and are

          7  involved in one-on-one discussions with their

          8  community group, as well as with the entrepreneurs

          9  emphasizing that relocation is temporary and their

         10  right to return to the cluster is not threatened.

         11                 With respect to rent increase, we

         12  have emphasized that rents are capped below 30

         13  percent of their income, or that if tenants are on

         14  public assistance the rents will never be raised to

         15  higher than their maximum shelter allowance. In

         16  fact, in many cases this results in a reduction of

         17  rent, rather than in an increase.

         18                 One other issue tenants have

         19  complained about is returning to smaller apartments.

         20                 While we understand the complaint and

         21  have tried to be accommodating, we also understand

         22  that not everyone is completely satisfied. Our

         23  mission is to provide affordable housing to all in

         24  need, and that means in some cases singles have

         25  sacrificed larger units to those families who have
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          2  been living in overcrowded conditions.

          3                 In conclusion, our mission here is to

          4  provide affordable housing, job creation and

          5  community development. We believe NEP is a program

          6  that has met that mission with success, and we

          7  further believe that with your continued involvement

          8  we can accomplish this mission with greater success.

          9                 Thank you, again, for the

         10  opportunity.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you. Thank

         12  you, Mr. Armstrong. Thank you, Mr. Armstrong, for

         13  your testimony.

         14                 Let me acknowledge the presence of

         15  Council Member Marshall, a member of the Committee,

         16  Council Member Malave-Dilan was here, and Council

         17  Member Reed. Council Member Reed is not a member of

         18  this Committee, I don't think, but he has an

         19  interest in this topic.

         20                 I was just briefly distracted while

         21  you were making your testimony, so in the overall,

         22  Mr. Armstrong, you are fully supportive of this

         23  program and you are satisfied with this direction

         24  and the results you have achieved so far; is that a

         25  fair conclusion?
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          2                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That is.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

          4  Michels, you had a question?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes. Thank

          6  you very much. I note from our report from the

          7  Committee, and they have done a very, very good job,

          8  the Counsel to the Committee, in producing a

          9  briefing paper for us, that since 1994 the

         10  Partnership has produced some $75 million for

         11  affordable housing on City land, is that the

         12  accurate amount?

         13                 MR. ARMSTRONG: I am not sure of the

         14  statistics, I think you are referring to the New

         15  Homes Program, as well?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The

         17  Partnership was created in order to work for the

         18  Building Blocks Program; isn't that correct?

         19                 MR. ARMSTRONG: No, it was not

         20  created.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: NEP.

         22                 MR. ARMSTRONG: No, it was not created

         23  for that. We also administer the New Home Program

         24  and the Mortgage Coalition Program.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am learning
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          2  something. Let's learn together.

          3                 Now, as far as when they started the

          4  NEP program, then they went to you and you entered

          5  into an agreement with the City to help them operate

          6  that program?

          7                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Well, that is a pretty

          8  accurate statement, except that the Partnership was

          9  actually involved in the creation of the program

         10  from the beginning.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay. So,

         12  together you created the program?

         13                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That's correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I want to

         15  give credit where credit is due.

         16                 And the importance of the Partnership

         17  is not only your administrative abilities and your

         18  knowledge of housing, but also because you could

         19  raise money for the private sector.

         20                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That's correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So what I

         22  wanted to know is, since you started in the NEP

         23  program with the help in creating the program, how

         24  much money have you raised for the NEP Program?

         25                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Well, all of the
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          2  construction loans are actually funded through

          3  private institutions. Each entrepreneur is matched

          4  with a bank, a private lending institution.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Let me put it

          6  this way. If the Partnership wasn't around, how much

          7  money would be lacking for the program?

          8                 MR. ARMSTRONG: I don't have the

          9  specifics on that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, here it

         11  says 75 million, they must have gotten it from some

         12  place.

         13                 MR. ARMSTRONG: I am not really sure

         14  where that came from.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But is there

         16  a limited amount of money that can be devoted to the

         17  NEP program from the Partnership?

         18                 MR. ARMSTRONG: From the Partnership?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

         20                 MR. ARMSTRONG: The Partnership

         21  continues to raise money for technical assistance.

         22  We go to foundations so that we can help the

         23  entrepreneurs along, as well as --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It is not

         25  unlimited --
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          2                 MR. ARMSTRONG: It is not unlimited,

          3  correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There is a

          5  limited amount of money that can be spent, right?

          6                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Sure. Sure.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And the more

          8  money you have around that you can raise and devote

          9  to the NEP program, the better off you are for those

         10  buildings which are eligible for NEP.

         11                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Sure.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So, wouldn't

         13  you agree that those programs that are eligible for

         14  TIL should be encouraged to go into TIL so that the

         15  money that you don't have to spend on TIL, because

         16  you don't put money into TIL, right?

         17                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Now, that

         19  would be more money eligible to go into the NEP

         20  program.

         21                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Let me just make

         22  something clear, that the Partnership is not against

         23  the TIL program.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am not

         25  saying it is. I am not saying it is at all. Don't be
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          2  so defensive. Listen to the question and don't be so

          3  defensive. I am trying to just be mathematical.

          4                 If you have a set amount of money or

          5  a limited spicket of money, and that that money

          6  should be going into the NEP program, and the less

          7  money you have to spend on TIL, the more money you

          8  will have for the NEP; isn't that right?

          9                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That is really a

         10  question that should be directed towards HPD. It is

         11  a HPD question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You don't use

         13  TIL.

         14                 MR. ARMSTRONG: The money that the

         15  Partnership raises is not used primarily for the

         16  development, it is used for the business

         17  development.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand

         19  that. But it is money that goes into the NEP

         20  program.

         21                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And NEP

         23  program is a continuing program.

         24                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That's correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So, it is
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          2  your job to try to do as many NEP programs as is

          3  possible.

          4                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That's correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And if there

          6  are buildings that should be going into TIL, and you

          7  have to deal with them, that is less money that you

          8  have to spend in the NEP program.

          9                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Not necessarily.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In other

         11  words, I am saying it should have been to encourage

         12  the TIL program so that you have buildings in the

         13  TIL program that are doing well, because you don't

         14  have to spend money on buildings that are in the TIL

         15  program are in the NEP program that should be in the

         16  TIL program.

         17                 MR. ARMSTRONG: I understand your

         18  question, but I can't answer it. I can't answer that

         19  question, it's a money-specific question.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So you are

         21  saying you are not against the TIL Program?

         22                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That's correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And do you

         24  encourage people who you believe when you

         25  investigate a situation?
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          2                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And you go

          4  and you look at a building and evaluate whether it

          5  should go into the NEP program, right?

          6                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you

          8  encourage those tenants who you believe who should

          9  be in the TIL program to go into the TIL program?

         10                 MR. ARMSTRONG: We attend the meetings

         11  with HPD, where HPD staff talks about the TIL

         12  Program. We do not participate in any TIL advocacy.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You don't

         14  participate in any TIL advocacy.

         15                 MR. ARMSTRONG: No.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And have you

         17  seen buildings which go into the NEP program which

         18  you believe should have been in the TIL Program?

         19                 MR. ARMSTRONG: We really can't speak

         20  towards, to be honest with you, anything about the

         21  TIL Program, because we are set up specifically to

         22  work with the NEP projects.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are set

         24  up to sell the NEP program; is that right?

         25                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That's right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Even among

          3  people who should probably be in the TIL program?

          4                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Again, we administer

          5  the NEP program --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you

          7  very much. Okay. Thank you very much, I have no

          8  other questions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         10  Perkins.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you for

         12  your testimony.

         13                 The entrepreneurs that are selected,

         14  I am sure they are not slum lords, they are not

         15  allowed to be slum lords?

         16                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That's correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are they

         18  required to clear their outstanding code violations

         19  or tax arrears from other properties that they may

         20  have?

         21                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Entrepreneurs are

         22  required to clear those violations. In some cases

         23  entrepreneurs are managers and have limited

         24  resources to address those, but we do require that

         25  they address those before --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do they clear

          3  them before they become, they get into the program?

          4  Or do they clear them after they get into the

          5  program?

          6                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Before they are

          7  assigned a cluster they are required to clear those

          8  violations.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, of the 31

         10  entrepreneurs that you have now, those that might

         11  have other properties, those other properties are

         12  code free? Violation free?

         13                 MR. ARMSTRONG: At the time of their

         14  assignment they should be, however, I don't have any

         15  specifics on whether or not the buildings that they

         16  currently manage are.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: At the time

         18  they are assigned a cluster, they have no

         19  violations?

         20                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Oh no, they have no C

         21  violations. They have some minor violations.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: They have

         23  minor violations.

         24                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes. They may have but

         25  we still require that they address those concerns.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And you would

          3  have knowledge of the particular violations that

          4  they have?

          5                 In other words, if I am an

          6  entrepreneur, you would know -- the buildings, the

          7  other properties that I have, you know the

          8  violations that I have?

          9                 MR. ARMSTRONG: We get a printout from

         10  HPD that kind of classifies the violation. We may

         11  not necessarily know what the violation is, but HPD

         12  also helps the entrepreneur clear those violations.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You are

         14  involved in monitoring their performance?

         15                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And what do

         17  you do towards that end?

         18                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Well, the Partnership

         19  is involved in several aspects. As I stated in my

         20  testimony, we contract with local non-profits to

         21  kind of be our eyes and ears out there as well. The

         22  Partnership is also very involved in attending

         23  meetings. We are always out in the community talking

         24  to buildings and even with the elected officials. So

         25  to that extent the Partnership, as well as the local
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          2  community group, provides some level of oversight.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, for

          4  instance, you have meetings with the entrepreneur

          5  periodically? I mean, I am just trying to get a

          6  sense -- I understand from the rhetoric that you do

          7  this, but I am trying to see more or less how you

          8  actually do this.

          9                 MR. ARMSTRONG: The staff members meet

         10  with the entrepreneurs on a regular basis and also

         11  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Like once a

         13  month, six months or --

         14                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Actually, they talk to

         15  the entrepreneurs probably every day, but formal

         16  meetings are set up on a monthly basis. They also

         17  meet with the non-profits several times.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: They meet

         19  with the non-profits?

         20                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And what do

         22  they do?

         23                 MR. ARMSTRONG: The non-profits are

         24  responsible for a variety of tasks. Initially when

         25  we select the non-profits, they go out and accompany
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          2  us at the meetings with the entrepreneurs. Then they

          3  go and do the door-to-door surveys and kind of

          4  assess the tenants social service needs, as well as

          5  their relocation needs.

          6                 They also assess their family

          7  composition and incomes in order for us to determine

          8  what apartments these tenants should be going into.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And after

         10  they have done this, do they still have an ongoing

         11  relationship with the Partnership, the entrepreneur

         12  or the tenants?

         13                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes. A typical

         14  contract with the non-profits and the entrepreneurs

         15  last for a year, and those are renewed every year

         16  and there is a lot in the budget that allows for

         17  this oversight for what amounts probably to around

         18  six years.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How are

         20  entrepreneurs informed of the opportunity to become

         21  an entrepreneur.

         22                 MR. ARMSTRONG: There are ads placed

         23  in newspapers, as well as postings at community

         24  boards and word of mouth and that sort of thing.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, for
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          2  instance, in terms of round three and round four,

          3  you didn't do that, did you?

          4                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes, we did.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You contacted

          6  the community board about the -- you posted this in

          7  the community board?

          8                 MR. ARMSTRONG: As Commissioner Warren

          9  stated there was a lapse in our directorship over at

         10  HPD.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So where did

         12  you post it at all?

         13                 MR. ARMSTRONG: There were --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: There were no

         15  postings around three and four --

         16                 MR. ARMSTRONG: There were postings in

         17  the newspapers, as well as at the community group,

         18  as well as word of mouth, the local community group.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The reason I

         20  am raising this is because there is a concern that

         21  there are entrepreneurs that were not aware of this

         22  and want to become a part of it and there is no way

         23  for them to do it.

         24                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Entrepreneurs who

         25  still would like to be involved can always call the
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          2  Partnership and we have a log that we keep so that

          3  we will mail our RFQs out, or invitations to submit

          4  RFQs when that time comes upon us.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The Housing

          6  Partnership has an employment program?

          7                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That's correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Where is it

          9  located?

         10                 MR. ARMSTRONG: There are --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You have

         12  seven community-based employment centers?

         13                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That's correct.

         14                 The main offices, the Partnership's

         15  main offices are at One Battery Park Plaza, however,

         16  we have set up neighborhood employment centers, we

         17  have one in the Bronx, mid-Bronx, Desperados Job

         18  Resource Center at 1671 Bryant. We have one in

         19  Central Brooklyn, the Central Brooklyn Neighborhood

         20  Employment Center, which is in 796 Putnam, and we

         21  have Manhattan Employment Center, the County Cullin

         22  Center, at 242 West 144th Street.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The 250 NEP

         24  residents have been, you say have secured employment

         25  through the program?
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          2                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And many are

          4  working directly with the entrepreneurs?

          5                 MR. ARMSTRONG: In some cases tenants

          6  work directly for entrepreneurs, in some cases they

          7  work directly for contractors, and in some cases we

          8  find them jobs in the private sector.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am very

         10  concerned about the fact that you are able to move

         11  forward with your program without any communication

         12  with the local elected officials or the community

         13  board, particularly in terms of identifying

         14  clusters, assigning entrepreneurs, and even

         15  relocating folks to alternative places to live. What

         16  is your thinking about that?

         17                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Clearly I think that

         18  there is a need for communication between the local

         19  community groups, the task forces, the community

         20  boards and the Council representatives.

         21                 As the Commissioner said, there was a

         22  lag for a few months and we have made an effort to

         23  kind of resume those efforts. I know that my office

         24  has been available to meet with the Council and the

         25  community boards as well, and we are making an
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          2  effort to rectify that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, if, for

          4  instance, it is determined that certain buildings

          5  are not appropriate, what do we do?

          6                 MR. ARMSTRONG: When you say

          7  inappropriate, what do you mean?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, the

          9  entrepreneurial program or for relocation, what do

         10  we do?

         11                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Well, we should sit at

         12  the table. If it is inappropriate, you know, who

         13  deems it inappropriate. I don't even know what you

         14  mean.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I know to

         16  some extent since it goes through a Land Use process

         17  the City Council has something to say about that.

         18                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Sure.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So what

         20  happens if the Councilperson in the district decides

         21  or the people in the buildings decide that it is not

         22  appropriate?

         23                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Well, again, as the

         24  Commissioner said, the tenants would have to be made

         25  whole.
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          2                 I would like to note that tenants who

          3  have been relocated around three and four, without

          4  the UDAAP approval or the approval from the Council

          5  people, are usually in most cases relocated for

          6  their own safety.

          7                 Many of the buildings obviously are

          8  in terrible condition, and we have had to close

          9  buildings down. So we have asked the entrepreneurs

         10  to relocate those tenants into safe apartments.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Those tenants

         12  are the ones that have brought this to our

         13  attention, and complained about the conditions to

         14  which they had been moved. Such as, for instance,

         15  what has recently happened on 127th Street.

         16                 I would like to believe that your

         17  decision that it was unsafe was a good decision, I

         18  don't want to think that you were lying or being

         19  disingenuous, but I don't want to have to rely only

         20  on your point of view either. So that is the concern

         21  that I have.

         22                 So, the fact that you have gone

         23  forward with this and others have told me that what

         24  you have done is not the safest thing for them, how

         25  do we -- if we decide that something has to be
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          2  corrected, how do we correct it?

          3                 MR. ARMSTRONG: I think we all agree

          4  that the task force meeting should occur, and we

          5  welcome the input, again, the community groups are

          6  involved and they do see the apartments before, and

          7  they see the relocation of apartments.

          8                 I will also say that there have been

          9  instances where tenants were relocated and workers

         10  had to take place while they were in those relocated

         11  apartments. And while you do get complaints, I am

         12  sure there are just as many tenants who are pleased

         13  with the temporary location as well.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, I am

         15  not going to doubt that there are people in this

         16  audience who are pleased by your performance, but I

         17  am really talking about those who are not pleased,

         18  because those are the victims.

         19                 And so, what we really are trying to

         20  do is to make sure that more people are pleased,

         21  that the program has warts and we are trying to fix

         22  them. That is where this is coming from. I just want

         23  to be clear that you understand that.

         24                 Is your literature all bilingual by

         25  the way?
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          2                 MR. ARMSTRONG: We have to just

          3  develop a tenant handbook in response to some of the

          4  meetings that we have had with Council Members and

          5  community groups. I heard earlier that the Council

          6  asked that we put something together so that the

          7  tenants could kind of refer to something in writing

          8  and we have put a handbook together for the tenant

          9  and that will be in Spanish and English and it

         10  should be available within the next two weeks.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So at the

         12  moment there is no bilingual literature?

         13                 MR. ARMSTRONG: There is bilingual

         14  literature that HPD distributes, but we have kind of

         15  gotten more into detail and put a book together so

         16  that kind of covers it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me just

         18  be clear. I think on something Councilman Michels

         19  was trying to get clear.

         20                 So, in the orientation session that

         21  you provide for the tenants that are about to become

         22  a part of the entrepreneur program, you have HPD,

         23  right?

         24                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You have the
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          2  NEP person, you have the entrepreneur, and your

          3  organization there to orient them about NEP and TIL?

          4                 MR. ARMSTRONG: That is correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you think

          6  that is a little one-sided?

          7                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Clearly we are there

          8  to explain the NEP program.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Right. I am

         10  not suggesting you are there for anything but that.

         11                 MR. ARMSTRONG: And I will also say

         12  that HPD is there and we do express, you know, the

         13  whole -- let them know that the TIL option is

         14  available, and as Commissioner Warren said as well,

         15  several buildings have opted out.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you

         17  advocate on behalf of TIL when you are there?

         18                 MR. ARMSTRONG: No, I don't.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. I just

         20  wanted to be clear. Because you seemed to suggest

         21  that you did when you said you let them know.

         22                 MR. ARMSTRONG: What I am saying is

         23  that we do let them know the option is available,

         24  but the Partnership is contracted to administer the

         25  NEP program.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

          3                 Do you acknowledge the unfairness

          4  that Councilman Michels tried to establish, in that

          5  kind of a process? Particularly since there is no --

          6  there is a conflict of interest in terms of you

          7  being there to advocate on behalf of NEP and at the

          8  same time providing information about a program that

          9  is in the way accounted to you. Not necessarily

         10  worse than yours or better than yours, but from the

         11  perspective of the tenant, it is really not fair.

         12                 MR. ARMSTRONG: Again, I really can't

         13  speak to HPD's policy in terms of administering the

         14  TIL program.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, thank you,

         18  Mr. Armstrong.

         19                 Now we move to general public. No,

         20  first, is the Borough President of Manhattan here?

         21                 MS. IRVINE: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER:  Okay, we will

         23  hear from the representative of the Borough

         24  President of Manhattan.

         25                 Take a seat and identify yourself.
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          2                 The Chair wants to apologize, I have

          3  a concern that I must address and I must leave at

          4  this time. Council Member Michels, the senior member

          5  of the Committee, will preside for the remainder of

          6  the hearing.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank

          8  you, Mr. Chairman. I might say that this is a

          9  personal health matter that the Chairman has to

         10  leave for. I know he would have been here if he had

         11  the opportunity, so I extend to you the fact that

         12  the reason he has to leave for is very, very

         13  important, I know personally myself. So please don't

         14  take offense at the fact that he is leaving. But he

         15  would have been here and we will relate to him

         16  everything that takes place.

         17                 So, I thank you very much, and I

         18  appreciate the confidence he has given me in taking

         19  over the chair.

         20                 Proceed. Identify yourself first.

         21                 MS. IRVINE: My name is Celia Irvine

         22  and I am here to represent the Manhattan Borough

         23  President, C. Virginia Fields. The Borough President

         24  regrets that she is unable to appear before the

         25  Committee in person. This is an issue that has been
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          2  of great concern to her, since her time as your

          3  colleague.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, tell

          5  her we appreciate the fact that you are here and we

          6  are sorry that she cannot be here. But we also

          7  acknowledge the fact that she certainly has been

          8  extremely active in this area and someone who is

          9  intensely interested in this particular issue.

         10                 MS. IRVINE: During Fiscal Year 1998,

         11  the Department of Housing, Preservation and

         12  Development announced that the number of residential

         13  buildings in City ownership had fallen to the lowest

         14  level since HPD's creation in 1978. This is a

         15  laudable accomplishment. It also demands further

         16  scrutiny. It would be very unfortunate if the City's

         17  accelerated in rem disposition has occurred at the

         18  expense of the tenants living in City-owned

         19  buildings.

         20                 As a Council Member representing

         21  Central Harlem, and as the Manhattan Borough

         22  President, C. Virginia Fields has had experience

         23  with the Neighborhood Entrepreneurs Program since

         24  its inception.

         25                 This experience has shown the Borough
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          2  President that NEP is an uneven program, lacking

          3  consistent policies, procedures and oversight. She

          4  is troubled to hear tenants and advocates raising

          5  concerns today that are similar to those raised five

          6  years ago at the start of the program.

          7                 These include problems relating to

          8  temporary and permanent relocation, concerns the

          9  tenants are inadequately informed about their

         10  options to go into the Tenant Interim Lease Program,

         11  and HPD's lack of oversight and reporting on NEP.

         12                 To address each of these briefly in

         13  turn:

         14                 First, the Manhattan Borough

         15  President is especially disturbed by numerous

         16  reports of problems relating to relocations during

         17  rehabilitation.  Even in the best case scenario

         18  relocation can be traumatic for tenants.

         19                 When compounded with insensitivity,

         20  harassment and intimidation, relocation can be

         21  life-threatening.

         22                 Steps should be taken to protect

         23  tenants against entrepreneurs who abuse their power

         24  during relocation.

         25                 Second, the Manhattan Borough
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          2  President has heard from tenants who believe that

          3  they were forced into NEP because HPD provided them

          4  with inadequate information about the option of

          5  going into the TIL program, and in some instances

          6  discouraged them from exercising this option.

          7                 The Manhattan Borough President

          8  strongly supports the TIL program because it

          9  provides low-income people with the opportunity to

         10  become home owners and stakeholders in the

         11  community.

         12                 In the future, she hopes that HPD

         13  will level the playing field for its in rem

         14  disposition program, by providing in rem tenants

         15  with timely and accurate information about all of

         16  the in rem disposition programs, including TIL and

         17  NEP.

         18                 HPD would be providing tenants with

         19  the opportunity to make real choices about their

         20  housing. In the end, strengthening opt-out option

         21  will strengthen both programs.

         22                 Third, regular reporting and

         23  oversight concerning NEP has been chronically

         24  lacking. As a Council Member, the Manhattan Borough

         25  President was concerned that NEP could result in the
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          2  displacement of low-income tenants. To monitor the

          3  program, her office requested that HPD provide them

          4  with regular reports on the treatment of NEP

          5  tenants.

          6                 However, HPD has failed to keep

          7  current members of the Council informed about NEP.

          8  As a consequence, the Council has no way of

          9  assessing NEP's impact on tenants.

         10                 Finally, I would like to ask the

         11  Committee to also hold hearings on the City's

         12  failure to implement Local Law 37, concerning the

         13  City's ability to transfer titles of tax delinquent

         14  buildings.

         15                 Next month the Department of Finance

         16  will conduct its fourth tax lien sale in four years,

         17  selling liens on thousands of parcels.

         18                 In contrast, HPD has not transferred

         19  title to a single distressed building. This has

         20  created a limbo of hundreds of buildings and

         21  thousands of tenants.

         22                 In summary, the Manhattan Borough

         23  President remains supportive of the spirit of NEP.

         24  She believes that along with tenants and non-profit

         25  organizations, neighborhood-based entrepreneurs can
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          2  play a valuable role in the revitalization of New

          3  York City's neighborhoods.

          4                 NEP can be made stronger by taking

          5  steps to address relocation issues, ensuring that

          6  tenants are informed of all of their disposition

          7  options, and making sure that HPD stringently

          8  monitors NEP.

          9                 By drawing attention to the

         10  shortcomings in NEP we can create a better program.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 We appreciate you being here.

         15                 Our next witness is Roberta

         16  Washington, Community Board 10, and Danny Perez is

         17  here and Noreen Clark-Smith. Why don't you all, if

         18  you would like to sit together it would be our

         19  pleasure.

         20                 Good morning. Welcome. Good morning,

         21  Danny. Good afternoon. It is afternoon already.

         22                 MS. WASHINGTON: I am Roberta

         23  Washington.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: As Bill

         25  would say, usually you are listening to us, now we
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          2  are going to listen to you. Being two of us

          3  representing Community Board 10. Welcome down to

          4  City Hall and we are pleased you are here. We are

          5  always pleased to see people from Community Board

          6  10.

          7                 MS. WASHINGTON: Thank you.

          8                 Stanley Gleaton, the Chairperson for

          9  Community Board 10, isn't able to attend today, and

         10  I have a statement that I am going to read for the

         11  community board in his behalf.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Why don't

         13  you move the mic a little bit in front of you so we

         14  can hear you better.

         15                 MS. WASHINGTON: Okay.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We want

         17  to hear the words of Stanley.

         18                 MS. WASHINGTON: Okay, you can hear

         19  Stanley. And also with me are Danny Perez, who is

         20  the Chairperson for the Land Use Committee, and

         21  Noreen Clark-Smith who will be speaking as a

         22  resident on one of the blocks where the NEP is

         23  active.

         24                 So this is Stanley Gleaton's

         25  statement.
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          2                 When the Neighborhood Entrepreneurs

          3  Program, NEP, was first introduced to the community

          4  and the community board, it was presented as a

          5  program which provided a mechanism for

          6  rehabilitating dozens of abandoned City-owned

          7  tenement and walk-up apartment buildings which had

          8  remained unoccupied in Central Harlem, some for over

          9  20 years.

         10                 A secondary goal of the program was

         11  the opportunity for participation of local

         12  developers, building managers, contractors and

         13  others and the redevelopment programs targeted for

         14  their neighborhoods.

         15                 The community board enthusiastically

         16  welcomed to the program in HPD's description of how

         17  the community would benefit from the program and the

         18  level of involvement planned for community input

         19  through the community board.

         20                 Unfortunately we must report that

         21  after an initial period of cooperation, and what the

         22  community board perceived as a good working

         23  relationship with HPD on issues related to the NEP,

         24  this situation deteriorated.

         25                 HPD representatives working with the
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          2  community board originally carved out a working

          3  relationship and a role with the community board

          4  which included HPD's informing the board of the

          5  selection of proposed sites for each round, with an

          6  opportunity for the community board to comment,

          7  HPD's informing the board's Housing Committee of

          8  proposed entrepreneurs and allowing for board

          9  comment prior to final selection, HPD's disclosure

         10  of information about the entrepreneur team with an

         11  opportunity for community board comment to final

         12  selection, and regular updates to the community

         13  board about the progress on sites previously

         14  approved and information about HPD's plans for

         15  future sites.

         16                 Because problems in the operation of

         17  the NEP program encountered by tenants, block

         18  residents and others, are most often reported first

         19  to the community boards, we believe that it is

         20  essential that the board be part of the process, at

         21  a minimum to the degree described above, and that

         22  the community board be kept informed of the current

         23  status of the program within our neighborhoods.

         24                 For rounds one and two the community

         25  board had the type of participation described here.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            130

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  And we believe that our input, which did not include

          3  veto over final selections of either the site nor

          4  entrepreneurs was nevertheless effective, because

          5  HPD's representatives recognized the value of our

          6  input and used it when it made a difference.

          7                 In addition, being informed, and to

          8  some degree, being a part of the NEP and NRP

          9  processes allowed the community board to respond

         10  effectively to the residents who voiced various

         11  concerns surrounding the program.

         12                 Beyond communication and board

         13  participation problems articulated by the board,

         14  community residents have voiced problems to us which

         15  relate to issues such as problems with the

         16  relocation of tenants, the return of tenants to

         17  buildings when it is known that such tenants sell

         18  drugs or are engaged in other illegal behavior, how

         19  in rem buildings are handled in the NEP process and

         20  eviction and relocation policies as they relate to

         21  commercial tenants.

         22                 Last year after a period of little

         23  communication, the Board was presented with a slate

         24  of new entrepreneurs for rounds which we did not

         25  know existed.
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          2                 In August of last year the Community

          3  Board passed a resolution which outlined questions

          4  and problems which the board felt must be addressed

          5  before continuing to improve the program. For

          6  several months recently a subcommittee of the board

          7  held meetings with HPD officials to address these

          8  issues. We recently received a written response from

          9  HPD which addressed some of these concerns that we

         10  are currently reviewing and will respond to in

         11  writing shortly.

         12                 In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, we

         13  believe that the NEP and NRP program could be an

         14  important tool for the development of the community,

         15  but they are programs that will not work without a

         16  defined and agreed upon method for community boards

         17  to be kept informed, to give input to the process

         18  and to work with HPD to resolve problems as

         19  expressed by community residents.

         20                 That concludes our official

         21  statement.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Yes, Mrs.

         23  Washington, I must say I agree with you. And I must

         24  let the audience know that it is not just for the

         25  purposes of some meaningless procedure, but I know
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          2  this community board especially has very

          3  constructive input, and the things that you want to

          4  do will be very helpful to the program. That is why

          5  I have problems if they don't cooperate with you.

          6  And they cooperated at the beginning and now they

          7  aren't.

          8                 MS. WASHINGTON: Yes.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What was

         10  the reason for that? Do you have any idea why?

         11                 MS. WASHINGTON: I don't know. It may

         12  have been change of personnel. I am not sure. All I

         13  know is there was a period when there were regular

         14  task force meetings which is something out of the

         15  community board structure, but that we participated

         16  in, and in addition to the task force, they also

         17  appeared before the Housing Committee and Land Use

         18  Committee of the community board and presented what

         19  sites they proposed to use, and we could comment on

         20  that, and they also presented the entrepreneurs.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And I am

         22  sure you had input and you made some suggestions?

         23                 MS. WASHINGTON: Yes. Yes, we did.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And were

         25  they responsive to your suggestions?
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          2                 MS. WASHINGTON: At that period, yes.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And

          4  lately they have not been?

          5                 MS. WASHINGTON: Well, then there was

          6  a period when we didn't hear from them, and we

          7  invited them to come.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you

          9  still monitored the work that they were doing?

         10                 MS. WASHINGTON: No, because we didn't

         11  know what they --

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But you

         13  knew what they were selecting in the buildings?

         14                 MS. WASHINGTON: No, we knew for

         15  rounds one and two we had full involvement, and we

         16  understood what they were doing, we knew the sites,

         17  we knew why those sites we had input into, which

         18  sites first, and when people came with problems

         19  related to those sites, we could address them

         20  because we were in contact with the representatives.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But you

         22  couldn't do that after that?

         23                 MS. WASHINGTON: For rounds three and

         24  four, no.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And did
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          2  you know that they made some mistakes, or something

          3  that went wrong that you think you could have had an

          4  opportunity to rectify?

          5                 MS. WASHINGTON: Well, we know there

          6  were problems because people from different

          7  neighborhood areas where the work was being done are

          8  people who were involved in moving, such as some of

          9  the people here today I guess, came and said that

         10  they had problems. So that is when we know but --

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You think

         12  that had they been with you and worked with you like

         13  they did in the beginning, those problems could have

         14  been resolved?

         15                 MS. WASHINGTON: I think they could

         16  have been resolved or addressed.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So you

         18  think this is very good to do then what you are

         19  doing?

         20                 MS. WASHINGTON: Yes. I think so.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I think

         22  so also. I don't know why they haven't done -- have

         23  they ever given you a reason why they did not

         24  continue the relationship?

         25                 MS. WASHINGTON: No, I think it may
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          2  have been personnel, or changes. They never gave us

          3  a real reason.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is there

          5  any reason to believe they are going to resurrect

          6  that type of a relationship?

          7                 MS. WASHINGTON: Well, we don't know.

          8  We have a letter from them which addresses some of

          9  the concerns that we presented last year, and as I

         10  said, we just received a letter, we will be meeting

         11  with them after we give them a written response. And

         12  we have met with them a couple of times in the last

         13  month, but we have no other reason to.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: They have

         15  not started the task force again?

         16                 MS. WASHINGTON: There was one meeting

         17  of the task force.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Is there

         19  any indication there are going to be future

         20  meetings?

         21                 MS. WASHINGTON: They say there are,

         22  we don't really know.

         23                 And there were questions at the task

         24  force meeting about the structure of the task force,

         25  which were also not resolved.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: We would

          3  like very much to get a copy of your testimony, if

          4  you can give it to us.

          5                 MS. WASHINGTON: Yes.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And also

          7  a copy of the resolution.

          8                 MS. WASHINGTON: Thank you.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay,

         10  thank you very much.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I have a

         12  question.

         13                 Did you hear, or are you aware of the

         14  process that is used when tenants are informed about

         15  the TIL Program?

         16                 MS. WASHINGTON: I heard the

         17  discussion.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The

         19  discussion basically established that someone is

         20  there from HPD representing NEP, someone is there

         21  from the Partnership advocating for NEP and someone

         22  is there, the new entrepreneur is there, obviously

         23  being introduced as the person that will manage the

         24  building and ultimately own it.

         25                 But there is n no one there
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          2  advocating for tenants to get involved in the Tenant

          3  Interim Lease Program. That was basically what was

          4  established. What is your thinking about that?

          5                 MS. WASHINGTON: I think that because

          6  the TIL program is an important program that there

          7  should be someone there to advocate for it, and it

          8  is difficult sometimes to expect the people who are

          9  in charge of an entirely different program to push

         10  the advantages --

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Please,

         12  may we have some silence? We are trying to hear.

         13                 MS. WASHINGTON: Yes, it is difficult

         14  to expect the people who are there to present and to

         15  push their program, it is difficult to expect them

         16  to push another program, so I think that there

         17  should be some, either a neutral person or some

         18  advocate for the TIL Program to explain the

         19  advantages of it and help them with it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The

         21  complaints that came to the board, to your

         22  knowledge, did you receive complaints to that

         23  effect?

         24                 MS. WASHINGTON: We received those

         25  kinds of complaints, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, thank

          3  you very much.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay, any

          5  other questions?

          6                 Mr. Perez is next.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Danny.

          8                 MR. PEREZ: Yes, my name is Daniel

          9  Perez, and I am the Chair of the Land Use, for Land

         10  Use and Housing and lately we have been meeting

         11  together to try to come up with some answers to

         12  this.

         13                 She mentioned everything that we were

         14  supposed to talk about. The only thing that I didn't

         15  hear was that, even if we didn't know about the

         16  round three and round four, we received some

         17  information about the building would turn over

         18  between two groups and one of them was Gregory

         19  Pasquale, and the other one was Jerry Salama. And

         20  the Jerry Salama name seems familiar to me as

         21  somebody in HPD, and I want to find out how the

         22  Jerry Salama was able to get into this program.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I

         24  couldn't give you an answer.

         25                 MR. PEREZ: And I am pretty sure that
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          2  either Partnership or HPD should be able to answer

          3  that to us.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is there

          5  someone from the Partnership or HPD here that can

          6  answer that?

          7                 He is pointing out a conflict of

          8  interest in which Jerry Salama, who works for HPD,

          9  or recently worked for HPD, is now an entrepreneur.

         10  That needs to be cleared up.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If you

         12  have some knowledge on that, let us know. If not,

         13  please look into it and report back to us. I didn't

         14  want to get bogged down with the particular aspects

         15  of it. And we are not accusing anybody of anything,

         16  just that --

         17                 MR. PEREZ: No, I am not accusing

         18  anybody of anything.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Use the mic,

         20  Danny.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Use the

         22  mic, we can't hear you.

         23                 MR. PEREZ: We got to know here when

         24  Debbie Wright was the Commissioner, Jerry J. Salama

         25  was Deputy Commissioner. That is what we are trying
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          2  to find out, how he got involved into this program.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Leave us

          4  the information and give us a copy of that and we

          5  will get back to you and find out what the situation

          6  is.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask a

          8  question related to that however.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr.

         10  Perkins.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I know the

         12  program is, one of the strengths of the program, to

         13  the extent that there are any, is that the

         14  entrepreneur is at least defined as

         15  neighborhood-based entrepreneurs; is Jerry Salama a

         16  member of Community Board 10?

         17                 MR. PEREZ: Not that I know of.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am not

         19  talking about on the board, but does he do business

         20  in --

         21                 MR. PEREZ: Not as far as I know.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

         23                 MS. WASHINGTON: I think that it may

         24  have been an address on the application, it was a

         25  local address.
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          2                 MR. PEREZ: The address that they have

          3  in the round four is 460 West 126th Street.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Which is

          5  the Community Board 10 areas.

          6                 MR. PEREZ: Yes, Community Board 9

          7  area.

          8                 MS. WASHINGTON: The point I think

          9  that this makes is that, initially part of the

         10  process was a discussion, a small group, not an open

         11  group but a discussion of the make-up of the team

         12  prior to selection, so that if we had any comments

         13  we could give those comments before HPD announced

         14  the final --

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well,

         16  that was the criticism that we had, we thought that

         17  it would be more open and there should be more time

         18  and more information so that we can resolve the

         19  differences before things become a fait accompli.

         20                 MS. WASHINGTON: And both three and

         21  four were completed as a fait accompli. And we

         22  actually approved one and two and most of three.

         23                 MR. PEREZ: Right.

         24                 MS. WASHINGTON: We approved most of

         25  three, only one team of three is still in question.
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          2  But we haven't --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Which team is

          4  that, by the way?

          5                 MR. WASHINGTON: It is a team for

          6  149th Street, and it wasn't approved due to some

          7  questions about a memorandum of understanding,

          8  whether it existed or didn't exist with another

          9  group there, and at the same time we presented the

         10  other questions and problems that we had with the

         11  NEP program.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay,

         13  thank you.

         14                 Anything other? Noreen, do you have

         15  testimony?

         16                 MS. CLARK-SMITH: Thank you,

         17  Councilman Perkins and Councilman Michels. I am

         18  representing the home-owners association, West 130th

         19  Street, and our concern has primarily been that

         20  initially when this program was being administered

         21  by Deborah Wright and Commissioner Paoli, you did

         22  not have the problems that we are encountering now

         23  in obtaining accurate information, regrettably.

         24                 However, when it came to the

         25  Community Board in 1996, the presentation that was
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          2  made to the Community Board was not one where we

          3  were aware that X number of dollars from the capital

          4  fund would be included with Home and low-income tax

          5  credit units. And as far as I am concerned,

          6  low-income tax credit units are the same as, you

          7  know, HUD federal monies, what is the difference

          8  between Home, federal monies and low-income tax

          9  credits.

         10                 That notwithstanding, it was our

         11  understanding that the renovation of these

         12  properties under NEP would have, you know, a

         13  mixture, lower income, moderate income, market rate,

         14  because on the real side Harlem cannot survive on

         15  just low income and no income. So we did not say

         16  anything because it would be a mixed use building.

         17                 What we found out was that arbitrary

         18  decisions are made down there at HPD as to how they

         19  are going to go and divide up the low-income tax

         20  credits, the Home and "market rate" apartments.

         21                 On 130th Street, which is primarily a

         22  Brownstone block, and few people know it is a

         23  landmarked district, known as the Lafayette Historic

         24  District, they took --

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Which
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          2  street is that?

          3                 MS. CLARK-SMITH: West 130th Street,

          4  between Lenox and Adam Clayton Powell Boulevard.

          5                 An anchor building on Adam Clayton

          6  Powell Boulevard, the entire building was designated

          7  as all Home. We had initially assumed that, you

          8  know, you would have a mixture, so you could have

          9  mixed income throughout the entire building.

         10                 That notwithstanding, we also found

         11  out that prior to transferring the buildings over to

         12  a local entrepreneur and of course the local

         13  entrepreneur was not local, he was from the Bronx,

         14  that notwithstanding --

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In other

         16  words, he wasn't local.

         17                 MS. CLARK-SMITH: No, he wasn't local.

         18  He was from the Bronx.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Was he an

         20  entrepreneur?

         21                 MS. CLARK-SMITH: Yes, he was an

         22  entrepreneur, but he wasn't a local entrepreneur.

         23                 But that notwithstanding, it was a

         24  situation wherein so many odd things were happening.

         25  We were concerned as to why HPD in fact had not
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          2  evicted some of the drug activity that was going on

          3  in many of these buildings prior to turning them

          4  over to a local entrepreneur, whether he is from the

          5  Bronx, Manhattan or Brooklyn. It matters not.

          6  Because these are City-owned buildings where this

          7  type of activity has been taking place for eons, but

          8  yet they give it to our entrepreneurs and we say,

          9  excuse me, when the HPD building was -- that program

         10  was in effect, the buildings were vacant, the

         11  commercials were vacant, and they received the

         12  buildings for one dollar.

         13                 Hello. You come up and you introduce

         14  a program for people of color. You give them

         15  buildings where there are nothing but problems,

         16  problems and more problems. Interesting of how City

         17  government does business here in New York.

         18                 Those that had commercial properties

         19  in them, they had a month-to-month lease. A

         20  month-to-month lease is 30 days. Then all of a

         21  sudden they say Home money states that you must pay

         22  a maximum of $20,000 for a commercial to go and move

         23  to another location.

         24                 How can you have a month-to-month

         25  lease and suddenly you become a permanent business?
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          2  And these are the contradictions that delay

          3  renovation, does not help the program, it does not

          4  make any sense. Then the entrepreneur must assume

          5  the cost of going to court because HPD's legal

          6  department has not evicted people who are

          7  trafficking drugs.

          8                 In addition to that, we feel as

          9  though this combination of monies, Councilman

         10  Michels, has to really be addressed, because how

         11  they are using the Home, low-income tax credit

         12  money, vis-a-vis the inclusion of the capital funds,

         13  leaves much to be desired. Now, we have met with Mr.

         14  John Warren, who is the Assistant Commissioner who

         15  is running this program --

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: He

         17  testified this morning.

         18                 MS. CLARK-SMITH: Oh, he did? I missed

         19  him. Okay.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I just

         21  wanted to let you know.

         22                 MS. CLARK-SMITH: That notwithstanding

         23  --

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: He was

         25  the leading witness.
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          2                 MS. CLARK-SMITH: Talking to him is

          3  like talking to the wall because he hears you and he

          4  doesn't hear you. He hears you and he does not hear

          5  you. And we get to the point, regrettably, where you

          6  have to say are we still dealing in this time frame

          7  where you know anything a black person says, a white

          8  person doesn't have to hear. That is just how bad it

          9  is with that Department, that particular Department.

         10                 While we hear a lot of the people are

         11  talking about TIL TIL TIL, let's opt out in TIL TIL,

         12  during NEP 1, 18 buildings were transferred over to

         13  TIL, that were identified by the 28th Precinct,

         14  including the Narcotics Division of HPD, as being 99

         15  percent drug-related, but however, they were

         16  transferred. Now that was the area that took in the

         17  Mount Morris Park Historic District.

         18                 So, you know, it is not like I just

         19  have my problems with Mr. John Warren, or you know,

         20  the Association has their problems with John Warren,

         21  it is what is wrong with this other staff that was

         22  in HPD, that would even think that would be

         23  appropriate to do that in a landmarked district. And

         24  I think at that time that person was who was in

         25  charge of the TIL program, who has now been promoted
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          2  to a Deputy Commissioner, is Geraldine Perine, and

          3  it is amazing how the damage that is done in

          4  neighborhoods of color, you get rewarded, you get,

          5  you know, bucked up, you go up the ladder.

          6                 Now, if we -- I am glad that you and

          7  Mr. Perkins and Mr. Jackson and the other people

          8  from Brooklyn and the Bronx are addressing this

          9  problem. They have already in round three and four,

         10  even though you all have not approved it, believe me

         11  when you look at the number of buildings here, they

         12  are in there, they are working, it is like I don't

         13  care whether you approve it or not, we are moving

         14  ahead and so have your meeting. That is the attitude

         15  that is in existence right now.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: That is

         17  why we had this hearing, and we are very glad to

         18  hear you and listen to you and have you expound on

         19  the reasons why they should be listening to you. And

         20  I think you have certainly made your case.

         21                 Is there anything else?

         22                 MS. CLARK-SMITH: Just one last thing.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I guess

         24  you could go on and on.

         25                 MS. CLARK-SMITH: I was very
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          2  distressed when I saw this building in the paper.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So was I.

          4                 MS. CLARK-SMITH: Yes.

          5                 You tell me, who is doing the

          6  selection of these properties for these programs?

          7                 Why would you take these gorgeous

          8  buildings, and it is true that Harlem does have some

          9  nice housing stock, that type of building should

         10  have been either designated for HDFC, you know,

         11  renovations or go to the state and get some HFA

         12  money, but how do you take these gorgeous buildings

         13  on Fifth Avenue and in other locations in Harlem and

         14  turn it over to NEP and cut them up into little tiny

         15  apartments? That is criminal. That is criminal. And

         16  it only happens, to my knowledge, in Harlem, maybe

         17  it is happening in Brooklyn and the Bronx also.

         18                 I felt very bad when I saw this. She

         19  is a senior citizen, I am a senior citizen. I

         20  wouldn't like anyone doing this to me either. And

         21  these are the concerns that as home-owners and

         22  long-time residents, you know, I am City born, City

         23  bred, I have been here since, you know, I have seen

         24  happen here in Harlem, when I was living in

         25  Washington Heights way back where then, these things
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          2  weren't happening.

          3                 Now, you know and I know the Mayor

          4  wants to go ahead and dispose of City-owned

          5  properties. That is a given, he would like to go and

          6  see it completed by at least the Year 2000. But this

          7  message is not the correct message in which to

          8  dispose of City-owned property.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank you

         10  very much. I really appreciate you being here.

         11                 Mr. Leroy W. Morrison, of Lemor

         12  Realty Corp., together with Vernie Thompson, Louis

         13  M. Williams, and Kenneth Morrison. And Ida Neal.

         14                 Vernie Thompson is not here. Kenneth

         15  is here. Oh, both of you.

         16                 MR. MORRISON: (Not identified for the

         17  record) Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you also want

         19  to have with you the other people from your -- Ida

         20  Neal and Louis Williams?

         21                 MR. MORRISON: Yes, they can.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. Do

         23  you want to have with you the other people, Ida Neal

         24  and Louis Williams?

         25                 MR. MORRISON: Yes, they can come.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. We

          3  are going to have to start to limit our testimony

          4  timewise because of the fact that we have so many

          5  people. Hopefully you can complete your testimony

          6  within a three-minute period?

          7                 MR. MORRISON: Well, I can. I don't

          8  have any written testimony.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay. Try

         10  and hit the highlights. A lot of things have been

         11  said, and so try to give us something new.

         12                 MR. MORRISON: I will try to give you

         13  something new.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And we

         15  will give you all the time.

         16                 MR. MORRISON: I just want to clear up

         17  one thing that was said throughout the testimony

         18  today.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Sure.

         20                 MR. MORRISON: When we were selected

         21  as entrepreneurs, we were not presented to the

         22  buildings when the buildings were selected. We had

         23  to wait 90 days before they would send us and

         24  present us to the residents, and that was the 90

         25  days for the TIL Opt Program, so we were no
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          2  presented --

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You were

          4  selected with a group of entrepreneurs?

          5                 MR. MORRISON: Right.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you

          7  were not given an individual building yet.

          8                 So, in other words, did you know what

          9  buildings -- you applied to certain buildings,

         10  didn't you?

         11                 MR. MORRISON: No, you don't apply.

         12  They allocate the buildings.

         13                 But what I am trying to say is that

         14  --

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: But you

         16  knew which building you would be an entrepreneur of?

         17                 MR. MORRISON: At the time, but we

         18  couldn't go into those buildings until after the 90

         19  days.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In other

         21  words, you were selected as an entrepreneur, you

         22  were then -- and you made an application to a

         23  certain building to be an entrepreneur of?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: No. They are

         25  saying that he did not meet the tenants of the
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          2  buildings until after the 90-day period; am I

          3  correct?

          4                 MR. MORRISON: That's correct. Because

          5  it was said before to the tenants who were

          6  introduced to the entrepreneur at the time they were

          7  told that the building was going into the NEP

          8  program, the entrepreneur was not introduced to them

          9  at that time.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Not

         11  introduced, but you knew the building that you

         12  eventually were going to get?

         13                 MR. MORRISON: Yes, but we were not

         14  supposed to go in there.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         16  During that 90-day period you were not presented to

         17  them?

         18                 MR. MORRISON: Right. And we were not

         19  supposed to go into the buildings also.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: When was

         21  this done? Is it a change of procedure? Now they do

         22  it differently, or what is the story?

         23                 MR. MORRISON: This was always the

         24  case.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: The

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            154

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  testimony we received from HPD is inaccurate as far

          3  as you are concerned?

          4                 MR. MORRISON: I just wanted to clear

          5  that up. I think there were some inaccuracies.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Quite

          7  inaccurate.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The

          9  interesting thing --

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Please,

         11  Bill.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The

         13  interesting thing, Mr. Chairman, is that it is an

         14  inaccuracy that is represented not only by HPD but

         15  also with representatives --

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: In other

         17  words, as Mr. Perkins is saying, the testimony we

         18  heard today was by both the Partnership and by HPD,

         19  to the effect that at the time the 90-day period

         20  starts, the entrepreneur is introduced, and you are

         21  saying that is not true?

         22                 MR. MORRISON: I don't think any of

         23  them said that. I think that you all had said it on

         24  that part.

         25                 But I just wanted to clear that up
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          2  and I can move forward.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay,

          4  continue.

          5                 MR. MORRISON: Okay. Good afternoon.

          6  My name is Leroy Morrison, I am an entrepreneur in

          7  round one, and I have been selected for round three.

          8  We are the entrepreneurs, we did development on West

          9  140th Street, between Seventh and Eighth, Adam

         10  Clayton Powell and Frederick Douglas, and we have

         11  successfully completed that portion. I want to

         12  interrupt, Kenneth wanted to go first so I am going

         13  to let him.

         14                 MR. K. MORRISON: I just wanted to

         15  discuss some of the broad issues about the NEP

         16  program.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Did you

         18  state your name when you spoke?

         19                 MR. K. MORRISON: Kenneth Morrison, I

         20  am the Vice President of Lamor Realty.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank

         22  you.

         23                 MR. K. MORRISON: And one of the

         24  issues I wanted to talk about is, when we did our

         25  rentals of our apartments, we had 54 vacant
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          2  apartments, we received over 1,000 applications.

          3  There is clearly a need for housing in the Harlem

          4  community. Most of the applicants came from the

          5  Harlem community and other areas of the South Bronx

          6  and Brooklyn. I think that is very important to talk

          7  about.

          8                 I know there are many issues that

          9  need to be clarified and a lot of issues that need

         10  to be worked on, but I also wanted to discuss these

         11  broad issues because the housing is needed here.

         12                 Also, it was mentioned that there are

         13  over 100 units per cluster. I think the idea is that

         14  with a cluster development you are building

         15  neighborhoods, you are not only renovating buildings

         16  but you are building entire neighborhoods. In our

         17  case on 140th Street there were over approximately

         18  ten buildings renovated at that time, bringing in

         19  new families into the community which enhances the

         20  services that are brought into the community also.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Some are

         22  occupied buildings and some are abandoned buildings?

         23                 MR. K. MORRISON: Right, we have

         24  vacant buildings and then there is occupied

         25  buildings also.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Anything

          3  else?

          4                 MR. K. MORRISON: Well --

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Tell us

          6  about the program. Are you satisfied with the

          7  program?

          8                 MR. K. MORRISON: Well, of course. We

          9  are the entrepreneurs, we are happy to be in the

         10  program. I was born in Harlem, raised in Harlem,

         11  spent my young adult years in Harlem, and I have

         12  seen these buildings sit there through the sixties

         13  and seventies up until now. And I am glad to be a

         14  part of bringing Harlem up, building, creating

         15  homes, and units for individuals. We are real estate

         16  brokers. On a daily basis five, ten people come to

         17  us looking for units.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You

         19  weren't developers? This is actually the first time

         20  you have been involved with development?

         21                 MR. K. MORRISON: Well, this is the

         22  first time we have been involved in development of

         23  this type. We used to be 7-A -- we still are 7-A

         24  administrators. We own property.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well,
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          2  that is not development.

          3                 MR. K. MORRISON: We own property.

          4  Well, it is not development, but we did systems --

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Right, I

          6  understand.

          7                 MR. K. MORRISON: We did systems in

          8  buildings. We did a lot of rehab, but not to the

          9  magnitude of the gut rehab that we are doing now.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And are

         11  your buildings all completed now?

         12                 MR. K. MORRISON: In round one they

         13  are.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How many

         15  buildings and how many units?

         16                 MR. K. MORRISON: A hundred and --

         17                 MR. MORRISON: One-hundred five units

         18  in four buildings.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you

         20  are complete, the tenants are all moved in?

         21                 MR. K. MORRISON: Not all of the

         22  tenants are moved in. We are just finishing a second

         23  phase.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: How many

         25  buildings are occupied, fully occupied with tenants
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          2  moving in?

          3                 MR. K. MORRISON: Three fully occupied

          4  and then we have one partially occupied.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And how

          6  many more buildings do you have to go?

          7                 MR. MORRISON: For round one that's

          8  it. And round three, there are ten buildings all

          9  together in round three.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And you

         11  believe the procedures set up by HPD and the

         12  Partnership are satisfactory to you?

         13                 MR. MORRISON: Sure. I hear a lot of

         14  issues being talked about today and I think they

         15  need to be worked on.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Such as?

         17                 MR. MORRISON: Well, the notification

         18  of the community board or the Councilpersons, I

         19  think that is very important. We want them to play a

         20  part in what is going on also.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you

         22  agree with your son?

         23                 MR. MORRISON: Yes, I do.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         25                 Let me ask you this: You have tenants
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          2  in these buildings occupied, what is your

          3  relationship with your tenants?

          4                 MR. K. MORRISON: Well, we think it is

          5  great. I mean, we can't --

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Are they

          7  paying the rent?

          8                 MR. MORRISON: We brought a few

          9  tenants down and I think they are happy because they

         10  came down, and I don't think you can make each and

         11  every tenant happy.

         12                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:

         13  Not all of us here are happy.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You just

         15  had a dissent.

         16                 MR. MORRISON: Okay, but my dissent,

         17  this is a round three person, okay? We haven't done

         18  any renovations yet.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Now, have

         20  you --

         21                 MR. MORRISON: So, I don't expect them

         22  to be happy. At this point.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: All

         24  right.

         25                 Mr. Perkins.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It's good to

          3  see you this afternoon, and I appreciate you have

          4  come to share with us your success and hopefully to

          5  share with us some of the shortcomings of the

          6  program that you have alluded to just now, but maybe

          7  there are some other shortcomings of the program

          8  that you can share with us from the perspective of

          9  an entrepreneur that might be better for the tenants

         10  without necessarily being at a problem for the

         11  entrepreneur.

         12                 MR. K. MORRISON: I think one of the

         13  issues that was talked about by the Partnership was

         14  the handbook that is being prepared now. I think it

         15  is very important that these tenants have the

         16  handbooks and know what our rights and what we are

         17  supposed to be doing and know what their rights are.

         18  I think it is important that they should know what

         19  is going on at all times.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: On that

         21  subject, you know, the rules that apply don't exist

         22  either, apparently according to Commissioner Warren

         23  from HPD. I believe Councilman Michels asked him, or

         24  no, Spigner asked him about the rule book and there

         25  are no rules, which I think accounts for the fact
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          2  that the Commissioner pointed out that you meet with

          3  the tenants at the period when his staff is meeting

          4  with the tenants to discuss the NEP program and

          5  slightly the TIL program.

          6                 Do you find the absence of rules a

          7  problem for you?

          8                 MR. MORRISON: I don't say there are

          9  rules outlines, but the tenants were notified of the

         10  program, in letters sent to them individually, and

         11  it had the program outlined on these extensive

         12  letters.

         13                 We met with the tenants several times

         14  to try to address every issue that they might have

         15  had.

         16                 We visit the tenants on an individual

         17  basis after these meetings. We also ask them, do you

         18  understand the program? We went and knocked in each

         19  and every door and they would call us, we met two or

         20  three times, we had one or two meetings in the hall

         21  going over all the issues. We had elected officials

         22  there, we had the District Leader there, Keith

         23  Wright was there, and the District Leader was at all

         24  of our meetings. We had our not-for-profit

         25  organizations.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: This is for

          3  round one?

          4                 MR. MORRISON: Round three.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You said

          6  round three?

          7                 MR. MORRISON: The same building that

          8  this tenant is involved with.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What building

         10  is that?

         11                 MR. MORRISON: She lives in 143 West

         12  140th Street.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         14                 MR. MORRISON: The unhappy tenant.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: At what

         16  point did this occur? At what point within the 90

         17  days --

         18                 MR. MORRISON: Right after the 90 days

         19  we were told --

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: After the

         21  expiration of the 90 days?

         22                 MR. MORRISON: After the expiration of

         23  the 90 days we were told we had to have a meeting

         24  with the tenants and that is when the meetings

         25  start.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: And the

          3  tenants knew of your existence, but had never met

          4  with you during that 90 days?

          5                 MR. MORRISON: I am not sure if they

          6  told the tenants who we were or they introduced us

          7  at that time.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Who is

          9  managing the building during this 90-day period?

         10                 MR. MORRISON: HPD.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And when did

         12  you assume management responsibility?

         13                 MR. MORRISON: We took over management

         14  on June 1st.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, at the

         16  end of 90 days, is that when you take over

         17  management?

         18                 MR. MORRISON: This started some time

         19  maybe in January or February, and then we had a date

         20  to take over.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So the 90-day

         22  period was January through March?

         23                 MR. MORRISON: Well, it might have

         24  been more than 90 days.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So there is a
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          2  90-day period in which HPD is still managing?

          3                 MR. MORRISON: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And then some

          5  time after that period you assumed management of the

          6  property.

          7                 MR. MORRISON: That's correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It is not

          9  necessarily right at that 90-day period.

         10                 MR. MORRISON: No. In this case, no.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, how

         12  many months between HPD's 90-day period and when you

         13  came in the picture?

         14                 MR. MORRISON: I would say we were

         15  told of our selections some time in January, I can't

         16  remember the date. I don't know when they started

         17  the 90-day period, but I know the 90-day period

         18  elapsed, and then there was some more time that

         19  elapsed before they did the transfer of the

         20  property, from HPD to the Partnership.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you have

         22  other properties that you manage, your own?

         23                 MR. MORRISON: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And you have

         25  violations on those properties?
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          2                 MR. MORRISON: Well, basically the

          3  only violations that we have are in the new, the

          4  round three buildings.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But those are

          6  not your buildings.

          7                 MR. MORRISON: Well, we are managing,

          8  we are responsible. We manage other --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How many

         10  properties do you actually own? Other than the NEP

         11  property?

         12                 MR. MORRISON: I own one property,

         13  okay? I have no violations.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Good. I am

         15  glad to hear that. I wanted to make sure that is on

         16  the record, in case have suspicions otherwise.

         17                 So, in terms of -- what other

         18  improvements would you see for this program?

         19                 MR. MORRISON: Well, I did make a

         20  recommendation at a task force meeting that the

         21  tenants would be informed of the building going into

         22  the program a little earlier than they have been.

         23  Give them some idea.

         24                 I am not talking in regards to TIL,

         25  but to prepare them for the NEP program.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Better

          3  preparation? How would that happen, for instance?

          4                 MR. MORRISON: Well, say instead of

          5  three months, give them six months. This is my

          6  recommendation and it is on record.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So for you

          8  that six months wouldn't simply be -- would that six

          9  months still allow them time to get into TIL?

         10                 MR. MORRISON: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. To give

         12  them a six-month TIL option.

         13                 MR. MORRISON: Well, I am not talking

         14  to TIL now. I don't advocate for TIL, I am not HPD.

         15  I am saying for NEP, to let them know, give them

         16  some advance notice that this building is going into

         17  NEP irregardless of what they want to do with it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What is your

         19  experience with the community-based groups? How are

         20  they helpful or not?

         21                 MR. MORRISON: They are helpful

         22  because they attend the meetings, they do the

         23  surveys, they keep the confidentiality of the

         24  surveys, they are really the liaisons between the

         25  tenants and the owner, or the manager, and we tell
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          2  them that.

          3                 If they have a problem with the

          4  manager, we tell them ourselves, you go to the

          5  community base, you go to our non-for-profit, and

          6  this is what they are being paid for and this is

          7  their job.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Tenants

          9  complain that that is not the truth, from their

         10  experience; have you heard that complaint?

         11                 MR. MORRISON: No.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, I am not

         13  simply talking about the ones that are happening on

         14  140th Street.

         15                 MR. MORRISON: Oh, I don't know.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: We are

         17  talking about the ones --

         18                 MR. MORRISON: I can only tell you

         19  what is happening --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: On other

         21  properties, if tenants complain to you that they are

         22  not being helped by the community-based group.

         23                 MR. MORRISON: In round one? Because

         24  that is the only one that we have community-based

         25  groups, in round one and round three.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, in

          3  round three, or one, whichever. You have not heard

          4  any complaints about --

          5                 MR. MORRISON: They never came to me.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          7                 MR. MORRISON: And we specifically

          8  tell them and we bring our community-based

          9  organizers with us and say this is the person you

         10  talk to, he is the liaison between you and I.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         12  very much.

         13                 Maybe if you stick around you might

         14  hear some of those complaints.

         15                 MR. MORRISON: Okay.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Two

         17  questions that you can answer yes or no.

         18                 Number one, when you took over the

         19  building and started running the building, had title

         20  passed or not?

         21                 MR. MORRISON: No.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: No.

         23                 How long after you took possession of

         24  the building and started running it that the title

         25  --
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          2                 MR. MORRISON: The title has not

          3  passed yet.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Did the

          5  buildings you own -- none of the buildings?

          6                 MR. MORRISON: The buildings that we

          7  own in round one --

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: I am

          9  talking about round one.

         10                 MR. MORRISON: Okay.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You said

         12  you came in after the 90 days and started running

         13  the building.

         14                 MR. MORRISON: The title did not pass.

         15  The buildings were leased to the New York City

         16  Housing Partnership. They were the leasee/owner

         17  until the project was completed.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You

         19  completed some of the projects.

         20                 MR. MORRISON: We completed it and

         21  after about two years the title passed to us.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: So you

         23  have some buildings where the title has passed?

         24                 MR. MORRISON: Right. It took about,

         25  it was passed in 1997.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You spoke

          3  about these letters that went to the tenants

          4  informing them of the fact that they are being

          5  considered for the NEP program, right?

          6                 MR. MORRISON: Right.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Do you

          8  know, have you seen those letters?

          9                 MR. MORRISON: Yes.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Did those

         11  letters have anything in them telling them they have

         12  an option of 90 days to go into the TIL program?

         13                 MR. MORRISON: Yes.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Okay.

         15                 Thank you very much. I appreciate you

         16  being here. Thank you very much.

         17                 Ms. Terjos. Juliana.

         18                 How do you pronounce your first name?

         19                 MS. TERJOS: I am Juliana Terjos.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Oh, that

         21  is your first name.

         22                 MS. TERJOS: I am from 143-49 140th

         23  Street. I am one of the tenants that is very much

         24  unhappy with Mr. Morrison, Maxwell Real Estate.

         25                 The reason I am very unhappy, he
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          2  knows all about it. July, they sent us a letter in

          3  June --

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Talk into

          5  the microphone, please.

          6                 MS. TERJOS: Nobody, nobody that I

          7  know of from NEP or some representatives have shown

          8  us this NEP, how it works. But we do know what they

          9  tell us about NEP, right?

         10                 We have never seen NEP on our

         11  premises up until today. Mr. Morrison and Son, the

         12  two gentlemen, they come to the premises in the

         13  morning, and they stand outside, they don't come in

         14  the building. They don't come in the building

         15  because we have drugs galore in our building. We

         16  have no front doors, they are not locked, up until

         17  yesterday we did not have elevator workers. We have

         18  to walk down, we have to walk up, the steps are so

         19  raggedy you are afraid to walk up or down. When you

         20  do come up the building in the lobby, you are afraid

         21  because you might have to duck from police or drug

         22  users, drug buyers and drug sellers.

         23                 We don't have any doors, no locked

         24  doors. Mr. Morrison states that he cannot lock the

         25  door, because they will be broken again.
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          2                 But if you put good doors on there,

          3  with our rent money, at least they would stay there

          4  for awhile, right?

          5                 When you get up in the morning, the

          6  building is open house, Mr. Morrison knows that, the

          7  super knows that, anything anybody, name it, it is

          8  in the building. Cigars, where they use drugs,

          9  condoms, beer cans, name it, it's there. We have one

         10  half of that building is senior citizens, I am one

         11  myself. One half is senior citizens. Old people that

         12  probably were raised there. One-fourth is SSI

         13  people, people that have a fixed income. Maybe the

         14  other fourth is working people. The days that we got

         15  the letter stating that Morrison was taking over the

         16  building, out rent went up.

         17                 What I want to know, Mr. Perkins, or

         18  whoever, is it fair for a person to take over a

         19  building and the first month the rent goes up to $55

         20  per room, $27 for a bathroom?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What do you

         22  mean $27 for a bathroom?

         23                 MS. TERJOS: They charged us, NEP and

         24  Mr. Morrison is charging us $55 per room, $27 for a

         25  bathroom.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            174

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: What is

          3  your total rent?

          4                 MS. TERJOS: That means we have to pay

          5  $357 per month, most of the people are senior

          6  citizens and fixed income.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, it

          8  would seem to me that if you have senior citizens

          9  rent increase exemption --

         10                 MS. TERJOS: We don't have a lease.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: No, let

         12  me explain something to you. You are entitled, you

         13  should have a Senior Citizens Rent Increase

         14  Exemption.

         15                 MS. TERJOS: Mr. Morrison won't give

         16  it to us.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well --

         18                 MS. TERJOS: No kind of papers.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Well, we

         20  have to straighten this out.

         21                 MS. TERJOS: We have no kind of

         22  papers.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: If you

         24  have the exemption, you are not getting any kind of

         25  rent increases. I am talking about the senior
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          2  citizens.

          3                 MS. TERJOS: You don't get it --

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: You have

          5  to qualify, and I believe you probably will qualify.

          6                 MS. TERJOS: We filled out the exempt

          7  papers for senior citizens.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What is the

          9  community-based organization that is supposed to be

         10  working with your building?

         11                 MS. TERJOS: Well, I belong to this

         12  organization. I have gone --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: No, no. I am

         14  not talking about ACE. There is a group that has a

         15  contract to be working with that building.

         16                 MS. TERJOS: HCCI is the ones that are

         17  supposed to be helping us, helping Morrison. But

         18  they only come to harass you. Who comes to your door

         19  at 9:00 at night to ask you for your Social Security

         20  Number? And you don't even know the people. Nine

         21  o'clock.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 MS. TERJOS: Whoever in CCI, they work

         25  with Morrison.
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          2                 I want to know two things before I

          3  go: Are you allowed to raise a person's rent and

          4  haven't done anything in the building?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, it may

          6  be an aspect of the program that we will have to

          7  correct.

          8                 One of the problems, one of the

          9  purposes of this hearing is to find out some of the

         10  shortcomings of the program, such as those that you

         11  may bringing to our attention --

         12                 MS. TERJOS: Okay.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:-- So that we

         14  can avoid them as the programs continue.

         15                 MS. TERJOS: If you have raised the

         16  rent, if you had raised our rent, isn't it proper

         17  that you give us some kind of lease or something to

         18  show that you are taking our money, and that we are

         19  tenants?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You don't get

         21  a rent receipt?

         22                 MS. TERJOS: Your money order. Your

         23  own money order. Your stub of the money order.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Mr. Morrison,

         25  if you want, you can sit over here.
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          2                 MS. TERJOS: He can sit right here

          3  beside me.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: No, no. Not

          5  there. Just so you are near in case --

          6                 Thank you very much. The next person

          7  sitting with you --

          8                 MS. TERJOS: Okay, but the next thing

          9  I want to know, why is it, we are senior citizens,

         10  we try to put in for the subsidized senior citizen

         11  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Rent

         13  exemption.

         14                 MS. TERJOS: Yes. Okay. He don't give

         15  us any kind of paper. Why is it, he is taking our

         16  rent, he has been taking our rent for eight months

         17  already, what happened to the paper that he is

         18  supposed to give us so we can get some help?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It would

         20  seem, based on what the Commissioner shared with us,

         21  that there is --

         22                 MS. TERJOS: You are supposed to give

         23  out some kind of paper.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: There is a

         25  community group that has to respond to that.
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          2                 Let us hear from the sister sitting

          3  next to you.

          4                 MS. RANKIN: Hello. My name is Anita

          5  Rankin.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You have to

          7  sit up towards the mic.

          8                 MS. RANKIN: My name is Anita Rankin.

          9  I live at 149 West 140th Street. Mr. Morrison has

         10  come to us to talk in reference to whatever, to

         11  discuss little things with the building, but it has

         12  been a year, he told us he would start leaving it

         13  vacant in March, here it is April, he hasn't came

         14  (sic) back to hold a meeting with us to discuss

         15  anything with us. And it is just, you know, now they

         16  are saying we are in team three, team three program

         17  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Round three.

         19                 MS. RANKIN: Okay, then when would he

         20  let us come, when would he come and tell us this? If

         21  he hadn't came (sic) down here today I probably

         22  wouldn't have known nothing, you know, and it is not

         23  fair. They increased our rent before they even did

         24  anything and that is the main concern that we have

         25  in that building.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            179

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, there

          3  is a communication concern about the program that

          4  seems to be at issue.

          5                 Let me just ask you, were you made

          6  aware of the TIL program?

          7                 MS. RANKIN: No. They gave us a paper,

          8  they sent us a paper in the mail. Nobody had came

          9  (sic) to the building to give a meeting and records

         10  to tell you this is how it will work and this is how

         11  the NEP program works. They gave us the 30-day

         12  notice or whatever, we didn't know nothing about it.

         13  So we didn't have the option to go into TIL or

         14  anything. They just shoved us into the NEP program

         15  and now --

         16                 MS. TERJOS: And raised our rent.

         17                 MS. RANKIN: We don't know anything.

         18  We know that we are in this NEP program and that

         19  they are supposed to be rehabilitating the building

         20  and all of that, but when?

         21                 You do the rent, then now you decide

         22  that we have to still wait? Come on. My grandmother

         23  is 90 years old. She is not going to be wanting to

         24  move out of the building, she lives on the first

         25  floor, now she is going to have to be all
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          2  disarrayed? Come on, it's not right. Then they talk

          3  about you might not come back to your apartment?

          4  Come on, how is that? They are not considerate about

          5  anything. The happy people? Oh, yeah, they are happy

          6  campers because their building and apartment is

          7  done, now here we are down the block they are always

          8  talking about Seventh and Eighth Avenue.

          9                 MS. TERJOS: But it was done with our

         10  rent money.

         11                 MS. RANKIN: The Seventh and Eighth

         12  Avenue was where the buildings are just as beautiful

         13  across the street from the Post Office, of course.

         14  But if we are going to be in a program, then we want

         15  our building to look like that too, but don't take

         16  our money and do another building and now you get

         17  another building and it keeps going on and on. It's

         18  not fair. My family and my grandmother and about

         19  seven people is about the oldest tenants in that

         20  building. I have seen that building much better than

         21  what it is. We don't have a super on premises. We

         22  barely have heat and hot water at night. In the

         23  morning then the heat and hot water comes up, and I

         24  know Mr. Morrison has had complaints. I know he has,

         25  because I know my grandmother has called. I know she
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          2  called downtown. So, all that he is saying that we

          3  know this and we know that, we didn't know anything.

          4  If we don't call a meeting with him, or we don't get

          5  in touch with Kenneth Wright, Mr. Keith Wright, then

          6  we wouldn't have known nothing. The two meetings

          7  that we have had, one in 149 and one across the

          8  street, 139 West 140th Street.

          9                 MS. TERJOS: We called that meeting.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         11  very much.

         12                 The gentleman sitting next to you,

         13  please identify yourself. And move the mic towards

         14  you.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MR. RICHARDSON: Good afternoon. I am

         17  Donald E. Richardson. I am a member of Acting for

         18  Community Empowerment.

         19                 My family and I moved to 129th Street

         20  in June of 1966. My mother, Mrs. Josephine

         21  Richardson, has worked all of her adult life. Now,

         22  some 33 years later at this address we have been

         23  somewhat forced to relocate to 14 West 127th Street,

         24  Apartment 21, as of March 31st.

         25                 At 74 years old, my mother is in the
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          2  twilight of her years. He enjoys going to church

          3  every Sunday in her senior class, tending to her

          4  plants and watching TV in the evening. Now all of

          5  this has changed.

          6                 The stress of moving has caused her

          7  to have a heart attack last week. You can hear the

          8  sound of pain in my mother's voice, in her room to

          9  see her sitting on the side of the bed, and the fear

         10  and pain in her face - I feel helpless. I do nothing

         11  for her.

         12                 My sister Joanne came to my bedroom

         13  crying. She dialed 9-1-1 stating that my mother is

         14  having a heart attack. That was last week, now she

         15  is home. Thank God.

         16                 This stress has taken its toll on

         17  everyone. I found some 14 violations in my

         18  apartment. I gave this information to my sister and

         19  she informed Mr. Gregory Pasquale of this. There was

         20  no hot water for three days, likewise in the

         21  bathroom, the hallway, the living room and my

         22  mother's bedroom - why? The kitchen sink, it needs

         23  work also.

         24                 These repairs should have been done

         25  long before we moved in, right or wrong? Good
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          2  plumbing, an intercom that works, usable mailboxes,

          3  cracks in the ceiling, the kitchen and the hallway.

          4  It is my wish that a halt be made to the NEP

          5  program, that this will allow you to look into this

          6  matter more fully, to maintain and set aside more

          7  housing for low income families, and to investigate

          8  the Mayor's, Administration's use of low-income

          9  housing credits to develop homes for the wealthy.

         10                 My mother had interviews by a number

         11  of people, such as the Village Voice, Channel 7,

         12  Eyewitness News. If these news agencies can look

         13  into this matter, can you not?

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         16                 Were you made aware of the TIL

         17  program when you first were introduced to the NEP

         18  program?

         19                 MR. RICHARDSON: No, I was not.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I can't hear

         21  you, sir.

         22                 MR. RICHARDSON: No, I was not.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: When you were

         24  introduced to the NEP program, you were at what

         25  building?
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          2                 MR. RICHARDSON: 35 West 129,

          3  Apartment 7.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And someone

          5  from -- who was there when you were first introduced

          6  to NEP?

          7                 MR. RICHARDSON: I'm --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you

          9  recall?

         10                 MR. RICHARDSON: No, I do not.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Did you know

         12  someone from HPD was there?

         13                 MR. RICHARDSON: At that time I wasn't

         14  staying with my mother.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. I

         16  understand. I appreciate that.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 Now you are at 14 West 127th Street,

         19  which is the temporary location?

         20                 MR. RICHARDSON: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And I know

         22  there were some problems with that location earlier

         23  in the week. Have those problems been addressed at

         24  all?

         25                 MR. RICHARDSON: They have been.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And have you

          3  been told how long you will be staying there?

          4                 MR. RICHARDSON: Anywhere from a year

          5  to 18 months.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Thank

          7  you very much.

          8                 MR. RICHARDSON: Thank you.

          9                 MR. TERJOS: One more question.

         10                 Is it because they are going to

         11  renovate us or going to fix the building, is it

         12  proper for NEP, Mr. Morrison and HCCI, everybody

         13  wants your Social Security Number, your birth

         14  certificate.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are you

         16  saying that you gave that number to --

         17                 MR. TERJOS: I didn't give it to

         18  anybody.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh, you

         20  didn't give it to anybody. You are saying that you

         21  have been asked for your Social Security Number by

         22  all of those entities?

         23                 MR. TERJOS: And I don't think that

         24  you are supposed to give three different people that

         25  you never knew or ever heard of your personal
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          2  numbers.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, thank

          4  you very much. Thank you.

          5                 Mr. Morrison, do you mind coming

          6  back?

          7                 MR. MORRISON: Certainly.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I don't want

          9  to put you on the hot spot, I just want to clarify a

         10  few things.

         11                 Mr. Morrison, I just want to clarify

         12  something. Folks, we are not going to entertain

         13  questions or comments from the audience. This is the

         14  process, it is right here. So when you are called

         15  up, you will be able to speak.

         16                 Mr. Morrison, I just want to

         17  understand, HCCI is the community-based group that

         18  is supposed to work with the building?

         19                 MR. MORRISON: That is correct. That

         20  is my non-for-profit partner.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Your

         22  non-for-profit partner. And are they the group that

         23  seeks out the information, like the Social Security

         24  Number?

         25                 MR. MORRISON: That is correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And I guess

          3  you heard that they are coming in for that

          4  information in the evening?

          5                 MR. MORRISON: What we did, at the

          6  beginning they came around for about three or four

          7  days. They came in for about three or four days,

          8  they couldn't get any information. We sent them

          9  letters stating when they will be in the building

         10  because in the daytime they couldn't make any

         11  progress.

         12                 We gave them the hours that they

         13  would be there. We included some evening hours and

         14  we sent notifications to everyone who did not fill

         15  out a survey.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask

         17  you, but normally there is either a daytime approach

         18  or an evening approach because of working people not

         19  being available or whatever. How late, generally

         20  speaking, is that evening effort?

         21                 MR. MORRISON: I don't remember it

         22  being as late as 9:00.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So generally

         24  you say it is earlier than 9:00.

         25                 MR. MORRISON: Kenny, do you remember
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          2  the time?

          3                 MR. K. MORRISON: Around 8:00.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Around 8:00.

          5  Okay, thank you very much.

          6                 MR. MORRISON: We just did that

          7  because we wanted to get the survey.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I understand.

          9                 Is there anything else that you

         10  wanted to respond to before we move forward?

         11                 MR. MORRISON: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: If you could

         13  be brief, I would appreciate it.

         14                 MR. MORRISON: I just wanted to say,

         15  and to tell the tenants that I have no reason to

         16  come to the building to stand on the stoop. If that

         17  is what I was going to do, I wouldn't come there.

         18                 Secondly, I have walked that building

         19  many, many times, she said there was no work being

         20  done. I had a crew of four men in there from August

         21  to today. They went through each and every apartment

         22  to do some preliminary renovation.

         23                 The two tenants who spoke -- the

         24  gentleman is not my tenant. These two ladies did not

         25  let them in, so that is why they had no repairs.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask

          3  you one other final question. Let me just ask you

          4  one final question related to the program. We know

          5  that we have received complaints that there is

          6  illegal drug trafficking in some buildings, and I

          7  know that HPD is supposed to have an operation that

          8  comes out and deals with that; how do you get them

          9  out there?

         10                 MR. MORRISON: How do we? We are

         11  dealing with the police.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You deal

         13  directly with the police?

         14                 MR. MORRISON: We have the building

         15  signed up with the District Attorney's Program.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Now, is

         17  it your company? Where does the community group come

         18  in in terms of that particular issue?

         19                 MR. MORRISON: They don't.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: They don't.

         21                 Are you familiar with the program

         22  that HPD has, the drug narcotics program?

         23                 MR. MORRISON: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You don't use

         25  them at all?
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          2                 MR. MORRISON: We are using the DA's

          3  program.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

          5  Thank you very much, Mr. Morrison.

          6                 MR. MORRISON: Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Next we are

          8  going to hear from a panel, Jean Charles with ACE,

          9  and I believe he is going to be accompanied by one

         10  or two other people.

         11                 In the interest of time, folks, we

         12  are going to limit the presentations to no more than

         13  three minutes per individual, and we want to get an

         14  opportunity to hear from as many folks as possible,

         15  pro and con, on this particular issue.

         16                 Please introduce yourself and your

         17  affiliation.

         18                 MR. CHARLES: Hello. My name is Jean

         19  Charles, I am a community organizer with Action For

         20  Community Empowerment. And I just want to make a

         21  statement.

         22                 As an organizer of tenants in the NEP

         23  program for the past several months, it is ACE's

         24  position that everyone wants the NEP program to

         25  succeed. Everybody wants to live in a beautiful,
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          2  revitalized Harlem, everyone sees a benefit to that.

          3  But there needs to be better communication between

          4  tenants and managers. There needs to be better

          5  communication between tenants and managers, there

          6  needs to be better decorum, in terms of the

          7  implementation of the program on the part of the

          8  managers, there needs to be more accountability on

          9  the part of the non-profits who take over, who help

         10  the managers take over the buildings.

         11                 The following are the changes to the

         12  NEP program that ACE has been advocating for and

         13  requesting for the past year.

         14                 First, we wish to halt the program to

         15  investigate it and establish rules and regulations

         16  to the program. Upon resuming the program, all

         17  tenants should be provided information adequately

         18  and timely. One of the most important things we have

         19  been advocating for is a monitoring mechanism to be

         20  put in place. The monitoring group should consist of

         21  community tenants, membership organizations, the

         22  City Council, HPD, and the Partnership.

         23                 If the City was to allocate a budget

         24  for committees to be established and staffed to do

         25  this monitoring.
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          2                 In terms of proposed rules for the

          3  NEP program, tenants should be given equal

          4  information about the TIL and NEP programs. It

          5  should be presented in the same week. Everybody

          6  should know about TIL, everybody should know about

          7  TOPS, everybody should know about other alternatives

          8  and options to these programs when they are

          9  presented with NEP, in order for there to be enough

         10  time for them to consider it.

         11                 Information on both programs should

         12  be presented simply and concisely.

         13                 There is a current rider in the lease

         14  that allows landlords to remove relocated tenants

         15  any time they see fit. The rider reads as follows,

         16  and you tell me if this is appropriate.

         17                 "Pursuant to the terms and conditions

         18  of the document set forth in paragraph two, the

         19  landlord has the right to remove tenants to another

         20  apartment in the building or a nearby building if

         21  the landlord requires the apartment to be vacated

         22  for rehabilitation of all or part of the building,

         23  or should be made available to other tenants during

         24  any portion of the lease term. The tenant agrees to

         25  cooperate with the landlord and agrees not to refuse
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          2  to move and relocate to another apartment, if

          3  requested by the landlord."

          4                 This is basically signing your rights

          5  away as a tenant. The tenant is no more than a

          6  squatter in this case.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Can we have a

          8  copy of that document for the record?

          9                 MR. CHARLES: Sure.

         10                 For the elderly -- so we request that

         11  the current rider be deleted from the lease.

         12                 Landlords must sign leases before the

         13  tenant signs, and all tenants should be given

         14  relocation agreements automatically.

         15                 For the elderly, they must provide

         16  the elderly with home assistance to explain the

         17  program, pack them up, contact their families for

         18  support and allow them to see an apartment before

         19  moving.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Mr. Charles,

         21  I don't want to interrupt, you have gone beyond your

         22  time. What we will need, as soon as possible, is a

         23  written version of some of your recommendations and

         24  some of your other concerns.

         25                 MR. CHARLES: These demands have been
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          2  presented to New York City Housing Partnership, to

          3  NEP --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Has it been

          5  presented up to this Committee yet?

          6                 Have you had an opportunity to

          7  present a written copy to us?

          8                 MR. CHARLES: Several.  Throughout the

          9  year we have been sending you demands.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: To this

         11  Committee?

         12                 MR. CHARLES: To this Committee, I am

         13  not sure.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: If you are

         15  not sure, be sure and do so is what I am asking. If

         16  you don't mind, it just helps --

         17                 MR. CHARLES: They have been sent to

         18  you individually. They have been sent to members of

         19  the Council.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am just

         21  trying to show you the process.  The process is this

         22  Committee, at this time, receives official points of

         23  view for consideration in terms of the changes. I

         24  don't doubt that what you are sharing has been

         25  shared in a variety of other ways with my office or
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          2  some other places as well, but I am just asking you,

          3  if you can get a copy to this Committee for the

          4  record, it would be helpful.

          5                 MR. CHARLES: I would love to.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Next.

          7                 MR. BEASLEY: Good afternoon. My name

          8  is Michael J. Beasley. I am a tenant in an NEP

          9  designated building in East Harlem, commonly known

         10  as Spanish Harlem. Additionally, I am a member of

         11  Harlem Action for Community Empowerment.

         12                 I am here to express my outrage at

         13  the irresponsible manner in which the NEP program

         14  has been implemented in my building and throughout

         15  the City.

         16                 I reside in an HPD-owned building

         17  that was entered in the NEP program as of 11/1/98.

         18  Prior to this occurrence, I was never duly notified

         19  by HPD that this building was being considered for

         20  NEP, nor was I informed that as a tenant the option

         21  existed for this building to be placed in a Tenant

         22  Interim Lease Program.

         23                 Consequently, the building was placed

         24  in NEP without full tenant participation. The net

         25  affect on me has been a 233 percent in my rent,
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          2  which places an undue burden of fixed income as a

          3  disabled individual.

          4                 Furthermore, despite this increase in

          5  rent, there has been no corresponding improvement in

          6  the material condition of my apartment or the

          7  building as a whole. This is an outrage.

          8                 As a resident of the Harlem

          9  community, and member of Action for Community

         10  Empowerment, I implore you and your colleagues to

         11  seriously contemplate the negative impact this

         12  program has had and seek to ameliorate its effect by

         13  scheduling an oversight hearing on this matter,

         14  which you are doing right now.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         17                 Let me ask you two quick questions.

         18                 Your building was not informed of TIL

         19  is what you are saying?

         20                 MR. BEASLEY: I was never notified of

         21  either TIL, NEP or any matter surrounding this until

         22  after the fact.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you have a

         24  problem of drug trafficking in your building?

         25                 MR. BEASLEY: I live in Spanish

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            197

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Harlem, drug trafficking is the norm.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Have you been

          4  in touch with the Narcotics Unit at HPD about this?

          5  Have they been able to do anything for you on this?

          6                 MR. BEASLEY: HPD has been well aware

          7  of this problem in this particular building for

          8  years. So far they did nothing.

          9                 As a matter of fact, from November

         10  1994 up until April 1st, 1999, there were no

         11  entrance locks on the front door. People came and

         12  went freely as they wished.

         13                 So, I contacted HPD, yes, I did. Also

         14  called the local precinct. They told me there was

         15  nothing they could do. So that is where the

         16  situation stands.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 Next. Please introduce yourself.

         20                 MS. DOLCE: My name is Roselene Dolce.

         21  I am an NEP tenant. In 1996 when Pasquale took over

         22  the building, it has been abandoned by HPD for years

         23  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What is your

         25  address again?
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          2                 MS. DOLCE: 150 West 130 Street.

          3                 There was no locked doors. People can

          4  come in and do whatever they want to, they were in

          5  the hallways, drugs everywhere, there were feces in

          6  the hallway, there was only two tenants living in

          7  the building. It has been abandoned a long, long

          8  time. Then Pasquale came in and then wanted to

          9  renovate it. Then he moved me to 149 West 129th

         10  Street and that apartment was supposed to be

         11  livable, yet when I visited it, there was no toilet

         12  seat, the bathtub was filthy, there were crack

         13  vials, there were mouse droppings, it was awful, yet

         14  they wanted me to relocate in an apartment that was

         15  supposed to be livable.

         16                 Then I asked them to take care of

         17  some of the problems before I moved in.

         18                 Then I stayed there for 15 months

         19  before I was relocated back to 150 West 130 Street.

         20  I had to fight them in order to move back because I

         21  did not want to. I had to write letters. We had to

         22  hold meetings. I had to do a lot of things that was

         23  not necessary for me to move back because I was

         24  living there for 12 years, I was entitled to move

         25  back.
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          2                 Then when I moved back, finally moved

          3  back, again when I saw the apartment there was heat,

          4  then when I moved in the heat started to go down and

          5  just last February there was like nine days with no

          6  hot water. I called the office about five times, and

          7  the super would come in fix the heat, yet the heat

          8  never goes up.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: This is in

         10  the building that was rehabilitated, renovated?

         11                 MS. DOLCE: Yes, it was renovated, yet

         12  it has this problem of no heat, no hot water

         13  sometimes. I called the super and he would come in

         14  and do whatever but it had never been fixed. And I

         15  have yet to sign a new lease. I know they want to

         16  raise the rent, but yet I am waiting for them to

         17  give me the new lease with the new rent so that I

         18  can pay my rent, because I have submitted my income

         19  verification and my boss also filled out a form that

         20  Pasquale has requested for him to fill out. He

         21  filled it out, he sent it to them like over a month

         22  ago, yet I have yet to hear from them regarding this

         23  new lease, and what my new rent is going to be.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 So, on one hand you were sent to a

          3  building that was in bad shape and unhealthy.

          4                 MS. DOLCE: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Then when you

          6  were sent back to your renovated building, the

          7  renovations were not up --

          8                 MS. DOLCE: Right. For six weeks I

          9  could not get my mail, I had to go all the way to

         10  the post office to pick up my mail, and there was no

         11  intercom so I had to ask for the intercom to be

         12  fixed, yet the building was supposed to be

         13  renovated. And the stairs were not done, they were

         14  done after we moved in. They didn't do anything,

         15  they just paint over them.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, this is

         17  at 150 West 130th.

         18                 MS. DOLCE: 130th Street, yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, thank

         20  you very much. I appreciate it.

         21                 The next panel will consist of Mrs.

         22  Goldie Brooks, Maxie Newman, Theresa Brooks and

         23  Tandine Brooks. So, it's the Brooks Family

         24  apparently and Ms. Newman. Take your time.

         25                 Please introduce yourself.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            201

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: Good afternoon,

          3  Council Member Perkins. My name is Theresa Brooks, I

          4  am the Coordinator of the Task Force of City-Owned

          5  and Distressed Property. I will go first and give

          6  the task force's position.

          7                 I coordinate a group of Citywide

          8  organizations, different community-based

          9  organizations, and we take the position that --

         10  well, first of all, we try to educate tenants and

         11  disseminate information so that they can make the

         12  best choices for the individual building.

         13                 While our emphasis is on resident

         14  participation and control, the Task Force on

         15  City-Owned and Distressed Properties takes the

         16  position the tenant should have a choice on what

         17  happens to their home.

         18                 The Neighborhood Entrepreneurs

         19  Program at the Centerpiece of Building Blocks, which

         20  is the Mayor's disposition program for buildings in

         21  City ownership, this is the City's way of getting

         22  out of the landlord business; however, in applying

         23  this program, tenants' rights are being violated.

         24                 There is a lack of communication

         25  between the tenant, HPD, the New York City Housing
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          2  Partnership and the entrepreneur.

          3                 HPD sends the following information

          4  to tenants in selected clusters over a period of

          5  three to four months. I have attached the letters

          6  that are sent. These letters are from round two. The

          7  first one is the notice of final selection in March.

          8  The second one is the notice of rent increase in

          9  April. And the third one is the notice of new

         10  buildings management in May.

         11                 What happened to a notice saying your

         12  building is being considered for NEP and here are

         13  your options?

         14                 The notice of final selection gives a

         15  meeting date for the building. By this time tenants

         16  are very confused and the meeting that takes place

         17  at the building is not long enough to deal with the

         18  tenant's questions.

         19                 In the last week, the task force had

         20  a meeting and presented the Partnership with the

         21  list of issues and recommendations which I have

         22  attached, that were brought to the Task Force

         23  attention through meetings, phone calls, and visits

         24  to NEP buildings, I will list a few of the issues, I

         25  will skip over some since they have already been
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          2  said.

          3                 I will go to the second one, which

          4  is, when is this information shared with the tenant?

          5                 This is very important because they

          6  are not getting proper information.

          7                 When does the building cease to be

          8  City ownership? That is another one where there is a

          9  big problem.

         10                 What are the responsibilities of HPD?

         11  I feel we need to have some written rules what they

         12  are responsible for.

         13                 What are the responsibilities of the

         14  Partnership? There should also be something written

         15  down about that.

         16                 There is another problem, everybody

         17  has discussed the problems with TIL. One of the

         18  major issues is relocation.

         19                 A) Temporary and permanent

         20  relocation. Tenants are not given enough notice.

         21                 B) Apartments in the buildings where

         22  the tenants are being relocated to are not ready

         23  when tenants move in.

         24                 C) Some entrepreneurs are forcing

         25  tenants into studios, telling them they have no
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          2  choice.

          3                 D) Tenants are being relocated

          4  without regard to their belongings.

          5                 E) Entrepreneurs are not signing the

          6  relocation agreements.

          7                 F) Utilities are not connected when

          8  the tenants move into relocated buildings, nor when

          9  they move back into the building that has been

         10  rehabbed.

         11                 Mailboxes are not ready for tenants

         12  to receive their mail.

         13                 8) Seniors are not being given

         14  consideration in being allowed to return to the same

         15  building. Tenants are being told to get rid of their

         16  appliances; for example, washing machines, dryers,

         17  food freezers and air conditioners. Some of the

         18  selected entrepreneurs have a blatant lack of

         19  respect for the tenants in their cluster.

         20                 Number 11 is, who are the

         21  community-based organizations and what is their

         22  role? Because a lot of the residents don't know who

         23  these people are.

         24                 And in closing, the Task Force on

         25  City-owned and distressed properties, through its
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          2  many participants Citywide, look forward to working

          3  with the New York City Housing Partnership and HPD

          4  to improve the NEP program.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

          6                 MS. TANDINE BROOKS: Good afternoon,

          7  Council Member Perkins. My name is Tandine Brooks,

          8  and on behalf of my grandmother, Mrs. Goldie Brooks,

          9  I will be presenting her testimony.

         10                 My name is Mrs. Goldie Brooks. I am

         11  83 years old and I resided at 101 West 130th Street,

         12  Apartment 24, on the second floor, from November

         13  15th, 1942, until October 24th, 1998, which breaks

         14  down into 55 years, 11 months, one week and two

         15  days.

         16                 I was relocated to the basement

         17  apartment of 152 West 130th Street. At the time of

         18  my relocation, I signed the relocation agreement

         19  stating that I would return to 101 West 130th

         20  Street, apartment one, on the first floor.

         21                 I was told the NEP manager would sign

         22  the agreement and send my copy by the super. To date

         23  I have not received my copy of the relocation

         24  agreement.

         25                 Once I was relocated to the new
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          2  building, there was some talk about me not being

          3  able to return to 101 West 130th Street. I don't

          4  think this is right. The manager feels that this

          5  apartment is good for me because of the patio and

          6  yard. I am not interested in the patio and yard. I

          7  do not need someone to make decisions as to what

          8  living arrangement is good or not good for me. I

          9  want to feel safe and comfortable.

         10                 Since I am semi-disabled and need the

         11  assistance of a walker and/or wheelchair to get

         12  around, I do not feel comfortable nor safe located

         13  so far from places and people familiar to me.

         14                 In addition, I cannot afford home

         15  care and therefore I rely on families, friends and

         16  neighbors from the old building to help me out and

         17  being located so far up the block makes it difficult

         18  for them to attend to my needs.

         19                 Also, I do not have easy access to

         20  the transportation I need to go downtown.

         21                 I want to return to the building I

         22  have lived in for over 50 years. I would feel safer

         23  and much more comfortable closer to people and

         24  places familiar to me. Recently I was told I would

         25  be going back to 101, but until I have something in
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          2  writing stating that with the manager's signature on

          3  his stationery, I will not believe it.

          4                 Senior citizens should have a higher

          5  priority status and be given special consideration

          6  in relocation and renovation plans in the NEP

          7  program. In our later years we should not have to be

          8  moved to unfamiliar territory surrounded by

          9  unfamiliar people. We do not adapt well to sudden

         10  and drastic changes. We should be guaranteed an

         11  apartment in the building we have lived in for so

         12  many years once the renovations are finished.

         13                 There is something more precious and

         14  vital at stake here other than a profit margin, our

         15  lives and well-being. We are not a throw-away

         16  society.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         18  Thank you very much.

         19                 Now, there was another Brooks,

         20  Theresa Brooks?

         21                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: Mrs. Goldie

         22  Brooks is my mother --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And this is

         24  your daughter?

         25                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: This is my
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          2  daughter.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It's a family

          4  affair.

          5                 Thank you very much. I think that

          6  your presentation was clear and I very much

          7  appreciate it.

          8                 I am looking at the PNM Management

          9  Realty Corporation -- I guess this is an agreement

         10  between the entrepreneur and Ms. Brooks for

         11  relocation.

         12                 Now, it says here I am voluntarily

         13  moving to an apartment that has been provided to me

         14  on a temporary basis.

         15                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, the word

         17  "voluntary", is that in fact the appropriate word?

         18                 MRS. GOLDIE BROOKS: I am supposed to

         19  come back to 101 on the ground floor. I am supposed

         20  to come back to 101 on the ground floor, because I

         21  had the six-room apartment and I gave it up, I

         22  didn't want that anymore anyway.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         24                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: But I want to

         25  live on the ground floor in 101, because I can't get
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          2  up.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just want

          4  to make sure about the voluntary aspect of this

          5  because we heard other tenants say they were forced

          6  to move, but you don't feel as if you were forced to

          7  temporarily relocate?

          8                 MS. GOLDIE BROOKS: Well, I had to go

          9  there while they were working on the building.

         10                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: I will address

         11  that. She moved with the understanding that she

         12  would return to 101 West 130th Street, first floor,

         13  front apartment. And they put an asterisk on the

         14  bottom of the relocation agreement, but as you can

         15  see, Gregory Pasquale, who is the manager of PLM

         16  Management, he did not sign it. We have received

         17  nothing yet. I have made phone calls about it. I

         18  have even spoken to the Partnership about it, and

         19  they are supposed to be working on it. But she moved

         20  with the understanding that she could come back.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What does it

         22  mean they are supposed to be working on it? This was

         23  signed in October of '98.

         24                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: Yes, but the fact

         25  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That is six

          3  months ago.

          4                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: Yes, but this is

          5  some of the things that the tenants are going

          6  through, and if seniors don't have someone there to

          7  act on their behalf, they are going to be thrown

          8  away and thrown to the side.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Who is the

         10  community group assigned to work with PLM?

         11                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: Abyssinian.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Abyssinian

         13  Development Corporation?

         14                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Have they

         16  been contacted about these problems?

         17                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: I haven't spoken

         18  to Abyssinian, but they were invited to a meeting to

         19  discuss some of these issues and no one showed up.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         21                 Now, it says here that you will

         22  return to one of our cluster buildings when

         23  rehabilitation is complete. That suggests that you

         24  might not return to "the" building, but one of the

         25  clusters.
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          2                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: Yes, but they put

          3  an asterisk there and put it at the bottom of the

          4  relocation agreement that she was coming back to

          5  101.

          6                 Once she was moved out of 101, then

          7  there was talk back and forth that she cannot come

          8  back to the building, this, that and the other. And

          9  the entrepreneur feels that since 152 West 130th is

         10  a renovated building with the patio, yard and

         11  everything, she would be better off there.

         12                 This man is not to make decisions for

         13  her. My mother has lived on the second floor in that

         14  building for over 55 years, and she is not concerned

         15  about having a patio or a yard. If that was the case

         16  she could have moved down south years ago and had a

         17  home.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So let me

         19  just be clear. The reason for this not being signed

         20  is because they don't want to commit themselves to

         21  the --

         22                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: That is how I

         23  take it, because we haven't gotten anything yet.

         24                 Now, I did speak to Ms. Tate in his

         25  office this weekend, she said they would get me
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          2  something signed, because I told her I want it in

          3  writing. My mother even called Mr. Armstrong and

          4  told him that she wanted it in black and white.

          5                 MS. GOLDIE BROOKS: He is supposed to

          6  be sending me the papers, I am supposed to have it

          7  now.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, let me

          9  just be clear about the process here. You have

         10  brought this to the attention of the Partnership?

         11                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Who brings it

         13  to the attention of HPD? Or does HPD play a role?

         14                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: I am not sure,

         15  because that is the confusion here. If you call HPD

         16  about something, they tell you to call the

         17  Partnership. If you call the Partnership, there are

         18  times where they will tell you that you have to

         19  address this with HPD.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What happens

         21  when you call the community-based group?

         22                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: I haven't spoken

         23  to the community-based group.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Why? My

         25  understanding is that they would be there to
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          2  expedite these types of problems.

          3                 MS. THERESA BROOKS: The only thing I

          4  have heard about Abyssinian for most of the tenants

          5  in the 129th Street, the Abyssinian hasn't been

          6  working with them. My mother says someone came

          7  around in the beginning to fill out the six-page

          8  survey and that is all she has seen of them.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, thank

         10  you very much. I appreciate it.

         11                 MS. GOLDIE BROOKS: Okay.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Next is

         13  Donald Mack, representing HCCI.

         14                 Is there another community group that

         15  is a part of this, whether it is Abyssinian

         16  Development Corporation or any of the other

         17  corporations? Would you come forward, please, so we

         18  can proceed.

         19                 Just introduce yourselves. Thank you.

         20                 We are going to hear now from a panel

         21  of not-for-profit community-based groups in contract

         22  who work with the entrepreneur on these properties.

         23  We will start with you. Would you please introduce

         24  yourself and the organization that you represent?

         25                 MR. MACK: My name is Donald Mack, and
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          2  I work for HCCI. It is a community-based

          3  organization that exists and was initiated to serve

          4  the low and middle class community to supply

          5  affordable housing and decent housing and other

          6  services to the community.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you have a

          8  statement that you want to make?

          9                 MR. MACK: Yes. About the NEP program,

         10  I think that is why we are here today, to address

         11  the NEP program.

         12                 I feel that the program is a good

         13  program, and as you and Councilman Michels have

         14  said, Councilman, that we have a lot of clicks in

         15  the program and we have a lot of things to be done

         16  about improving the program, but overall the program

         17  has been designated and have been doing not a very

         18  good job, but I think with correction of the program

         19  itself, it could be one of the utmost programs that

         20  can give the poor community affordable housing like

         21  it was initially slated for.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Did you want

         23  to share with us a few of the problems that you have

         24  encountered?

         25                 MR. MACK: I have encountered a
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          2  problem as tenants having a problem with relocation.

          3  I think there should be a better mechanism put in

          4  place to relocate tenants and give the senior

          5  citizens special reference to come back to these

          6  apartments if they want to return after the

          7  rehabilitation.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask

          9  you, what type of relocation problems have you

         10  become aware of? And what do you suggest could be

         11  done to fix them?

         12                 MR. MACK: Well, the senior citizens,

         13  especially I am on a Task Force, the last Task Force

         14  just left from up here, I am on that particular task

         15  force to try to come up with solutions in order to

         16  help senior citizens with problematic issues, as

         17  well as other NEP residents. And I think relocation

         18  is the most prevalent problems in the whole

         19  situation.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What is the

         21  problem when you say it is relocation? What exactly

         22  is the problem? Is it the quality of the building?

         23  Some people say they are being relocated to

         24  buildings that are in worse shape than the ones that

         25  they came from. They are saying that roaches, mice,
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          2  crime, you know any number of things, no toilet

          3  seats, I mean this is what they are telling us. Is

          4  it the condition of the new buildings to which they

          5  are being relocated? Is it the a manner in which

          6  they are being moved from one place to another

          7  place? Are they not being respected in the course of

          8  being moved? What is it? Is it the size of the new

          9  apartment? Just give me an idea of what it is.

         10                 MR. MACK: I think it is like a policy

         11  how the relocation procedures should start. They

         12  should have a policy in place where the tenants can

         13  refuse any apartment they feel that is not up to par

         14  to be moved in, and also bring a third party with

         15  them to inspect these apartments.

         16                 Being that I have some experience as

         17  an in rem manager, I know that there is a lot of

         18  dissatisfaction.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So right now

         20  tenants are being relocated to temporary homes,

         21  apartments, and are not being given the right to

         22  refuse or to consider a better option for them; is

         23  that what you are saying?

         24                 MR. MACK: No, that is not what I am

         25  saying.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          3                 MR. MACK: What I am saying, there

          4  should be a mechanism in place to assist the

          5  residents themselves as to where they are going to

          6  move, and if they want to move in that particular

          7  apartment.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, for

          9  instance, as a group, like HCCI that has a contract

         10  to work with the entrepreneur, when do you begin to

         11  do what you do? Do you help with the relocation? Do

         12  you help fill out forms? What do you do?

         13                 MR. MACK: We assist in relocation.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What do you

         15  do when you assist in relocation?

         16                 MR. MACK: Well, if the manager calls

         17  and asks us do we have any buildings, or recommend

         18  any buildings for a tenant to be relocated, we will

         19  assist in that process.

         20                 Also, we come out and inform the

         21  tenants of their right in the initial meetings with

         22  the manager, HPD, and subsequently follow up with

         23  another meeting as it presents itself.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, who do

         25  you work with, the entrepreneur or HPD?
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          2                 MR. MACK: No, we work --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: For the

          4  Partnership?

          5                 MR. MACK: We work for the Partnership

          6  and HPD.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You work for

          8  the Partnership and HPD.

          9                 MR. MACK: We have a contract --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And you

         11  inform the tenants.  Let me just be clear. The

         12  rights that you inform them of, what are those

         13  rights, for instance? Give me the rights that you

         14  would give them.

         15                 MR. MACK: They have the right not to

         16  accept any type of apartment. If they choose not to

         17  accept that apartment for any reason whatsoever, it

         18  has to be reviewed. They have other rights such as

         19  they don't have to pay the increase of rent until

         20  satisfactory answers are given to them about the

         21  increase of the rent, and other rights that they may

         22  have also.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: These rights,

         24  are they written and distributed to the tenants?

         25  Like do you give them not only the verbal
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          2  presentation but do you give them a written

          3  presentation?

          4                 MR. MACK: No, just verbal.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is there a

          6  reason why you don't give them a written

          7  presentation?

          8                 MR. MACK: Because we don't have the

          9  written presentation.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are these

         11  rights rights that you are aware of because you have

         12  been informed of these rights through -- how do you

         13  know what their rights are?

         14                 MR. MACK: Informed through the

         15  contract with HPD.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, HPD --

         17                 MR. MACK: -- And the Partnership.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What does HPD

         19  do to prepare you to do your job as far as teaching

         20  people what their rights are?

         21                 MR. MACK: HPD doesn't do anything.

         22  That is one of the reasons why they contract us as

         23  one of their partners.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am sorry, I

         25  didn't ask the question right.
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          2                 MR. MACK: Oh.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How do you

          4  know what a tenants' rights are? How do you know?

          5                 MR. MACK: Well, pretty much

          6  personally myself, I have been with HPD, I have

          7  worked with Housing, so I know pretty much what any

          8  rights are myself.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But is there

         10  a -- I am just trying to get clear, is there a

         11  formal set of rights for tenants that you and all of

         12  the community not-for-profits have that is sort of

         13  agreed upon by the law, by HPD and so on and so

         14  forth, that is consistently presented to all tenants

         15  that are participating in this entrepreneur program?

         16                 MR. MACK: Yes. It comes from the

         17  Partnership and HPD.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And that is

         19  written?

         20                 MR. MACK: It is written, yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And you have

         22  a copy of that?

         23                 MR. MACK: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you have a

         25  different experience? Please introduce yourself.
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          2                 MR. FLEMMING: Yes, my name is Paul

          3  Flemming, and I am from ABCCD, the Association of

          4  Brooklyn Clergy for Community Development.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

          6                 MR. FLEMMING: And we are located in

          7  Brooklyn. And yes, I find a whole lot of difference

          8  in what is going on in NEP. It is a good program, it

          9  works for the poor people, the poor people that

         10  don't have a voice cannot speak, and I think the

         11  not-for-profit is the basis of making what NEP

         12  should be and how it works.

         13                 The thing is, there is no writing of

         14  anything when you are out there doing the surveys.

         15  HPD, neither the Partnership, give you anything.

         16                 But what we do as a not-for-profit,

         17  and I have been in existence with them from the time

         18  that they started out --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Can I ask you

         20  a question?

         21                 MR. FLEMMING: Yes, sure you can.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Tenants have

         23  a right to refuse to pay the increase in rent?

         24                 MR. FLEMMING: Tenants have the right

         25  that if the -- the thing is they are asking them to
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          2  pay back rent, and if the back rent -- they do not

          3  have to pay the back rent.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me just

          5  be clear. There is no document called tenants'

          6  rights in NEP?

          7                 MR. FLEMMING: There is somewhat of --

          8  not a document but --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am just

         10  using that term.

         11                 MR. FLEMMING: Yes.

         12                 MR. MACK: A written statement.

         13                 MR. FLEMMING: A written statement of

         14  what their rights are supposed to be. But also you

         15  have your rights, the rights that the City and that

         16  the government gives you, that the rights of a

         17  tenant should have to do these things.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. But do

         19  you have a copy of that?

         20                 MR. FLEMMING: I don't have it on me,

         21  no.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Could you, if

         23  you get a chance, make sure we get what you have?

         24                 MR. MACK: It is with the contract,

         25  Councilman.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And a copy of

          3  the contract might be helpful either from HPD or

          4  from the Partnership.

          5                 MR. FLEMMING: Okay, in my position in

          6  the NEP is that it is a good program. You know,

          7  there are quirks, there are things that need to be

          8  done, but if you don't have a good not-for-profit,

          9  you will not get the right things. We are not, we do

         10  not -- well, my organization, I can't speak for

         11  nobody else but my organization, we are a group of

         12  clergy, which is based in our own community, which a

         13  lot of the tenants live in some of these buildings

         14  that are being renovated. So we can't sit there and

         15  lie to them and tell them what they can't do and

         16  what they can do. The purpose to me and my knowledge

         17  and thinking of what it should be, what HPD might

         18  have thought it should have been or what partnership

         19  might have thought it should have been, is that we

         20  dare not to be used by Partnership, nor by HPD, but

         21  to be an organization that is neutral.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are you there

         23  during the period when there is an orientation with

         24  the tenants about TIL or NEP?

         25                 MR. FLEMMING: When we go there, the
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          2  not-for-profit, HPD, plus the New York City Housing

          3  Partnership, and we go there in that manner and we

          4  go to talk to the tenants. We are there at that

          5  meeting.

          6                 Now, I don't know what happens with

          7  the entrepreneur but we are there and they do

          8  mention again at that time about the TIL program.

          9                 Now, I think that TIL is a great

         10  program and I think that they should have the

         11  opportunity, anybody that has the opportunity to get

         12  TIL, to be in TIL, should be in TIL, should do it.

         13  And I also know that there are a lot of -- in

         14  buildings that I deal with, there are people that

         15  are there that are on welfare, there are people that

         16  are low-income, there are people that are elderly

         17  that cannot do what TIL wants you to do, the things

         18  that TIL want, and for those that work and have a

         19  job and are able to get a building that is 60

         20  percent that way can do it, should do it. I believe

         21  that they should do it. And I believe that there

         22  should be a longer time limit than 90 days.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are you there

         24  before or after the 90-day period?

         25                 MR. FLEMMING: I am there after the
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          2  90-day period. After the 90-day period.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh. So you

          4  are not there during the period when the tenants are

          5  considering the TIL?

          6                 MR. FLEMMING: No.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You are there

          8  at the point when --

          9                 MR. FLEMMING: Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So what is

         11  the point of you mentioning TIL when they already

         12  passed the period?

         13                 MR. FLEMMING: I didn't I mentioned

         14  TIL, I said they mentioned TIL.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. What is

         16  the point of them mentioning TIL after the 90-day

         17  period?

         18                 MR. FLEMMING: I don't want to --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am just

         20  asking. I don't want to mess up anybody's contract

         21  or relationship or anything like that.

         22                 MR. FLEMMING: As far as I am

         23  concerned you can't do that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         25                 MR. FLEMMING: Because I abide by the
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          2  contract, but I also abide by the rules. I got a

          3  mama that lives in a City-owned building also. So, I

          4  know what it means to have somebody living there,

          5  and I know sometimes what is going on in certain

          6  people's home.

          7                 Again, I want to say that we do not

          8  work for them, but we do do what we have to do, and

          9  as this not-for-profit organization, we make sure

         10  that the tenants know what their rights are. If I go

         11  there and I tell them this is your right, then you

         12  go there and you do what you have to do, plus I am

         13  talking to them about tenant organizations. They

         14  should be beginning to get organized at this time so

         15  that when they do move in there, they know what

         16  being a tenant organizer is.

         17                 I am also here making sure that the

         18  people understand, the tenants understand that their

         19  rights are -- they don't have to move to any

         20  apartment if they don't want to move there. They

         21  should have the right to have three, three choices

         22  of where to move.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do they have

         24  three choices, or you are suggesting that as an

         25  improvement?
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          2                 MR. FLEMMING: No. They have three

          3  choices to move, but this is what I am trying to

          4  say, if you are not doing your job as a

          5  not-for-profit, then it is not going to be, you

          6  don't hear that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

          8                 MR. FLEMMING: You have three choices

          9  to move, and if you don't like none of those

         10  apartments, you still can sit back and let them know

         11  where you want to go. Now, you only got limited

         12  housing, unless you want to move out of their

         13  cluster.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, who is

         15  responsible for informing them of their choices?

         16                 MR. FLEMMING: Well, the landlord

         17  would be one, and we would be one. Because if we are

         18  working with the entrepreneur, they should be

         19  telling us what they are trying to do and what they

         20  should be doing.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And what do

         22  you give them in writing, if anything?

         23                 MR. FLEMMING: Well, we do a billing

         24  per se, for what we do. And that is our, mostly our

         25  documentation of what is going on in the building,
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          2  what needs to be done, what should be done in this

          3  building --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Profile?

          5                 MR. FLEMMING: Profile, yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You give that

          7  to who?

          8                 MR. FLEMMING: We do that and we give

          9  it to the Partnership, and the Partnership gives it

         10  to HPD and the entrepreneur gets it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What do you

         12  give to the tenant?

         13                 MR. FLEMMING: The tenant does not get

         14  that, doesn't get anything, no more than when they

         15  call us and they talk to us and we try to make sure

         16  and stress that you called us, don't let nothing

         17  come up against you that you don't call us and let

         18  us know so that we can fight. And when we do fight,

         19  if I take it to the entrepreneur and Partnership and

         20  sit down and talk to them, most of the time the

         21  Partnership comes to our agreement, most of the time

         22  the entrepreneur do what they are supposed to do.

         23  But if they do not agree with what I agree with, and

         24  how I see it should be done with those tenants, then

         25  I write a document to them stating that I have no
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          2  more to do with it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Have you had

          4  that experience?

          5                 MR. FLEMMING: Yes. I have eight

          6  clusters. That means I have eight entrepreneurs. And

          7  out of those eight entrepreneurs --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How many

          9  units is that about?

         10                 MR. FLEMMING: About 800 or so.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:

         12  Eight-hundred.

         13                 MR. FLEMMING: Yes, for this

         14  organization, for what we do.

         15                 And what I am trying to say is, once

         16  that happens, I have eight, I had eight, and now all

         17  I have is seven, because one entrepreneur I couldn't

         18  deal with and I do not want to deal with.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You are all

         20  part of the same --

         21                 MS. MILLER: I am a special K.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You are a

         23  special K. Then we better get you a special chair.

         24                 Please introduce yourself.

         25                 MS. MILLER: Good afternoon. My name
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          2  is Laurie Miller, and I have had experience in the

          3  different parts of the discussion going on. I

          4  recently moved out of a TIL building, I was recently

          5  employed by the Partnership as a Tenant Services

          6  Director at the implementation of the NEP program,

          7  and I oversaw the relationship between a

          8  not-for-profits and the entrepreneurs.

          9                 At the end of my tenure there I was

         10  working with the employment program. Presently I am

         11  a service provider for two entrepreneurs in the

         12  Bronx and in Brooklyn for tenant services. And I

         13  agree with Paul Flemming, the program is a good

         14  program, and it is made with the relationship with

         15  the not-for-profit being out there with the tenants

         16  finding out what is wrong and interceding if there

         17  are some issues.

         18                 Yes, I think there are some issues

         19  but we have been able to overcome them with the

         20  communications, especially with the Partnership,

         21  meeting with them directly if there is no resolution

         22  with the tenant and the entrepreneurs themselves.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: When you say

         24  you are a service provider, you are not affiliated

         25  with a not-for-profit.
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          2                 MS. MILLER: No, I am not.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So the

          4  entrepreneur has put on his or her staff --

          5                 MS. MILLER: No, no. I am like the

          6  not-for-profit where I am a third-party contractor,

          7  because in these two sections of the City they

          8  didn't have a not-for-profit that could handle what

          9  was needed.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I see.

         11                 MS. MILLER: And there are different

         12  levels of work that you. I mean, I use my car to

         13  take tenants to see different apartments. I take

         14  them to Social Security to get their, what are those

         15  things, those letters showing their -- award

         16  letters. So, it depends on how much you want to put

         17  into it and how much you want to make this --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask

         19  you a question. As the sort of community consultant

         20  for the entrepreneur or provider, you are part of

         21  the orientation that the not-for-profits do?

         22                 MS. MILLER: I just started my

         23  contract in February, but as an employee of the

         24  Partnership in 1995 and '96 I was part of the

         25  initial meeting, even prior to the not-for-profits
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          2  coming in. The Partnership and HPD alone went out to

          3  the building in rounds one and two and met with the

          4  building prior to bringing the entrepreneurs in

          5  three months later to talk to them and introduce the

          6  tenants to the new entrepreneur.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So you teach

          8  tenants about their rights, just like the

          9  not-for-profits do?

         10                 MS. MILLER: Yes. And I don't have

         11  anything in writing, no. But we do follow the DAMP

         12  program, HPD's DAMP program has tenant regulation

         13  from the previous programs that they instituted and

         14  a lot of the procedures that we follow in NEP are

         15  things that come with TIL, especially the $55 a room

         16  rent increase. Every program, whether it is TIL,

         17  DAMP or NRP, tenants receive a $55 a room increase

         18  plus half of that for the bathroom. So no matter

         19  what disposition program the building is in, that

         20  rent increase will go into effect.

         21                 In addition to that, if tenants have

         22  hardship paying that increase in rent, there is what

         23  is called a shadow subsidy called Interim Payment

         24  Agreement that we tenant service providers filled

         25  out with the survey for tenants that are on public
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          2  entitlement programs or low-income and they can't

          3  afford that new rent.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. So, for

          5  senior citizens, what do you do for them, like the

          6  rent exemption information? I mean, do you provide

          7  that?

          8                 MS. MILLER: No, we have never

          9  provided the SCRIE exemption during the NEP

         10  rehabilitation process.

         11                 When the buildings are back into the

         12  DHCR system, when they finally close and out of HPD

         13  and Partnership jurisdiction, the seniors are given

         14  SCRIE applications to apply for that program.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         16  very much.

         17                 Are there any other suggestions of

         18  improvement that you want to share before we go on

         19  to the next round?

         20                 MS. MILLER: I do believe that with

         21  all of the problems I am hearing today it needs more

         22  communication, but it is a great program, and the

         23  buildings especially in Harlem can't stand for

         24  themselves on the end result, so I think there needs

         25  to be more tenant meetings and more communication
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          2  between all parties.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask

          4  you one final question.

          5                 What do you do when you have a drug

          6  problem in these buildings? And in a lot of the

          7  buildings we hear complaints that there is drug

          8  trafficking going on, what do you do?

          9                 MR. MACK: Councilman, I chair, or

         10  facilitate a CIG meeting which we have, it is called

         11  a community improvement group meeting, which we have

         12  various community leaders, clergy men, various

         13  different City agencies and also the DA's

         14  Department, and there is a DA affidavit program

         15  where we have -- the entrepreneurs, they can tell

         16  you -- I invite them to this particular meeting and

         17  instruct them how to get into the program and send

         18  them down to have them get in contact with the DAs

         19  office and we have a point person there, Salomin and

         20  those particular buildings are flagged and looked at

         21  closely, so when an arrest is done there, they are

         22  taken through the whole process.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Have you ever

         24  used HPD's narcotics unit?

         25                 MS. MILLER: Yes.
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          2                 MR. MACK: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You have used

          4  it? And have you had success with it?

          5                 MS. MILLER: Yes. Most of the time

          6  HPD's narcotics unit calls a meeting with the

          7  programs and clusters early on to say we have --

          8  they tell us, we have identified this as a hot spot,

          9  and what documentation and what legal proceedings

         10  they are going through, so they know the

         11  entrepreneur is aware of that. But we also use the

         12  DAs' program and tenant meetings to try to alleviate

         13  that, and work with the local precincts and giving

         14  them keys to the building where there are locks and

         15  a list of the tenants in the building so that they

         16  can start their trespass arresting and things like

         17  that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 MR. MACK: Thank you.

         21                 MS. MILLER: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Annette

         23  Sherrills and Clementine Wallace -- Clementina

         24  Wallace.

         25                 MS. WALLACE: Yes, my name is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            236

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Clementina Wallace, and I was living at 566 West

          3  154th Street, and in Manhattan. I am now relocated

          4  to 520 West --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Can you hold

          6  on one moment, please? Because Ms. Sherrills has to

          7  go first, if you don't mind.

          8                 MS. WALLACE: I have to be at work at

          9  3:00.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Excuse me?

         11                 MS. WALLACE: I have to be at work at

         12  3:00.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You will be

         14  both out of here before 2:30, that's for sure. How

         15  far do you have to go?

         16                 MS. WALLACE: 59th Street.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh, don't

         18  worry about it. You will be there early today.

         19                 Ms. Sherrills.

         20                 MS. SHERRILLS: Thank you.

         21                 I am Annette Sherrills, and I was

         22  also relocated from the Bronx at 584 East 167 Street

         23  and I am representing the F and R realty from the

         24  Franklin Cluster, and I have heard the horror

         25  stories that have been going on with the other
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          2  tenants in their relocation and I sympathize with

          3  them, but I want to say on the other hand, the

          4  Franklin Cluster that has handled our relocation,

          5  and I speak for four other members that are there in

          6  the back, and if they would just raise their hands?

          7  Right. We are extremely pleased with the job that

          8  has been done for us.

          9                 We have been given a written contract

         10  stating rather we will, and in our case we are able

         11  to return back to the dwellings where we were. We

         12  have that signed by them. It is a contract. We also

         13  were issued a new lease. And as far as the

         14  astronomical height in the rent that occurred in the

         15  other people's situation, it didn't occur with us. I

         16  really applaud the F and R Realty and the way that

         17  they handled our situation because we were in a

         18  building at 584 East 167th Street in the Bronx, it

         19  was not only horrible conditions to live in, we have

         20  boardwalks that went around the ceilings in each and

         21  every apartment to support the building itself, and

         22  when they came in and caught sight of this we were

         23  immediately relocated. When I say immediately, I

         24  mean in a reasonable amount of time. We were told

         25  where we would be going, and we were also given the
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          2  opportunity to look at these places before we moved

          3  into them, and they did pay for the cost of our

          4  moving.

          5                 So, you know, I sympathize with the

          6  horror that the other people have been put through,

          7  but there are some people who do work hand-in-glove

          8  with you and the F and R Realty was one of those

          9  people. And me, I am extremely pleased, and I am

         10  pleased enough to speak for everyone else over

         11  there. So, I just wanted to let you all know that

         12  there is some good in this whole thing, and I want

         13  to thank you all.

         14                 Thanks a million.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         16                 MS. WALLACE: I have been living at

         17  566 West 154th Street, Apartment 3B for 24 years,

         18  and now I am relocated to a small apartment at 520

         19  West 154th Street, and I was told that I must go to

         20  that location in that apartment, it came from

         21  downtown. But as I went to the apartment and looked

         22  around, there were two closets, one in each bedroom.

         23  They said they are walk-in closets, but they are

         24  not. A walk-in closet has two racks for you to put

         25  your clothes in the back and in the front. These
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          2  closets are very small. Not a closet to put your

          3  coats, your broom, your shopping cart, your nothing.

          4  It is very inconvenient.

          5                 And then my rent was $140 a month at

          6  566, 1996 it went up to $357.50. Now I was told I

          7  will have to pay, receive a letter, from $357.50 to

          8  $992 per month from the Housing people, City of New

          9  York.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: This is a

         11  building that is in the entrepreneur program?

         12                 MS. WALLACE: It is in -- yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you know

         14  who the entrepreneur is?

         15                 MS. WALLACE: Yes, he is here.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What's the

         17  name?

         18                 MS. WALLACE: Mr. Heussinger.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Who? I am

         20  sorry.

         21                 MS. WALLACE: Who runs my building?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes. What is

         23  the name if the entrepreneur that runs your

         24  building?

         25                 MS. WALLACE: Allan Heussinger.  I
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          2  can't pronounce it right. He is here.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          4                 MS. WALLACE: But the letter did not

          5  come from him. It came from downtown.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: No, I just

          7  want to understand, to make sure it is part of the

          8  program.

          9                 MS. WALLACE: Yes, it is part of the

         10  program. He runs our building.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         12                 So, when you contacted him, the

         13  entrepreneur or HPD, what were you told?

         14                 MS. WALLACE: I told him about, I went

         15  several times, I did not meet him. And I caught him

         16  in my building one day and I told him about it. And

         17  he told me my rent will be $590 per month. And I

         18  must disregard the letter. But another letter came

         19  back with the same thing. Then one came from

         20  Brooklyn, if I did not turn in all the papers and

         21  what they are calling for, my rent will be $850 per

         22  month.

         23                 I want to know which the real rent

         24  will be.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: May I ask a
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          2  question? Do you know the difference between what is

          3  called the market rent and the other rent?

          4  Subsidized rent?

          5                 MS. WALLACE; well, it said the market

          6  rent will be $850 a month. That was the flat rate.

          7  My market rent.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But they are

          9  charging you more than the market rent?

         10                 MS. WALLACE: More than the market

         11  rent from the City of New York, Housing City of New

         12  York, that letter that came in. I received two

         13  letters.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is there a

         15  community-based group that is supposed to be working

         16  with your not-for-profit group?

         17                 MS. WALLACE: Well, they are not now.

         18  They were the Acorn Group. But we haven't seen them

         19  for a long time. I heard they don't come around no

         20  more.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         22                 How many units are in your building,

         23  do you know?

         24                 MS. WALLACE: I think it is four

         25  apartment and one floor, and I think it is five
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          2  buildings, five floors, if I am not mistaken.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let's assume

          4  Acorn is no longer in the picture and they have

          5  never informed you of an additional, of a new group

          6  to come in and provide that service?

          7                 MS. WALLACE:

          8  No, the last time I saw Acorn, there was a gentleman

          9  who came to us one Saturday and said he is coming to

         10  show us apartments at 151st Street, the same, 520

         11  West and 152nd Street in two different buildings,

         12  but we never see him again.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is the

         14  entrepreneur here, represented here today?

         15                 Is Acorn still in -- would you please

         16  come up, sir. Thank you. Just have a seat. Did you

         17  sign up to speak?

         18                 MR. HEUSSINGER: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh, good.

         20  This will help. Sit at the witness table, please.

         21  And introduce yourself, please.

         22                 MR. HEUSSINGER: My name is Allan

         23  Heussinger.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Allan

         25  Heussinger?
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          2                 MR. HUESSINGER: Heussinger.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Can you spell

          4  your last name?

          5                 MR. HEUSSINGER: Sure.

          6  H-e-u-s-s-i-n-g-e-r.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 MR. HEUSSINGER: I am the entrepreneur

         10  for the building in which Ms. Wallace does reside.

         11  She did receive several letters from HPD regarding

         12  her rent. But in the letter it indicates that if you

         13  cannot afford the rent, please go to the

         14  entrepreneur with certain documentations regarding

         15  your income and family composition, et cetera.

         16                 We asked Ms. Wallace to do this

         17  several times, based upon the information we did

         18  receive, I told Ms. Wallace that her rent would be

         19  approximately $590. But she failed to certify with

         20  the people who we hired to gain this information

         21  from her and that is the status of the matter now.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Acorn is the

         23  group that was contracted to work with this

         24  building?

         25                 MR. HEUSSINGER: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are they

          3  still working with the building?

          4                 MR. HEUSSINGER: No, they are not.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Has an

          6  alternative group been --

          7                 MS. HEUSSINGER: No, we are seeking a

          8  group right at this point.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How long have

         10  they been out of the picture?

         11                 MR. HEUSSINGER: About four months.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: About four

         13  months. And how were the tenants informed that they

         14  were no longer in the picture?

         15                 MR. HEUSSINGER: Tenants were not

         16  informed. Some tenants were informed, there was no

         17  official notice.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And you hired

         19  someone you said to do this certification?

         20                 MR. HEUSSINGER: Yes. We felt that due

         21  to the sensitivity of information and

         22  confidentiality, tenants felt and I felt it was not

         23  right for me to directly know what their income

         24  status was, and based upon the amount of paperwork

         25  that had to be done, we did hire an outside company
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          2  which specializes in certification. Tenants did

          3  receive notification by phone and by letter

          4  indicating to please come down to the office with

          5  required documentation.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, normally

          7  the not-for-profit group would be a specialist in

          8  the certification process?

          9                 MR. HEUSSINGER: They would be a

         10  liaison in assisting us in getting this information.

         11  But the certification process would either have to

         12  be done within our office or by a third entity. It

         13  would not be up to the non-profit to do the final

         14  certification. That is not in their contract.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now let me

         16  ask you, once the not-for-profit group is out of the

         17  picture, what are the steps that have to be taken to

         18  get another not-for-profit group back in the picture

         19  to help with tenant?

         20                 MR. HEUSSINGER: It is an interviewing

         21  process. We have spoken to a couple of organizations

         22  already. I have spoken to the Partnership regarding

         23  this matter because we do need assistance in terms

         24  of the social services. In the past few months we

         25  have been carrying this on by ourselves. If there
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          2  are any particular problems which a tenant has in

          3  terms of social services or medical or education or

          4  a job situation, we have undertaken ourselves to

          5  deal with the tenant on that basis, in view of the

          6  fact that we do not have a nonprofit at this point.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          8                 This is my last question, Ms.

          9  Wallace, because I know you have to leave.

         10                 MS. WALLACE: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How were you

         12  notified that you had to move?

         13                 MS. WALLACE: I was notified by phone.

         14  By telephone.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: From?

         16                 MS. WALLACE: By his secretary.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. So you

         18  never received a written notice?

         19                 MS. WALLACE: No. Hardly any written

         20  notice comes around.

         21                 MR. HEUSSINGER: We are on the block

         22  on a daily basis. We are physically present in the

         23  block. Our office is three blocks away. We are there

         24  every day. We see the tenants, we try to speak to

         25  them, we do speak with them on the phone, we do
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          2  speak with them, you know, in the street we see

          3  them, and we do correspond to them.

          4                 So, the notice given, it was not an

          5  abrupt notice, Ms. Wallace was well informed ahead

          6  of time --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Did that

          8  include a relocation agreement?

          9                 MR. HEUSSINGER: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: In writing?

         11                 MR. HUESSINGER: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         13                 MS. WALLACE: Did I sign up for

         14  relocation?

         15                 MR. HUESSINGER: Well, you signed a

         16  relocation agreement, the standard relocation

         17  agreement, which was in the NEP procedural manual in

         18  terms of relocating to -- well, in Ms. Wallace's

         19  situation, rather than doing two moves, we tried to

         20  accommodate her and do only one move. Based upon the

         21  composition of her family, the two people in the

         22  family, so one of the guidelines of the program is

         23  she is entitled to a two-bedroom apartment, if she

         24  wishes to have a lower rent. Obviously if the person

         25  wants a larger apartment, they would have to go to a
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          2  market rent apartment.

          3                 So, in order to accommodate people,

          4  in terms of fairness to the program, in terms of the

          5  rules of the program, there are two people in her

          6  family which entitles her to a two-bedroom

          7  apartment.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But she did

          9  receive a relocation agreement that she signed?

         10                 MR. HEUSSINGER: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: She says no.

         12                 Ms. Wallace, I don't want to --

         13                 MS. WALLACE: All I signed was a lease

         14  with you.

         15                 MR. HEUSSINGER: Well, I have to check

         16  the records, but a relocation agreement would have

         17  been signed months before the lease.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, thank

         19  you very much, Ms. Wallace.

         20                 MS. WALLACE: But can I say something?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Sure.

         22                 MS. WALLACE: Where they relocate me,

         23  I do not like the apartment because my things are

         24  being thrown around, I have been given a real lot of

         25  things, I have no place to put my clothes, I have no
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          2  place to put my coat, and I cannot pay rent like

          3  that when I am not comfortable. And the other thing

          4  again, I am stressed out. I am a very stressed

          5  person.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, I want

          7  to first thank you, Ms. Wallace, for your testimony.

          8                 I hope that you heard some of the

          9  concerns she has, and at least try to work something

         10  out. Clearly, the absence of a good not-for-profit

         11  group is urgent in this matter because you have no

         12  one for her to turn to to get some of this stuff

         13  taken care of.

         14                 Do you have anything finally that you

         15  want to share before we go on to the next panel?

         16                 Ms. Wallace, if you have to, you can

         17  leave.

         18                 MS. WALLACE: Yes, all right. I will

         19  leave. But I hope you will look into it, and come

         20  into my apartment.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Will you look

         22  into it?

         23                 MR. HUESSINGER: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  For the

         25  record he says yes.
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          2                 MS. WALLACE: Yes, he comes into the

          3  building every day, he can look into my situation.

          4                 MR. HEUSSINGER: I am in the building,

          5  I see Ms. Wallace almost every day. As a matter of

          6  fact, we have our site office in that particular

          7  building.

          8                 MS. WALLACE: I am a good tenant. I am

          9  a very good tenant.

         10                 MR. HEUSSINGER: Ms. Wallace is a

         11  wonderful tenant, she always was a wonderful tenant.

         12  I explained to her, and I think when Acorn was

         13  involved, we had meetings in the building with the

         14  tenants, they do understand how the program works.

         15  It is not a perfect program but the program works to

         16  benefit tenants who would really have --

         17                 MS. WALLACE: But this is not

         18  low-income. This is not low-income.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         20                 Do you have any closing remarks that

         21  you want to share?

         22                 MR. HEUSSINGER: No. Just in general I

         23  just would like to say, we took over six buildings

         24  in the cluster. My business is in the area, I have

         25  three other buildings. I have been in vacant
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          2  building programs since 1988. I have seen good

          3  programs, I have seen bad programs, I have seen

          4  glitches, I have seen a lot of changes. We are in

          5  the midst of finishing up, completing six buildings

          6  of renovations. It is 104 apartments, which is most

          7  probably going to accommodate about 400 families. We

          8  have brought stability I think to 151st and 152nd

          9  Streets, all our buildings are in the Criminal

         10  Trespass Affidavit Program. We have had job

         11  placements for people --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You mean 400

         13  individuals, not 400 families.

         14                 MR. HUESSINGER: Four-hundred

         15  individuals, 104 apartments, approximately 400

         16  individuals.

         17                 We have hired people through the

         18  Partnership Employment Program, we have encouraged

         19  persons in our cluster to go back to school and

         20  receive their GEDs and go further in their

         21  educational skills. I have somebody here who could

         22  testify at least to her experience in our cluster,

         23  regarding job opportunities and housing and the

         24  education, if you wish to hear some.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Please.
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          2                 MR. HUESSINGER: Do you want to come

          3  up, Maria?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am going to

          5  limit the presentation to two minutes.

          6                 Please introduce yourself.

          7                 MS. FIGEROA: Good afternoon. My name

          8  is Maria Figeroa. I presently live under the West

          9  Bridge Realty Corp buildings, at 519 West 152nd

         10  Street. I have resided previously in the South Bronx

         11  at a HPD building. Just to make it easier, a drug

         12  infested building. I found out about the NEP

         13  program, employment program, through the newspaper,

         14  in which now I am employed. I have been there three

         15  years. It has been great. I see how NEP tries to

         16  help their tenants, and now I am one of their

         17  tenants, so I do think that the program does work.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         19                 Would you repeat your name for the

         20  record, please.

         21                 MS. FIGUEROA: Maria Figueroa.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Maria

         23  Figueroa. And your address?

         24                 MS. FIGUEROA: 519 West 152nd Street.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Very good.
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          2  Thank you very much.

          3                 MS. FIGUEROA: Thank you, sir.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: We have

          5  representatives from Kristin Management, and I would

          6  like a spokesperson or two to come forward. We have

          7  approximately ten people from that organization that

          8  have signed up. We don't have time to hear from all

          9  ten, so we are going to have to limit it to two

         10  people at the most. So you all decide how you want

         11  to do it.

         12                 You don't have to come right now.

         13  Take your time, strategize it, but I just want you

         14  to know when we call you, just come with two people.

         15                 Oh, you are ready? Okay, thank you.

         16                 I count five, four. I want two. I

         17  said two. That is why I said, take your time.

         18  Listen, do me a favor. We don't have time. Take your

         19  time, find out two people and get what your

         20  testimony is going to be and then we will call you

         21  as soon as you decide.

         22                 Thank you. I see three. I want two

         23  individuals to testify. I don't mean to be -- we

         24  have a ton of people left and I don't want to give

         25  anyone undue -- please introduce yourself.
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          2                 MS. HOSCH: Good afternoon. I am

          3  Kristina Hosch, I am one of the entrepreneurs for

          4  the NEP program.

          5                 Today with me I have one of my

          6  tenants who occupies one of my buildings, this is

          7  Mr. Victor Weiss, who will be talking to you in a

          8  few minutes.

          9                 First, I would like to say

         10  participating in the NEP program with the Housing

         11  Partnership and HPD has been a positive experience

         12  for myself, my husband, who is also my partner, my

         13  staff, my employees, my tenants, and in my situation

         14  in the surrounding community.

         15                 My husband and I were chosen as

         16  entrepreneurs for round two and round four. We have

         17  a cluster of 105 units in Hunts Point, and another

         18  cluster of 118 units in the South Bronx.

         19                 Both sites were difficult when we

         20  began managing them. They had an abundance of drugs,

         21  illegal activities, prostitution, excessive

         22  violations and we had huge rent arrears.

         23                 Over the last three years our

         24  organization, with the help and the guidance of the

         25  Housing Partnership and HPD, have turned these
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          2  clusters completely around.

          3                 Once difficult and undesirable has

          4  now become beautiful, newly renovated buildings,

          5  with no illegal activity, almost 100 percent of rent

          6  collection and the cooperation of the tenants

          7  residing on the properties.

          8                 The numbers and the visual

          9  transformation basically speak for themselves in

         10  this program.

         11                 Because of the NEP program, we have

         12  personally, as an organization, have grown. We have

         13  matured into a strong and successful management

         14  company. We have seen a positive change in our

         15  tenants. We have witnessed also a remarkable

         16  difference in the community.

         17                 The process in which this program is

         18  designed is not an easy one. The success of a

         19  cluster depends on the creativity and commitment of

         20  the entrepreneurs, the cooperation and patience of

         21  the tenant, the expertise of the architect and

         22  general contractor, and most importantly, it really

         23  pertains to the professional guidance that we

         24  receive and the support received from the housing

         25  partnership and HPD, because without all of these
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          2  units working together, the program does not work.

          3                 We, participating in this program we

          4  feel that HPD and Housing Partnership is a strong

          5  force in this program. And it is the foundation, but

          6  they are not in it alone. You know, you do have to

          7  work with your tenants, your entrepreneurs have to

          8  work together, and there is a unity involved in this

          9  program.

         10                 From a personal standpoint we feel

         11  that there is a strong commitment from all of the

         12  entrepreneurs involved. We feel that there is a

         13  commitment, and it has been displayed to me and the

         14  other entrepreneurs existing in this program from

         15  the partnership and from HPD, that the basis here is

         16  really not only for us, it is for the tenants, it is

         17  for the community, it is to rebuild and revitalize

         18  these communities.

         19                 I do, and I have heard here today

         20  that there are obviously some tenants that have had

         21  bad experiences, and that is unfortunate.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Please sum

         23  up.

         24                 MS. HOSCH: But I have to sum up

         25  actually in saying that on a personal note I really
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          2  feel that there is an obvious commitment from all of

          3  the entrepreneurs involved, and the commitment is

          4  really extended to the tenant, to the community and

          5  to working together to rebuild these communities and

          6  to rebuild the surrounding areas.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

          9                 MR. WEISS: Hello. My name is Victor

         10  Weiss. I am a tenant at 1325 Lafayette Avenue, which

         11  is managed by Ms. Hosch's organization.

         12                 I can only speak for my own

         13  experience in that I was a long-term tenant and

         14  initially I was a little skeptical about going into

         15  the NEP program until I received their information,

         16  and I received a lot of information concerning,

         17  including information about the TIL program, and my

         18  building at the time was not set up for that kind of

         19  situation in the TIL, there was a lot of crime and

         20  prostitution and all sorts of things going on in the

         21  building and these aren't the people you ask to join

         22  a program like that, but since that time, since Ms.

         23  Hosch's people came in, the building has done a

         24  tremendous 180.

         25                 That is about all I can say about
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          2  that, and I am satisfied with the situation.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 What is the community not-for-profit

          6  group that is working with your building?

          7                 MS. HOSCH: We began with citizens

          8  advice, and we are now working with Laurie Miller

          9  from LAM Services, who testified earlier.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 MS. HOSCH: You're welcome.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: There is

         14  another organization, I don't want to call you up

         15  now but I just want you to know, it looks like the

         16  Bushwick Property, please caucus and find one or two

         17  people to represent you because you have too many

         18  people for us to be able to accommodate in the time

         19  frame that we have.

         20                 The CDC 111th Street Realty Corp.,

         21  please find one or two people that can represent

         22  your group. What I am trying to do, for those

         23  organizations that have come with others, to limit

         24  the number of people that will actually represent

         25  the group so that we can get as many people on as
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          2  possible.

          3                 Ms. Odessa Collins and Deotha

          4  Woodburn. Are you still here?

          5                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:

          6  They went downstairs.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, we will

          8  catch up with them later.

          9                 Jose Velasquez, and Victor Solomon.

         10                 Okay, Julio Binds, come forward.

         11  Stacy Howard. Renial Smith, Geraldine Davis. Juliana

         12  Tordes. Joyce Crusink.

         13                 Please identify yourself.

         14                 MS. HOWARD: Good afternoon. I am

         15  Stacy Howard. I am a Harlem tenant and an active

         16  member of Action for Community Empowerment, ACE. I

         17  am here to express my outrage at the lack of respect

         18  and courtesy expressed by the NEP program, mainly

         19  the representatives.

         20                 The misrepresentation and lack of

         21  information, so that I, as a tenant, could make an

         22  intelligent choice for my future, I have lived in my

         23  building for 33 years. I am the third generation in

         24  my building. I would like my daughter, who is only

         25  two months old, to be the fourth generation.
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          2                 The NEP program has pushed their

          3  views and ideas about what would make my life

          4  better, as if I am not able to make this decision on

          5  my own. I have lived in that building 33 years, as I

          6  already stated, the first 18 years, by my mother's

          7  choice, the last 15 in my own apartment by my

          8  choice.

          9                 The subtle threats and the scare

         10  tactics that have been in my experience the NEP's

         11  program, -- I am sorry.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Don't feel

         13  sorry. Just do what you got to do.

         14                 MS. HOWARD: The NEP program has used

         15  scare tactics and subtle threats to push tenants

         16  into and keep them in this program, I feel that this

         17  is not what is needed to obtain or keep us there. I

         18  wanted the TIL program, and, no, I was not given

         19  sufficient time and information, and I have done the

         20  running. In the 33 years I have been there we have

         21  had a tenant association for I don't know how many

         22  years, maybe more than 15, more than before I had my

         23  own apartment, and when we first decided we wanted

         24  TIL, back in the eighties when we first heard about

         25  it, and we were told then we were not allowed to be
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          2  in it, that we didn't qualify, we needed 7As, we

          3  needed this, we were given the run-around then, we

          4  are still given the run around. We have taken them

          5  to court and just personally, no one really scares

          6  me. I am more of the initiator of scaring, but what

          7  would happen here is that if this program isn't

          8  halted at this point, there are really going to be

          9  some really serious things happening.

         10                 I think that we really do need

         11  someone to oversee what is going on. It is really

         12  not a good situation that is happening here. And I

         13  live at 236 West 149th Street, and we have had--

         14  that was my bell. Okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, let me

         16  ask you a quick question.

         17                 Your building is in NEP now?

         18                 MS. HOWARD: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: In what

         20  round, do you know?

         21                 MS. HOWARD: The third.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Who is your

         23  entrepreneur?

         24                 MS. HOWARD: Horsford and Potete.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Horsford and
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          2  Potete.

          3                 MS.  HOWARD: That is not necessarily

          4  who we deal with. We, nine times out of ten, speak

          5  to a man named Mr. Motos.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Motos?

          7                 And what is his role.

          8                 MS. HOWARD: I am not exactly sure.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is he with

         10  the entrepreneurs?

         11                 MS. HOWARD: I gather, yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And what is

         13  the community-based group?

         14                 MS. HOWARD: HCCI, who we have just

         15  basically met. We have just met them.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, thank

         17  you.

         18                 Next.

         19                 MS. BYNES: My name is Julia Bynes, I

         20  am from 123 West 112th Street. I am a member of ACE.

         21                 HPD moved me from 216 West 111th

         22  Street five years ago. They promised to move me back

         23  after they renovated. I haven't been living there

         24  from 1977 to 1993, and in order to push me out they

         25  refused to set my rent for four months. No one
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          2  informed me about the TIL program. HPD took me to

          3  court and I ended up where I am now. Now I am afraid

          4  that the same thing will happen again if nothing is

          5  done about it.

          6                 People are just signing away their

          7  rights and I am not signing anything until I get

          8  some answers. People are just signing away their

          9  rights but I won't sign anything until I get some

         10  answers as to what is going on, and this is why the

         11  NEP program must be stopped and looked at.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 MR. SMITH: Good afternoon, members of

         15  the Council. My name is Raniel Smith, and I reside

         16  at 125 West 112th Street.

         17                 I am here today to request the City

         18  Council put a stop to the NEP program and to examine

         19  it as to its shortcomings.

         20                 Gateway is my management. Gateway

         21  came in. When they came in, I felt they came in

         22  trying to con, trying to convince me about moving.

         23  When I first received the letter. The letter was

         24  they were to come in and improve the property, but

         25  from my gathering, it wasn't about improving the
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          2  property, it was to move everybody out. I am, myself

          3  is the last, and there is one more family in the

          4  building, there are only ten apartments in the

          5  building. Five of the apartments were vacant. So

          6  they managed to move out the tenants in the

          7  building, so I am the last one remaining in the

          8  building.

          9                 The conditions of the building is

         10  implorable, especially in my apartment. The windows

         11  are broken. If I wouldn't hold the window right, it

         12  could fall, I could break my arm.

         13                 The other condition which is the

         14  stairs, the stairs are old, the metal stripping on

         15  the stairs, I have fell four or five times. I try

         16  not to fall, I don't want to hurt myself. The stairs

         17  are life-threatening. I have mentioned it to

         18  Gateway, which I have gotten very little response.

         19  Also to the superintendent.

         20                 It is every day, you know, my price

         21  of disabled tenant and my conditions of walking up

         22  and down the stairs, I walk up 44 stairs up and 44

         23  stairs down, and I don't make it may more difficult

         24  than what it is.

         25                 Gateway, if they are to increase my
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          2  rent, have they addressed the violation? No, they

          3  have not. I ask the City Council to put a stop to

          4  this program, and I would say a monitoring, have an

          5  independent council to monitor and I mean to the

          6  rules and regulations.

          7                 I want to thank you very much.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

          9                 An independent monitoring group, is

         10  that what all of you agree needs to be done?

         11                 MR. SMITH: Yes.

         12                 MS. BYNES: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And how would

         14  you describe that group? How would it be composed?

         15  And what would it do?

         16                 MR. SMITH: I would suggest, maybe it

         17  could be an organization, ACE, or it could be an

         18  independent Council, where they would go in and

         19  monitor, okay, that the tenants are being notified,

         20  the tenants' rights would not be violated as to

         21  where they would have to be forced to move, and

         22  would be back to rules and regulations. They do have

         23  a book that is called "Tenants Rights" where the

         24  tenant does know their rights, where they don't

         25  allow the landlord to intimidate them. So, all I am
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          2  saying is where there would be something to oversee

          3  to monitor and back to rules and regulations, where

          4  there are no rules and regulations. So that is just

          5  a suggestion.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Does anyone

          7  else want to make a closing observation on that?

          8                 MS. HOWARD: I agree with him totally.

          9  But I would also like to say that maybe if there was

         10  someone who represented us as tenants, other than

         11  our tenant association, they have the not for

         12  profits and they are supposed to be, you know, on

         13  neither side, but they basically seem to be on the

         14  side of the entrepreneurs, then we should be able to

         15  choose someone who would be on our side or who we

         16  feel is not, you know, pushing it.

         17                 Can I also ask another question, I am

         18  sorry?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Sure. You

         20  have 30 seconds.

         21                 MS. HOWARD: Okay.

         22                 From everything that has been said,

         23  we are allowed to go from the TIL program to the

         24  NEP; why is it we are not allowed, that if we don't

         25  like NEP, we are pushed and why can't we go to the
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          2  TIL from there? We can't go from NEP to TIL, but we

          3  can go from TIL to NEP.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, that is

          5  a good question that we will have to take into

          6  consideration. But let me say ultimately what

          7  happens with NEP is that the ownership of the

          8  property is transferred into the possession of the

          9  entrepreneur.

         10                 MS. HOWARD: Right away?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, if there

         12  was to be any consideration in that regard, it would

         13  have to happen before the ownership is transferred.

         14                 MS. HOWARD: Well, isn't that the same

         15  amount of time that they -- supposedly from what I

         16  understood, they don't go right into -- the contract

         17  or whatever isn't initiated right away, so if they

         18  are given so much time to fall or fail or we don't

         19  like them, it is the same thing, I guess the same

         20  process with TIL, isn't it? So, why can't we opt

         21  out?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, it is

         23  something that we will have to take into

         24  consideration. I appreciate the thought. It is a

         25  good thought.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            268

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 MR. SMITH: Excuse me, Council Member

          3  Perkins. Can I say one thing?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well,

          5  actually, you have got 15 seconds.

          6                 MR. SMITH: Fifteen seconds.

          7                 When you were suggesting about

          8  overseeing Council, would your office be willing to

          9  do that, to be the overseeing?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, we are

         11  going to look at -- there is oversight

         12  responsibility that we have, which to some extent we

         13  are trying to take care of right now, and which also

         14  involves the ULURP process, but as we are reviewing

         15  and trying to fix this program, there may be some

         16  other alternatives that are considered.

         17                 MR. SMITH: Okay. Thank you very much.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         19                 CDC, 111th Street Realty. Okay, there

         20  are no representatives there from that organization?

         21  All right.

         22                 The Bushwick Properties, any

         23  representatives? Raise your hand. No.

         24                 The Neighborhood Partnership. Thea

         25  Leggett.
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          2                 RSC Management. Are you going to

          3  speak on behalf of RSC Management? What is your

          4  name? Please come forward. Thea Leggett, have a

          5  seat.

          6                 MS. LEGGETT: Good afternoon,

          7  everyone. My name is Thea Leggett, and I am a

          8  resident in Bedford Stuyvesant, a community in

          9  Brooklyn New York.

         10                 I was first introduced to the

         11  Neighborhood Partnership in 1996. I was living at

         12  home with my mother, my siblings, my finance and our

         13  son in a three bedroom apartment. There was no heat

         14  or hot water. The entry doors were unsecured, drug

         15  addicts and street thugs hung out in the public

         16  areas of the building. There were only four other

         17  families who resided there legally. The building was

         18  near condemnation.

         19                 We tolerated the situation that we

         20  were in with the hopes that someone would save. When

         21  my family and I were visited by representatives of

         22  the Neighborhood Partnership who came out to do a

         23  tenant survey, which would determine where my family

         24  would be placed, we were happy because then we knew

         25  something good was going to happen.
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          2                 Shortly after our new manager agent

          3  had contacted us with good news, we were told that

          4  we would be temporarily relocated in two different

          5  apartments.

          6                 The Partnership had also implemented

          7  an employment program for the tenants that were

          8  living in the NEP clusters.

          9                 Ms. Laurie Miller, who had invited me

         10  to come to her office for an interview to assess my

         11  skills and past work experience. Ms. Grates helped

         12  me rewrite my resume and set up an interview with my

         13  present employer, Maria H. Rosado.

         14                 At the time of my interview I was

         15  receiving public assistance and the partnership

         16  enrolled me in the training employment assistant

         17  program with the Human Resources Administration.

         18                 The program allowed me to continue

         19  receiving my public assistance grant and child care

         20  for the length of one year to keep me on my feet.

         21                 February 3rd, 1997, I started to work

         22  at MHR Management, Incorporated, in an entry level

         23  position and today I am the president expediter.

         24                 August 21st, 1997, I moved to a

         25  beautiful, newly renovated two-bedroom apartment in
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          2  Bedford Stuyvesant, three blocks away from my mother

          3  and siblings.

          4                 The Partnership gave me the

          5  opportunity to become a part of society as to where

          6  I can help people who are in the same situation that

          7  I was in and for that I am more than grateful.

          8                 They came in where I used to live on

          9  Madison Street in Brooklyn, and in the building

         10  where I used to live, we actually had to go outside

         11  and petch water because we had none. The pipes would

         12  freeze, we had no heat, no hot water, and, you know,

         13  when the Partnership came in, they explained

         14  everything to us in detail. It was up to the tenants

         15  to listen to what was actually going on and push for

         16  it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Very good. I

         18  appreciate your story. Mr. Escobar.

         19                 MR. ESCOBAR: Thank you. Good

         20  afternoon, Council Member Perkins and member of the

         21  City Council. My name is Ramon Escobar, and I am a

         22  round one entrepreneur when it was a pilot program,

         23  the first such program that started in New York City

         24  in 1995.

         25                 The reason for this testimony is to
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          2  say that I was assigned the Hunts Point Cluster in

          3  the South Bronx. The project consisted of 99 units,

          4  seven buildings and it was completed in 1997.

          5                 Before construction, more than half

          6  of these units were vacant, and the rest were unsafe

          7  to live in and the occupied units were no better and

          8  tenants remained because they could not afford to go

          9  anywhere else. We have here two tenants that can

         10  testify to that. They have two-bedroom apartment and

         11  their rents are respectively $250 per month and $291

         12  per month.

         13                 I am going to just summarize. A

         14  relocation is to be a trauma for anybody moving,

         15  young, old, whatever, and it does require a lot of

         16  communication.

         17                 There is a lot of documentation that

         18  if properly administered there are manuals that we

         19  get and if we follow those situations, I think the

         20  tenants will be well informed.

         21                 The benefits received by the tenants

         22  in the community are as follows: They get new

         23  rehabbed apartments for the proper size of their

         24  family. I would also like to say before I forget,

         25  that I can truly say that I am one of the
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          2  neighborhood entrepreneurs. My cluster in Hunts

          3  Point is right across the street from where I grew

          4  up where my father had a business, he still lives

          5  there, and I still go around there. I started my

          6  real estate business right around the area, so I am

          7  familiar with that term, and the neighborhood is

          8  appropriate because it gives small landlords and

          9  managers a chance to get into bigger and better

         10  things.

         11                 The other benefits are the low rent.

         12  To give you an example. I have a four-bedroom

         13  apartment, 1,000 square feet, and the rent for that

         14  apartment is 256. Why? Because that is 30 percent of

         15  the tenant's income.

         16                 For example, a senior citizen on 590

         17  for Social Security or SSI, their rent became $177

         18  for a new rehab apartment. Granted some senior

         19  citizens that had a five bedroom, they had to move

         20  to a one bedroom, but families in a one bedroom that

         21  needed a three bedroom got the three bedroom.

         22                 New residents came into the

         23  community. There is a round three, Kristina Hirsch,

         24  now this made possible for the Hunts Point area to

         25  not have any vacant of dilapidated buildings
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          2  anymore.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Please sum

          4  up.

          5                 MR. ESCOBAR: The program is great. We

          6  hired people, local contractors that would never get

          7  opportunities to work anywhere else and have gone to

          8  get other contracts in the City because now they

          9  have the experience.

         10                 We just hope that the City Council

         11  supports this program and any changes will be

         12  accepted in terms of communication to the tenant and

         13  everybody else.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         15  very much. I appreciate both of your testimony. I

         16  don't mean to rush you, it is just that we have some

         17  more people that we have to deal with.

         18                 The next panel will consist of David

         19  Robinson, H. Foster, Jr., of the Harlem Crisis

         20  Committee, and Silveno Martinez.

         21                 David Robinson. Martinez Foster.

         22                 I just want to acknowledge that we

         23  have received written testimony from the Chairman of

         24  Community Board 11, David Givens. For the record. He

         25  couldn't make it but he wanted to make sure that the
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          2  concerns of 411 were part of the record.

          3                 Please identify yourself.

          4                 MR. ROBINSON: My name David Robinson.

          5  I am with the Legal Support Unit of Legal Services

          6  for New York City. And I have presented rather

          7  extensive written testimony on behalf of Legal

          8  Support Unit, Legal Services for New York City,

          9  Legal Aid Society, and South Brooklyn Legal

         10  Services, that I am just going to make a couple of

         11  points here since we have been here a long time and

         12  I respect that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         14                 MR. ROBINSON: In any case, I first

         15  would like to thank the Council for having this

         16  oversight hearing. I think it has been needed and I

         17  hope that the Council can begin to address some of

         18  the problems that have come up in the Administration

         19  of NEP, and I am someone who testified at one of the

         20  first approval hearings at the Land Use

         21  Subcommittee, Virginia Fields, when the NEP program

         22  first came to pass. And at the time legal advocates

         23  from the Legal Aid Society and Legal Services warned

         24  that the absence of rules and built-in

         25  accountability into the Neighborhood Entrepreneurs
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          2  Program would lead to abuses of tenants and would in

          3  many respects lead to, if there were "good

          4  entrepreneurs", well-intentioned, often the tenants'

          5  rights would be respected, but where there were

          6  problems with the entrepreneurs there would be

          7  problems with the program because HPD had chosen not

          8  to do rules for the program and also not to build in

          9  any real room for tenant involvement and

         10  participation in the program and that still exists

         11  today.

         12                 And I would really urge you to

         13  further question HPD as to why the rules for a

         14  totally different program are the ones that

         15  supposedly apply to the Neighborhood Entrepreneurs

         16  Program.

         17                 As a result of that, no one is clear

         18  I think as to the respective roles of HPD, the New

         19  York City Housing Partnership, the Entrepreneur, the

         20  community-based organizations, the neighborhood task

         21  forces, and I think as a result of that, you have

         22  the kinds of instances where they can go and do a

         23  whole round without consulting the task forces

         24  because there is no role for the task forces in the

         25  rules for NRP where they didn't exist.
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          2                 I would also like to reiterate now

          3  absurd, as Council Member Michels pointed out, the

          4  rule is in the TIL opt-out, that the three-month

          5  rule that 50 percent of the tenants have to be

          6  paying the rent for three consecutive months and

          7  they have less than three months in which to apply

          8  to the program.

          9                 Meaning that 78 buildings may have

         10  gotten into the program, but I am sure that almost

         11  all of those 78 could have been rejected with that

         12  rule, because no tenant in central management aware

         13  of their rights generally pays the rent because they

         14  aren't getting decent services.

         15                 In any case, I would urge, you know,

         16  as other people have, that there be some independent

         17  monitoring of NEP to see whether tenants rights are

         18  respected. I put in my written testimony many

         19  instances in which tenants rights have been abused,

         20  whether an illegal lock-out, illegal surcharges to

         21  the rents, we don't know whether that occurs in

         22  isolated instances, which are the kinds of instances

         23  that we tend to see in legal services and legal aid

         24  offices, or whether these are rampant and without

         25  any kind of accountability of the program we have no
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          2  way of knowing and, again, the other thing is that

          3  it is very important that the tenants be provided

          4  more information than they have, even as simple as

          5  who the owner of their building is.

          6                 There are three different owners

          7  during the course of NEP. There is HPD, there is the

          8  Neighborhood Partnership, HDFC, and there is the

          9  entrepreneur. There should be notice to the tenants

         10  when the transfer to the Neighborhood Partnership

         11  takes place and the tenants rights change during

         12  that point and they become rent stabilized tenants

         13  and it is important that they be aware of their

         14  rights, and I would ask that one of the things you

         15  consider is asking HPD to require that notice of

         16  ownership transfer be sent, among the many other

         17  lack of notices that have been pointed out in other

         18  people's testimony.

         19                 Thanks very much for the opportunity

         20  to testify.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         22  And clearly some of the concerns that you warned the

         23  Council about have unfortunately come into being,

         24  even as there have been some success that we want to

         25  see what we can do to address those concerns that
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          2  you are raising with us once again, and we

          3  appreciate the fact that you were able to spend some

          4  time with us and share.

          5                 MR. ROBINSON: Thanks very much.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Rolinda Hill

          7  and Ms. Mary Griffin. Ms. Griffin left, okay.

          8                 Then after that we will hear from the

          9  following: NTF Realty, WestBridge Realty, Prestige

         10  Management and Pasquale Management.

         11                 MS. HILL: Good afternoon. My name is

         12  Rolinda Hill. I am a resident of the 200 Block of

         13  West 140th Street, a block on which a lot of the

         14  renovation and rehabilitation programs have gone on.

         15  In fact that block was the original block on which

         16  the beginning of that program started.

         17                 A lot of the information and concerns

         18  that have been here today have been addressed by our

         19  block, by the residents on the block and being the

         20  pilot for that particular housing renovation, HPD

         21  was the primary landlord on West 140th Street before

         22  the introduction of this entrepreneur program. HPD

         23  having had control of the buildings over many years,

         24  the buildings were not in the best of shape when the

         25  entrepreneurs were able to take them over and during
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          2  the course of having been closed and left vacant a

          3  lot of deterioration has taken place.

          4                 So, in the processes of changing

          5  hands and the HPD desiring not to be a landlord

          6  anymore, there were a lot of complications in that

          7  process, people inherited a lot of problems and

          8  tenants were under a lot of problems that had been

          9  going on for a very long time.

         10                 One of the things that is of primary

         11  concern is the communication process from HPD to

         12  HDFC to NRP to NEP, you must allow tenants and

         13  residents to know who they are, who is in control,

         14  who has ultimate control, who has responsibility,

         15  how has the opportunity to allow themselves to be

         16  heard in the development of this process.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That sounds

         18  like what Mr. Robinson was just sharing.

         19                 MS. HILL: It might be. But I can only

         20  speak of that in terms of being a person who has

         21  been through that to know from whence I speak,

         22  because these are the things that we learn.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Your block is

         24  considered the model of success, one of the models

         25  of success.
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          2                 MS. HILL: Yes, it is. Yes, it is.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And from the

          4  tenants' point of view, what did you all have to do

          5  to make sure that it was --

          6                 MS. HILL: We had to claw and scratch

          7  and call up a lot of people, have a lot of meetings,

          8  write a lot of letters, and make people very, very

          9  aware that when you come on to a block especially a

         10  block that has extensive work to be done, there are

         11  people still living there, there are people who must

         12  be respected, you have residents who have lived

         13  their lives there, tenants who have lived in their

         14  homes for 50 years or more, these are tenants who

         15  have gone off to war, they have sent their sons and

         16  daughters, they have traveled around the world but

         17  Harlem is their home, this is where they would like

         18  to remain.

         19                 We accept rehabilitation and

         20  renovation as a necessary thing to happen but we

         21  would also like the proper respect and concerns to

         22  be considered, our needs, our desires and how we

         23  would like to see ourselves in the future to be a

         24  part of that whole process.

         25                 The communication process is very,
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          2  very important, to let people know where they stand,

          3  what the process consists of, who the entities will

          4  be that are responsible and how much say you have

          5  and what your rights are in terms of staying,

          6  leaving or a program.

          7                 There are very few buildings in

          8  Harlem that fall under TIL's guidelines. Primarily

          9  because rents are primarily low for the longevity of

         10  tenants being in an apartment.  If you have lived in

         11  an apartment for 50 years, your rent may not be

         12  $200. So, if you are in a TIL program, your

         13  renovation is considered equated with the rents you

         14  collect and matching money.

         15                 If you don't have a rent roll of more

         16  than $500 or $600 a month, there is not very much

         17  work that can be done in a building that has severe

         18  problems. So TIL is not a very good option. It may

         19  be for a very well populated building with higher

         20  rents and much more collectible rents.

         21                 The NEP program would seem by a lot

         22  of tenants as a program in which work would get done

         23  to buildings that were in deplorable conditions

         24  because HPD had been very, very slow to rehabilitate

         25  these things and take care of the concerns of
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          2  plumbing, wiring, plaster falling down,

          3  deteriorating conditions internally. Now that NEP is

          4  a part of that, we need to be able to communicate

          5  with the entrepreneurs in a timely fashion about the

          6  priority of the concerns of the conditions we live

          7  under and how to maintain them in a healthy fashion.

          8                 So, communication is important,

          9  information is important, and knowing who represents

         10  what and how much control and who is answerable to

         11  you and what recourse you have.

         12                 The Interim Service Organizations

         13  need to make their people visible, and because you

         14  have property on the block, make them offers on the

         15  block so that you can be accessed by people who need

         16  you.

         17                 Senior citizens cannot travel well,

         18  people with small families and children cannot

         19  travel well, but they have need of your services.

         20  Make someone available in a fashion that is close to

         21  where these people life. You have property there

         22  now, your buildings are being rehabilitated, it may

         23  not be occupied, but your basements are complete.

         24  Open an office once or twice a week, two or three

         25  hours a day, to address the needs of the people.
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          2  That would be something that would be appreciated.

          3                 NEP is not the end all and be all or

          4  the cure all, there are many warts in this program,

          5  but with proper supervision, understanding,

          6  communication and relatedness to all of the people

          7  involved on whatever level you come from, it can

          8  make housing in Harlem and other communities around

          9  New York City acceptable, comfortable and

         10  harmonious.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 NTF Realty. WestBridge Realty and

         15  Pasquale Management. ELH.

         16                 On, you are Larry Hirschfeld. Please

         17  come up.

         18                 Please introduce yourselves.

         19                 MR. BARROW: Good afternoon, Council

         20  Member. I am a tenant for NTF Realty. The managing

         21  agent was here, but he left about a half ago, he

         22  couldn't wait any longer. I did fill out a card

         23  there.

         24                 My name is Oliver Barrow. I am a

         25  disabled, retired senior citizen and I am presently
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          2  residing at 18 East 126th Street, Apartment 1, New

          3  York City, since July 7, 1998.

          4                 I was relocated by my present

          5  landlord from 1974 Madison Avenue, Apartment 3,

          6  where I had lived since June 11th, 1982. I am in the

          7  Neighborhood Entrepreneurs Program and my landlord

          8  is NTE Realty Services, Incorporated, located at 11

          9  East 125th Street, New York City.

         10                 I am convinced and satisfied that NEP

         11  is an excellent program and I have nothing but the

         12  highest of regards and praise for NEP and my

         13  landlord. My reasons are as follows:

         14                 1) The rent is affordable.

         15                 2) My one-bedroom apartment is

         16  beautiful, spacious, comfortable, convenient and

         17  complete.

         18                 3) The building is kept clean, safe

         19  and secure.

         20                 Example:

         21                 (A) there is a "no loitering" sign

         22  posted on the entrance door to the building.

         23                 (B) my landlord's name and telephone

         24  number is posted in the building.

         25                 (C) the address and telephone number
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          2  where the key to the heating system is kept is

          3  posted in the building.

          4                 (D) the inner door to the building

          5  has a notice posted reminding tenants to be sure

          6  that your doors are kept locked at all times.

          7                 (E) plans for the bug exterminator is

          8  posted in the building.

          9                 (F) No smoking signs are also placed

         10  in the building.

         11                 4) My former landlord, which was HPD,

         12  had caused me tremendous sufferings and

         13  inconveniences for approximately three years by not

         14  responding to my repeated requests of urgently

         15  needed maintenance and repairs, although my rent was

         16  always paid up to date.

         17                 Twice during that period I had to

         18  visit Senator Patterson's office in the State

         19  building to seek assistance in getting repairs done

         20  in my apartment.

         21                 On the other hand, just last winter,

         22  one night my apartment was not receiving adequate

         23  heat, and I called my current landlord's emergency

         24  number about 10:30 p.m., and in the space of a half

         25  an hour Mr. Francis Sigborne, Managing Agent, came
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          2  by, corrected the problem and made sure that the

          3  other tenants were receiving ample heat before he

          4  left.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Please sum

          6  up.

          7                 MR. BARROW: In conclusion, I would

          8  like to state that in the past I have worked as a

          9  building super for Juan Grange Management, two,

         10  Ellis and Ellis, with these experiences I believe I

         11  am a good judge of a concerned landlord, NEP and NTF

         12  are a great combination for tenants in the City of

         13  New York.

         14                 Thank you for your patience and time.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         16  very much.

         17                 Yes, please introduce yourself.

         18                 MR. HIRSCHFIELD: My name is Larry

         19  Hirschield. I am a neighborhood entrepreneur working

         20  in Crown Heights, Brooklyn. I have completed the

         21  development of the Classon Avenue in round one of

         22  NEP and I am currently managing and working on plans

         23  for the rehabilitation of a nearby Pacific Street

         24  Cluster for round four of NEP. I have owned, managed

         25  and renovated property in the area since 1992.
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          2                 The Neighborhood Entrepreneurs

          3  Program has made it possible to fully rehabilitate a

          4  large number of buildings that were in deplorable

          5  condition. This simply could not have been done

          6  without the funds to perform gut renovations and

          7  temporarily relocate tenants during such

          8  renovations.

          9                 In temporarily relocating tenants

         10  during the gut renovation, we paid for moving, boxes

         11  and utility transfers. The tenants from round one,

         12  some of whom are here today, are back in their

         13  renovated apartments, they pay no more than 30

         14  percent of their income toward rent for their

         15  renovated apartments and seem very happy with the

         16  program.

         17                 Both during and after the renovation

         18  of the properties, I gave tours and updates to the

         19  Chairman of Community Board 8, as well as the

         20  Housing Subcommittee.

         21                 The Community Board has been very

         22  supportive of this project. The renovation of so

         23  many buildings in close proximity to one another

         24  have dramatically improved the area and has further

         25  developed a nearby privately-owned property.
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          2                 In addition to provide markedly

          3  improved housing, the NEP programs also created

          4  employment opportunities for tenants and

          5  neighborhood residents.

          6                 A general contractor employed a

          7  number of tenants, moreover, we have hired a number

          8  of tenants and area residents and superintendents,

          9  porters and office workers.

         10                 I would like also to say in response

         11  to what I have heard today, in the beginning we

         12  began renovations, I tried to minimize the

         13  relocation because I realized it was tremendously

         14  disruptive. We had plans to renovate buildings with

         15  tenants in place going line by line, the dust was

         16  tremendous, the tenant complaints were tremendous

         17  and when we actually started to work in the

         18  buildings we found that HPD had covered over rotten

         19  joists for years and years and we ended up having to

         20  empty the buildings and gut them anyway.

         21                 Additionally, we have discussed the

         22  relocation extensively and the loss of large

         23  apartments. We operate from a document called the

         24  Home Written Agreement, which says that there are

         25  federal home funds used and that is a requirement of
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          2  the use of these funds that all tenants be in an

          3  apartment appropriate from their family size. So we

          4  have gone from having many tenants doubled up,

          5  tripled up into more spacious apartments and, yes,

          6  some families have moved into smaller apartments.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 The next panel will be a

         10  representative from the Bronx Housing Investment

         11  Group.

         12                 The Bronx Housing Investment Group?

         13                 The Classon, the ELH Management?

         14                 Oh that is you, okay. Excellent. All

         15  right.

         16                 A representative from the Mott Haven

         17  Cluster. Velco Realty. St. Ann's Housing Corp. 320

         18  Stirling Street. Ms. Deotha Woodburn, please come

         19  forward, and Mary Anderson, please come forward. All

         20  that I just mentioned, please come forward and have

         21  a seat.

         22                 And then last but not least, we will

         23  have -- after this panel we will have Elizabeth

         24  Maldonado, Antonio Rodriguez, Nunez Bradley. This is

         25  the last panel.
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          2                 Please introduce yourself.

          3                 MS. WOODBURN: Hi. My name is Deotha

          4  Woodburn. Previously I was involved in terms of

          5  helping some tenants that came under the cluster of

          6  NEP, because they didn't have any avenues to turn.

          7  They were being muscled by the managers that came

          8  into their building.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You helped

         10  them in what capacity? As a representative of a

         11  group or an individual?

         12                 MS. WOODBURN: No, as individuals,

         13  because I had knowledge, I had worked for HPD as a

         14  building superintendent, so I was fully aware of the

         15  different programs and the functions of them.

         16                 But this particular building, 262 Van

         17  Buren Street had went into the NEP Program and they

         18  were being muscled into leaving their apartment

         19  without any clear guidelines in terms of getting

         20  their apartment back and the type of conditions that

         21  they were living under for a period of years, they

         22  thought they were very strongly entitled to coming

         23  back to where they had resided.

         24                 There was no community-based

         25  organization there to help them. I took them to
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          2  Medgar Evers College, to a Legal Services advocate

          3  there, Linda Johnson, an attorney, and she somewhat

          4  tried to help them in terms of their legal rights

          5  and so forth.

          6                 But I just wanted to say that NEP, I

          7  heard testimony, I have been here since quarter to

          8  ten and excuse me for leaving but --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you for

         10  your patience.

         11                 MS. WOODBURN: I was famished, I had

         12  to get something to eat.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That's okay.

         14                 MS. WOODBURN: But I heard a lot of

         15  testimony, but most of the testimony that I heard

         16  are in fact quite true that NEP is not a program

         17  that is designed for certain communities, okay? The

         18  TIL program would be much more better because it

         19  gives you a sense of a poor person's co-op,

         20  ownership, respect and dignity and pride that one

         21  can take in their building, in their place of

         22  residence. And NEP to me just seems to be another

         23  scam of HPD's like POMP, DAMP, TIL -- not TIL, but

         24  DAMP, well TIL to a certain degree because they let

         25  the buildings to into TIL, people bring it up to
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          2  code, they come back. I worked for HPD for ten years

          3  and I saw all of this firsthand, and so, and then

          4  they say that it was mismanaged, but they never came

          5  in and really trained people properly to take care

          6  of those buildings.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 MS. WOODBURN: Okay.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, please

         11  introduce yourself.

         12                 MS. STEWART: My name is Joyce

         13  Stewart, I am the President and founder of 320

         14  Sterling Street Tenants Association from 1984. This

         15  is located in Crown Heights. This is a building we

         16  had where it was the biggest slumlord building where

         17  they made a movie called "The Super" with Joe

         18  Pesche. They also had a landlord spend his jail

         19  sentence in the building. We brought this building

         20  from scratch. Not a dime.  City, state or federal

         21  did not fund us. We, the tenants, our building was

         22  dubbed "the Vietnam Building". We took this building

         23  where a lot of Jewish people couldn't even walk down

         24  the block, and now that we brought the building for

         25  almost a decade from nothing to something, here
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          2  comes HPD and they decide they want to take over our

          3  building.

          4                 We, as tenants, decided we will fight

          5  back. We did go into court. I have lived in my

          6  building for 20 years. HPD came in and because they

          7  figured it is City-owned, they decided that I am a

          8  squatter. I am living there for 20 years. Here it is

          9  we have drug dealers, we called in where we work

         10  with Hynes, District Attorney Hynes and all of his

         11  people, to put out drug dealers. I was shot up. My

         12  son was shot up. Many tenants in the building. I

         13  mean, you could go through the whole history. We do

         14  have that for you, so I am not going to get into

         15  that.

         16                 However, we want into all the way up

         17  to the Appellate Court. I won the city in the

         18  Appellate Court, stating that I was a squatter, they

         19  physically locked me out of my building. Put the

         20  stamp on the door. Judge Kramer from Supreme Court

         21  came into my building and he said that was not

         22  legal, but they locked me out anyway.

         23                 Where I live is in an office in the

         24  building, and I won my case. Up to now this day,

         25  although I won in the Appellate Court, it really
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          2  never opened the door to say here is your apartment

          3  back.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is your

          5  building an NEP building?

          6                 MS. STEWART: I think they are taking

          7  it back over from us, the Tenants Association, I

          8  think it must have fallen under NEP. I don't even

          9  know the difference, to be honest. Because nobody

         10  educated us.

         11                 I know that we carried it for about

         12  ten years and anybody in Crown Heights will be able

         13  to tell you, and if, however, they turn the building

         14  over to some new management that came from East New

         15  York, which is strange, they are not even in our

         16  district, and the point about it is, if they brought

         17  another tenants association from East New York to

         18  take over our building, God knows luckily we kept

         19  pictures, video pictures. We have hundreds of video

         20  pictures to show they used to call our building an

         21  oasis in the desert. And now what they turn and do

         22  now, they brought somebody from East New York and

         23  they are tearing up all the buildings, I mean all of

         24  the apartments, intimidating.  Ninety percent of the

         25  tenants went running, they are scrambling all over
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          2  the place and this is what is going on. Real heavy

          3  intimidation. I really wanted HPD to be here because

          4  they know what they did. They know exactly what they

          5  are doing.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, let me

          7  commend you on the work that you have been doing in

          8  your building, moving it from Vietnam to an oasis. I

          9  don't believe your building is relevant to this

         10  hearing because I don't think your building is one

         11  of those that has been designated for the NEP

         12  program.

         13                 But nevertheless, it is a building

         14  that we would be concerned about if it is having so

         15  many difficulties.

         16                 So, I would ask you to see my staff

         17  person and we will see what we can do to assist you.

         18                 MS. STEWART: Okay, thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right,

         20  the next two people, please.

         21                 Maybe the Partnership can help you

         22  since they are here, and they have been doing such a

         23  wonderful job.

         24                 Please introduce yourself.

         25                 MS. ANDERSON: Hello. My name is Mary
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          2  Anderson, and I live at 262 Van Buren in Brooklyn,

          3  New York, and I have been living there for 33 years

          4  as of this month. Well, Mr. Young, the manager, our

          5  ENEP, he came out and told us a good laugh, he was

          6  going to renovate the building, and when he finished

          7  that people was going to have their apartment back

          8  which he didn't do. He buffaloed some of the people

          9  at the building. But I am still there in the

         10  building, I am on the third floor now, I am trying

         11  to get back to the first floor to my apartment which

         12  is finished. But every time I confront him about it,

         13  I never see him, but I see his sidekick Kevin, and

         14  every time I ask him about moving back to my

         15  apartment they give me the run-around.

         16                 I am paying a lawyer now, trying to

         17  see why I can't go back into my apartment, why I

         18  haven't went back in my apartment. And the only time

         19  he moved me up there on the third floor in the

         20  building, this is the condition I was living in on

         21  the first floor.

         22                 When the bathroom ceiling fell on my

         23  daughter, that is when I got a chance to see Mr.

         24  Young for the second time, since he was the manager.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is there a
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          2  community-based not-for-profit that is working with

          3  your building?

          4                 MS. ANDERSON: No. Mrs. Woodburn is

          5  the only one that came out and try to gave (sic) us

          6  some guide. She was the only somebody.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And where is

          8  this located again?

          9                 MS. ANDERSON: 262 Ven Buren Street,

         10  Brooklyn, New York.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Do you

         12  know who your Councilperson is, by the way?

         13                 MS. ANDERSON: No.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         15                 MS. ANDERSON: And, so, when this fell

         16  down, the bathroom ceiling fell and stuff like that,

         17  he finally came out and he moved me upstairs because

         18  he was scared my daughter had got hurt. So he moved

         19  me on the third floor. And on the third floor, the

         20  condition up there is no better. I got big water

         21  bubbles on the wall, I had to have an umbrella to go

         22  and use the bathroom I had to put over my head.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh, that is a

         24  shame.

         25                 MS. ANDERSON: This is the picture
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          2  right here.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: This is the

          4  renovated building, or is this the temporary

          5  building?

          6                 MS. ANDERSON: Yes, this is the

          7  renovated building. They renovated one side of the

          8  building. They done finished (sic) the whole

          9  building now.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. So the

         11  whole building is finished?

         12                 MS. ANDERSON: The whole building is

         13  finished now.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And that is

         15  the condition of your apartment now?

         16                 MS. ANDERSON: Yes. This one right

         17  here. This is the bathroom.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What round

         19  are you in, do you know?

         20                 MS. ANDERSON: No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: When did they

         22  start the work?

         23                 MS. ANDERSON: They started work last

         24  year. They renovated one side and they finished the

         25  other side this year. It is 17 units.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you have a

          3  tenants association.

          4                 MS. ANDERSON: No.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Have you been

          6  in touch with the Partnership or the entrepreneur or

          7  HPD or anybody about this?

          8                 MS. ANDERSON: There ain't nobody been

          9  in touch with us about nothing. He don't tell us

         10  nothing. He sent this letter here for relocation.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Send it up

         12  here. Can somebody get that?

         13                 MS. ANDERSON: To come to 40th Street

         14  to be relocated, right? Well, my apartment is in the

         15  same building I am living in now. All I have to do

         16  is walk downstairs. And I have a heart condition, my

         17  doctor has sent letters out to him.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh this is,

         19  they are located in St. Albans.

         20                 You are scheduled to permanently

         21  relocate?

         22                 MS. ANDERSON: Yes. And I live right

         23  upstairs on the third floor. I am trying to get back

         24  downstairs on the first floor to my apartment.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is this
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          2  building in the Partnership Program?

          3                 MS. ANDERSON: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: This is a

          5  permanent relocation?

          6                 MS. ANDERSON: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I don't mean

          8  to put you on the spot, but isn't that unusual for a

          9  permanent relocation? I haven't heard that.

         10                 Okay, some is here from the

         11  Partnership and I think you need to deal with him

         12  right away.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Mr.

         14  Chairman, Mr. Acting Chairman, let me just say that

         15  we had a very successful hearing, I know you still

         16  have more testimony, and then our Resolution 657,

         17  which you and I introduced, you are the lead sponsor

         18  of, having had this hearing we now will move to file

         19  the resolution.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, thank

         21  you very much. And I appreciate the support on your

         22  part, Councilman Michels. Without you, we could not

         23  have gotten where we are.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MICHELS: Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 MS. ANDERSON: My doctor had also

          3  faxed letters to him about me going back downstairs

          4  to my apartment, because I have all kind of

          5  conditions. I have throat, heart disease and

          6  everything in my paper here.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, thank

          8  you very much.

          9                 Now we want to hear from our last,

         10  but not least, witness.

         11                 MS. COLLINS: My name is Odessa

         12  Collins, and I used to live at 952 Lafayette Avenue,

         13  and they came in and they have taken the house, they

         14  moved me to 1003 Lafayette. I had six rooms, I had

         15  the whole house, my sons was upstairs and I had

         16  rented from HPD, and they fixed the apartment, they

         17  did it over, they told me I could come back, they

         18  put me in a five-room apartment. I had about eight

         19  rooms of furniture, and I took all the furniture to

         20  1003, they wouldn't let me come back. They moved me

         21  out of 1003 Lafayette to 262 Van Buren in a

         22  one-bedroom apartment. They took my furniture and

         23  put it in storage, and now I have them in court

         24  trying to get my furniture back, and now I am

         25  putting it on the real estate -- because I moved
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          2  from there and I am with --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Who is the

          4  entrepreneur for your building?

          5                 MS. COLLINS: This is Nashish

          6  (phonetic) Real Estate in St. Albans.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The same real

          8  estate company?

          9                 MS. COLLINS: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What do they

         11  call it?

         12                 MS. COLLINS: Nashish Real Estate,

         13  Realty Corporation.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Was that the

         15  same as the one that --

         16                 MS. COLLINS: Yes. And this is the

         17  paperwork, I had to go back to court. Their lawyer

         18  sent that to me because I asked for my furniture.

         19  And I have the receipt where they put the furniture

         20  in storage, and it has been in storage ever since

         21  '94, because they give me a one-room apartment. One

         22  room now, and I had --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The name of

         24  the real estate firm --

         25                 MS. COLLINS: Is Nashish.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That wasn't

          3  the name when --

          4                 MS. COLLINS: Yes, that is the same

          5  real estate.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Thank

          7  you.

          8                 MS. COLLINS: He was in here this

          9  morning and he sneaked right out. That is what he

         10  did.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right,

         12  thank you very much. And where are you know? Are you

         13  back at your renovated building?

         14                 MS. COLLINS: No. I went and got me a

         15  place in the City Housing, but I need my furniture.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh, I see.

         17                 MS. COLLINS: They took my furniture

         18  and put it in storage and they told me it wasn't

         19  worth it. When I asked for them, I go to court on

         20  the 15th, and they said my furniture -- I had all

         21  kinds of nice furniture, and I got two bedrooms.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right.

         23  Let me suggest that you speak to the people from the

         24  Partnership who are responsible for the program and

         25  who are still here, maybe something can be worked
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          2  out.

          3                 If nothing can be worked out, please

          4  get in touch with my office and we will make sure

          5  that you get a way to reach our office and we will

          6  see what we can do.

          7                 MS. COLLINS: Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: There is one

          9  person that apparently just signed up, number 657,

         10  Susan Watson, from West 119th Street, HDFC.

         11                 MS. WATSON: Hi.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How are you?

         13                 MS. WATSON: Hello, everyone. I know

         14  it is late, it is going to be fast.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You are the

         16  last person.

         17                 MS. WATSON: Right. I am a tenant

         18  organizer, so I hear some of the horror stories

         19  about what is going on with NEP in reference to its

         20  lack of notification and/or how notification falls

         21  short. But I also know that a lot of tenants are not

         22  so much qualified but would do better under NEP

         23  instead of TIL, because I advocate for TIL, but I

         24  see all types of tenants.

         25                 But also, the reason I am up here
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          2  speaking is, when tenants go into the NEP and they

          3  don't want to be there, one of the ways that they

          4  can opt-out is what you call an Article 78. So, if

          5  HPD could -- if you could get from HPD that type of

          6  information, you can also kind of like gauge the

          7  tenants that don't want to be there, that don't want

          8  to be in the NEP program. So that is what I want to

          9  make you aware, that some tenants or buildings that

         10  don't want to be in NEP, one of the solutions is for

         11  them to do an Article 78.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         13  very much for that information.

         14                 Your building was just recently

         15  approved for the TIL Program?

         16                 MS. WATSON: No, we bought our

         17  building. I am a HDFC.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh, you are

         19  an HDFC.

         20                 MS. WATSON: And it works.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It works.

         22                 MS. WATSON: But like I said, not

         23  everybody is for HDFC, it takes a lot of work, it

         24  takes a lot of time.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How long have
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          2  you had your building?

          3                 MS. WATSON: We bought it in '94, but

          4  we were in the TIL program, we went into the TIL in

          5  '88 or '89. I moved in in 1990, we bought in '94.

          6  So, we have been at HDFC for like five years.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well,

          8  congratulations.

          9                 MS. WATSON: Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         11  very much.

         12                 So, we conclude and that's it.

         13                 On the official side, the meeting is

         14  now concluded at 3:35 p.m.)

         15                 (Hearing concluded at 3:35 p.m.)
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